DEVELOPMENT OF CROSS COUPLING REACTIONS WITH EARTH ABUNDANT METALS

By

SAJAN SILWAL

Bachelor of Science in Chemistry Tribhuvan University Kathmandu, Nepal 2006

Master of Science in Chemistry Kurukshetra University Haryana, India 2008

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY December, 2016

DEVELOPMENT OF CROSS COUPLING REACTIONS WITH EARTH ABUNDANT METALS

Dissertation Approved:

.

Dr. Ronald J. Rahaim

Dissertation Adviser

Dr. Richard A. Bunce

Dr. Allen Apblett

Dr. Jimmie Weaver

Dr. Jun Peng Deng

To my family

Acknowledgements reflect the views of the author and are not endorsed by committee members or Oklahoma State University.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank all the people who have supported me and contributed in my entire education and professional development. First I would like to express my great appreciation to my advisor Dr. Ronald J. Rahaim for his excellent encouragement, invaluable guidance, and wise instruction throughout my doctorate period. It is his continuous support that made the work presented here possible.

I also would like to express my gratitude to all my advisory committee members, Dr. Richard A. Bunce, Dr. Allen Apblett, Dr. Jimmie Weaver, and Dr. Junpeng Deng for their valuable suggestions. I would like to thank Dr. John Gelder and Dr. Asfaha Iob for helping me with my teaching responsibilities. I have used the resources of Dr. Toby Nelson and Dr. Jeffery L. White during my reaction set up, I would like to take this opportunity to thank them too. Dr. David Jacobs and Dr. Margaret Eastman have trained me with various instruments that are used to characterize the molecules I make in the lab. I thank them for their time and support. I would also like to thank Dr. Jill Rahaim, who was there by my side when I set up my first reaction in lab and was supporting, and helping me whenever I needed. I would like to thank all the faculty and staff of the Department of Chemistry at Oklahoma State University to provide me space and an assistantship to pursue my career.

A special recognition to several friends and colleagues for their direct and indirect support to complete this assignment. Specially, my lab mates Vinoth K. Chenniappan, Naresh Mulpuri and all my colleagues from Nepal.

I also would like to greatly appreciate my father, Mr. Sanubhai Silwal, my mother Mrs. Sararswoti Silwal and my parents-in-law Mr. Podraj Poudel and Mrs. Ambika Poudel, whose blessings were always there as an armor against all odds. To my sister Uma, and brother Umesh, I am very blessed to have such wonderful siblings whose love, care and wonderful memories have kept me going here in United States.

Finally to my wife Mrs. Durga Poudel who has supported me all these years and stood by my side through my ups and downs, and twists and turns. Meantime she gave me a beautiful and adorable daughter Arya, who always cheered me up after a tiresome day in the lab.

iv

Name: SAJAN SILWAL

Date of Degree: DECEMBER, 2016

Title of Study: DEVELOPMENT OF CROSS COUPLING REACTIONS WITH EARTH ABUNDANT METALS

Major Field: CHEMISTRY

Abstract:

The ability to prepare complex molecules has been advanced and enabled by crosscoupling reactions as exemplified by the 2010 Nobel Prize being awarded to the progenitors of palladium catalyzed cross-coupling technology. This is a powerful approach to bond formation that has been utilized in fine chemical synthesis, the agro and pharmaceutical industries, material/polymer preparation, and natural product synthesis. The problem our society is facing is that a majority of the transition and main group metals that are used in cross-coupling reactions are being depleted. The 40 year development of cross-coupling reactions has centered on precious metals (Pd, Pt, Rh, Ru, Ir, Os, & Au), in part due to their high functional group compatibility. Unfortunately, cross-couplings with precious metals is not sustainable. There is an ever growing need to develop new sustainable methods that employ earth abundant metals. The focus of this dissertation is my progress in the development of cross-coupling reactions with earth abundant 1st row transition metals. Two approaches are being pursued: 1) tandem/iterative cross couplings of titanacycles as a means to modularly form two bonds in a single reaction vessel, and 2) dual catalysis for the nickel catalyzed cross-coupling of *in situ* generated carbon radicals. It is shown that the titanacyclopropene has been coupled with Weinreb amides to synthesize various enones regioselectively. The work is extended to couple second electrophile (Lewus acid activated benzaldehyde) to modularly synthesize tetrasubstituted furan in moderate to good yields. At last the dual catalytic approach has been successfully utilized to couple aryl/alkyl halide with aryl/alkyl nitriles to synthesize ketones in good yields by using nickel and titanium catalyst. These synthesized enones, furans and ketones are complex building blocks valued in medicinal chemistry, library preparation, and natural product.

I. INTRODUCTION 1.1 Tandem/iterative cross coupling reaction 0 1.2 Dual catalytic cross coupling reaction 8 References 11 II. CROSS-COUPLING OF TITANACYCLES TO PREPARE TRI- AND TETRASUBSTITUTED OLEFINS, CATALYZED BY EARTH ABUNDANT METALS 24 2.1 Introduction 22 2.2 Approaches to synthesize tetrasubstituted olefins 22 2.3 Results and discussion 31 2.3.1 Attempts on an iron catalyzed cross-coupling between a titanacycloprope and an aryl halide 32 2.3.2. Test reactions to establish titanacycle formation and iron cross-coupling are reproducible 32 2.3.3 Conditions screened for an iron catalyzed cross-coupling of a titanacyclopropene and aryl halide 33 2.3.4 Nickel catalyzed cross coupling reaction of titanacycle 32 2.4 Conclusions 44 2.6 Supporting informations 44 2.6.1 Methods 44 2.6.2 Materials 44	apter	Page
1.1 Tandem/iterative cross coupling reaction	INTRODUCTION	1
II. CROSS-COUPLING OF TITANACYCLES TO PREPARE TRI- AND TETRASUBSTITUTED OLEFINS, CATALYZED BY EARTH ABUNDANT METALS	1.1 Tandem/iterative cross coupling reaction1.2 Dual catalytic cross coupling reactionReferences	6 8 13
2.1 Introduction 24 2.2 Approaches to synthesize tetrasubstituted olefins 29 2.3 Results and discussion 31 2.3.1 Attempts on an iron catalyzed cross-coupling between a titanacycloproperand an aryl halide 32 2.3.2. Test reactions to establish titanacycle formation and iron cross-coupling are reproducible 32 2.3.3 Conditions screened for an iron catalyzed cross-coupling of a titanacycloproper and aryl halide 37 2.3.4 Nickel catalyzed cross coupling reaction of titanacycle 39 2.4 Conclusions 42 2.5 Future directions 42 2.6 Supporting informations 44 2.6.1 Methods 44 2.6.3 Instrumentation 44	CROSS-COUPLING OF TITANACYCLES TO PREPARE TRI- AND TETRASUBSTITUTED OLEFINS, CATALYZED BY EARTH ABUN METALS	DANT 24
2.6.4 General procedure A	 2.1 Introduction	24 29 31 yclopropene 33 -coupling 34 37 39 42 43 43 44 44 44 45 45 45 45 46 46 46 46 46

TABLE OF CONTENTS

III. SELECTIVE SYNTHESIS OF ENONES VIA A TITANIUM PROMOTED COUPLING OF UNSYMMETRICAL ALKYNES WITH WEINREB AMIDES59

3.1 Introduction	59
3.2 Background, enone synthesis	61
3.2.1 Synthesis of enones from enol and enolates	62

3.2.2 Enone synthesis via oxidative reactions
3.2.3 Synthesis of enones by hydroacylation of alkynes and acylation of
organometallic reagents64
3.3 Results and discussion
3.3.1 Optimization of the titanium promoted coupling reaction
3.3.2 Substrate scope of titanium promoted alkyne Weinreb amide coupling 68
3.3.3 Control experimets to probe the change in regioselectivity when changing
the reductant to <i>n</i> -BuLi
3.3.4 Addition of second electrophile to access tetra-substituted enones73
3.4 Conclusions
3.5 Future directions74
3.6 Supporting informations75
3.6.1 Methods
3.6.2 Materials
3.6.3 Instrumentation75
3.6.4 Spectral data of Weinreb amides76
3.6.5 Synthesis and characterization of alkynes
3.6.6 General procedure F: Synthesis of enones
3.6.7 Spectral data of enones
References

IV. MODULAR SYNTHESIS OF TETRA-SUBSTITUTED FURANS FROM ALKYNES, WEINREB AMIDES AND ALDEHYDES......110

4.1 Introduction	110
4.2 Approaches to synthesize furan	112
4.2.1 Paal-Knoor furan synthesis	113
4.2.2 Feist-Benary furan synthesis	113
4.2.3 Olefin cross metathesis	114
4.2.4 [3+2] Cyclo-addition reaction	115
4.2.5 Metal-catalyzed cycloisomerization reaction	116
4.2.6 Titanium promoted synthesis of substituted furans	117
4.3 Results and discussion	119
4.3.1 Optimization of furan synthesis	119
4.3.2 Screening of the substrates	120
4.4 Conclusions	123
4.5 Supporting informations	123
4.5.1 Methods	123
4.5.2 Materials	124
4.5.3 Instrumentation	124
4.5.4 General procedure G	124
4.5.5 General procedure H	
4.5.6 Spectral data of furans	125
References	138

HALIDES. A DUAL CATALITIC APPROACH	1
5.1 Introduction	1
5.2 Background, ketones synthesis	1
5.2.1 Friedel-Crafts acylation reaction	1
5.2.2 Oxidation reaction	1
5.2.3 Conversion of carboxylic derivatives to ketones with	h organometallic
reagents	1
5.2.4 Hydration of triple bond	1
5.2.5 Carbonylative cross-coupling	1
5.2.6 Hydoacylation of alkenes and alkynes	1
5.2.7 Cross electrophile coupling	1
5.2.8 Dual catalytic cross coupling	1
5.3 Results and discussion	1
5.3.1 Reaction optimization	1
5.3.2 substrate scope of the nickel catalyzed radical coupl	ing reaction1
5.3.3 Efforts to produce mixed ketones	
5.3.1 Proposed mechanism	1
5.4 Conclusions	1
5.5 Future directions	1
5.6 Supporting informations	1
5.6.1 Methods	1
5.6.2 Materials	1
5.6.3 Instrumentation	1
5.6.4 General procedure I	1
5.6.5 Spectral data of ketones	1
References	1

LIST OF TABLES

Table

Page

2.1 Test reproducibility and optimization of titanacycle formation	
2.2 Screening various ligands	41
2.3 Initial substrate screening	42
3.1 Optimization of the titanium-promoted coupling conditions	68
3.2 Weinreb amides scope in the titanium-mediated coupling reactions	70
3.3 Alkyne substrate scope of the coupling reaction	71
4.1 Optimization of the second step in furan synthesis	
4.2 Substrate scope of the reaction	122
5.1 Optimization of dual catalytic reaction	156
5.2 Benzonitrile scope	157
5.3 Aryl bromide scope	158
5.4 Synthesis of various mixed ketones	160

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure

Page

1.1 Biologically active natural products as a source of inspiration	4
1.2 Natural abundance of transition metals	5
1.3 Schematic diagram of multicatalysis reactions	9
2.1 Alkenes containing natural products	26
3.1 Enones in natural products and pharmaceuticals	60
4.1 Biologically active furan containing natural products and drugs	111
5.1 Biologically active molecules and materials containing ketone	145

LIST OF SCHEMES

Scheme

Page

1.1 Conventional methods to form C-C bond	5
1.2 Schematic representation of iterative cross-coupling reaction	6
1.3 Synthesis of 3,5-Dpg from malonyl CoA	7
1.4 Synthesis of tetrahydrofolate in nature	10
1.5 Classical Pd-cross-couplings	12
1.6 Dual catalytic radical cross-coupling	12
2.1 Three component coupling	26
2.2 Copper catalyzed carboboration	27
2.3 Electrophile couplings with titanacyclopropene	28
2.4 Tandem titanacycle cross-coupling compared to current bimetallic strategies	29
2.5 Alkene synthesis from ylide reagents	30
2.6 McMurry coupling	30
2.7 Possible regio- and stereo-isomer	31
2.8 Pd-catalyzed direct functionalization of alkynes	31
2.9 Tsuji's nickel catalyzed iterative cross-coupling of symmetrical	
titanacyclopropenes	32
2.10 Proposed iron catalyzed cross-coupling reaction	34
2.11 Practicing and ensuring titanacycle formation occurs in our hands	35
2.12 Reaction of titanacyclopropene with carbonyl compounds	36
2.13 Iron catalyzed cross-coupling reaction	37
2.14 Iron catalyzed cross-coupling of titanacyclopropene and aryl halide	39
2.15 Screening various ligands with various Ni-salts	41
2.16 Optimized reaction conditon	42
3.1 Enones as building blocks	61
3.2 Aldol condensation reaction	62
3.3 Oxidation of allylic alcohol	64
3.4 Dehydrogenation using Pd-salt	64
3.5 Sato's intramolecular nucleophilic acyl substitution	66
3.6 Six's alkyne-carbonate coupling	66
3.7 Proposed reaction of titanocyclopropene with Weinreb amides	67
3.8 Reaction of titanacyclopropene with Weinreb amide	68
3.9 Optimized reaction of titanacyclopropene with various Weinreb amide	70
3.10 Optimized reaction of various titanacyclopropene with Weinreb amide	71
3.11 Subsequent reactions of stabilized intermediate titanacyle	74

4.1 Furan as building blocks	112
4.2 Paal-Knorr furan synthesis	113
4.3 Feist-Benary furan synthesis	114
4.4 Cross metathesis approach to synthesize di- and tri-substituted furans	115
4.5 [3+2] cycloadditon reaction to synthesize tri-substituted furans	116
4.6 Carbene readicas to synthesize trisubstituted furans	116
4.7 Cycloisomerization methods to synthesize substituted furans	117
4.8 Titanium promoted synthesis of furans	118
4.9 Titanium promoted modular synthesis of furan	120
4.10 Optimized condition of titanium promoted modular furan synthesis	122
5.1 Ketones as building blocks	146
5.2 Friedel-Crafts acylation	147
5.3 Synthesis of ketone through oxidation	148
5.4 Synthesis of ketones through organometallic reagents	149
5.5 Hydration of alkynes	149
5.6 Carbonylative cross-coupling	150
5.7 Hydroacylation of alkenes and alkynes	151
5.8 Cross electrophile coupling	152
5.9 Dual catalytic approach of ketone synthesis	153
5.10 Proposed reaction	153
5.11 Optimization of the proposed cross-coupling reaction	156
5.12 Optimized reaction condition of dual catalytic reaction	157
5.13 Screening arylbromide scope of the reaction	158
5.14 Synthesis of some mixed ketones	160
5.15 Proposed mechanism for dual catalytic cycle	161

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CNT	Carbon NanoTube
ср	cyclopentadienyl
су	Cyclohexyl
DABCO	1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane
DMA	N, N-Dimethylacetamide
DMF	N,N-Dimethylformamide
DME	Dimethoxyethane
DMPU	1,3-Dimethyl-3,4,5,6-tetrahydro-2(1H)-pyrimidinone
dtbbp	3,3'-Di <i>tert</i> butylbipyridine
EWG	Electron Withdrawing Group
EDG	Electron Donating Group
GC	Gas Chromatography
GCMS	Gas Chromatography Mass Spectometer
G-H II	Grubbs Hoveyda second generation catalysts
h	hour
IBX	o-iodoxybenzoic acid
ⁱ Pr	isopropyl
iPrMgCl	isopropyl magnesium chloride
IR	Infrared Spectroscopy
L.A.	Lewis Acid
MIDA	methyliminodiacetic acid
mmol	Millimole

MW	Microwave
nBuLi	normal butyllithium
NHPI	N-hydroxyphthalimide
NMP	N-methylpyrrolidinone
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy
Piv	Pivaloyl
PMHS	Polymethylhydrosiloxane
рру	phenyl pyridine
r.t.	room temperature
Red.	Reductant
SET	Single Electron Transfer
TBAB	tetrabutylammonium bromide
^t Bu	tertiarybutyl
TBS	tertiary butyl dimethyl silyl
TEA·HCl	Triethylamine Hydrogen Chloride
TFA	Trifluoroacetic acid
Temp.	Temperature
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
TMEDA	Tetramethylethylenediamine
TMS	Trimethylsilyl
TMSCl	Trimethylsilyl Chloride
°C	degree celsius

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

The declining productivity of the pharmaceutical research and development¹⁻² has raised a debatable question as to which tactic³ has to be utilized for developing new therapeutic probes that have high efficacy, minimal side effects, and can expand the druggable genome.⁴ The development of new therapeutics can be accelerated by enhancing the current screening collections. Up until the 1990s, the trend of drug discovery heavily emphasized the incorporation of natural products in biological screenings. Natural products have played a prominent role in drug discovery. In fact, about 26% of FDA approved drugs from 1981-2014 were natural products or modified natural products. If one includes small molecules that have been designed to mimic the binding of the pharmacophore fragment of a natural product the number of FDA approved drugs increases to 51%.⁵ Natural products have demonstrated broad spectrum activity against various diseases, having a large impact on anti-cancer (76% of approved drugs) and antibacterial (91% of approved drugs) treatments. Natural products have played an important role in drug discovery, being a source of inspiration⁶ with a proven track record.⁷⁻¹⁰ Despite this strong foundation, the use of natural products as new drug candidates suffered a backlash¹¹ due to the difficulty in identifying new natural products¹²⁻¹³ and the development/implementation of synthetic methods for the rapid synthesis of large libraries of compounds for submission to highthroughput screenings. The steady decline² of FDA approved drugs have been highlighted by the absence of natural products and natural product mimics¹⁴ in current high-throughput screening

collections. Thus, natural products, natural product analogs, and libraries of complex natural product-mimic¹²⁻¹³ compounds need to be re-included in screening collections for identification of new lead hits and expansion of the druggable genome.⁴ The inherent problem that inhibits inclusion of natural products in screening collections is the steady decline in natural product isolation, there naturally scarce supply, and increased difficulty in identifying new natural products.¹²⁻¹³

There has been growing interests in the total synthesis of macrocylic, terpene, and alkaloid natural products.¹⁵ Any natural product can be made with current synthetic methods, but our ability to prepare these natural products on a multi-gram scale, or prepare hundreds to thousands of analogs is not easily achieved. Resultantly, inhibiting our ability to find new pharmacological tools to study disease biology and discover new lead hits. The importance of fulfilling this gap is exemplified by the recent scalable synthesis of various natural products such as Halaven[®], ¹⁶ (+)-discodermolide, spongistatin 1,¹⁷ actinophyllic acid,¹⁸ tetracycline,¹⁹⁻²⁰ kapakahine F,²¹ ingenol,²² and erythromycin analogs.^{23, 24}. While there has been advances in this area it still takes a long time (Kyprolis[®] took 13 years, Halaven[®] took 24-30 years)⁵³ and requires an enormous effort which may be the reason why pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have been reluctant to pursue natural products. Additionally, several creative strategies have been forwarded to rapidly generate natural productlike complex molecules,¹⁴ Diversity-oriented synthesis (DOS),²⁵⁻²⁷ function-oriented synthesis (FOS),²⁸ diverted-total synthesis (DTS),²⁹ biology-oriented synthesis,³⁰ peptoid synthesis,³¹⁻³³ natural product scaffold diversification,³⁴⁻³⁵ skeletal diversifications,³⁶⁻³⁸ and natural product ringdistortion³⁹⁻⁴¹ are the strategies that have been helpful in generating hits in various divergent screens.⁴²⁻⁴⁶ Despite these important advances, methodology for scalable natural product synthesis or rapid generation of libraries of complex molecules with characteristic natural product features is still scarce.⁴⁷⁻⁵² The other issue is that the methods and strategies used in scalable and library synthesis are divergent. Scalable natural product synthesis focuses on developing the most efficient route to a single target, whereas library design is directed towards modular methods to easily

prepare analogs. The ultimate goal is the development of methods and strategies that could be used in both. The ability to prepare a complex natural product mimic library, identify a lead hit, and then scale the synthesis of the hit with minimal medication.

Natural products have characteristic features that are absent in small molecule drugs such as being structurally diverse and rigid, large macromolecule, more fuse, bridged, and spirocyclic ring system, higher percentage of sp³-to sp²- carbons, greater number of stereo-centers, and higher C-O bond count in combination with a lower C-N bond count⁴⁷⁻⁵² (Fig. 1.1). These features are either missing or under-represented in drug molecules and library compounds. Thus, there is a strong need for synthetic techniques that can incorporate these characteristic features into drug discovery design strategies for library and probe development. One way is by focusing on C-C bond forming reactions. Cross couplings, C-H functionalization, and cross metathesis reactions are conventional C-C bond forming reactions (Scheme 1.1). These are great methods for C-C bond formation as evidenced by the Nobel Prize being awarded to this field twice. Once to Grubbs and Schrock in 2005 and in 2010 to Suzuki, Negishi and Heck for their discoveries. A common drawback suffered by all of these conventional reactions are the use of stoichiometric organometallic species, which can be difficult to synthesize and limit functional group tolerance. Also, they employ 2nd and 3rd row precious transition metals like Pd, Ir, and Ru in the transformation.



The 2nd and 3rd row late transition metals like Ru, Rh, Pd, Ir, Pt and Au have been exploited to do the various kinds of transformations. The natural abundance of these transition metals in the earth's crust are summarized in Fig. 1.2.⁵⁴ The 2nd and 3rd row transition metals which have been over exploited are present in rare amounts and are in the verge of depletion. Although some earth abundant metals such as titanium have been used for catalytic transformations (e.g. Sharpless asymmetric epoxidation) and industrial polymerization processes; relative to the less abundant metals, there are a limited number of reactions that employ metals that are plentiful. And this lack is not due to that they cannot perform but due to the need for the further development of the processes. The growing use of these metals has been encouraged also due to the low cost, ready availability, low toxicity, and greater sustainability.





The focus of this dissertation is the development of new bond forming reactions using earth abundant metals that can be utilized in preparing natural product libraries. This will be accomplished through two approaches: 1) tandem/iterative cross coupling reactions, and 2) dual catalysis. Both of these approaches will focus on using earth abundant titanium and nickel.

1.1. Tandem/iterative cross coupling reaction

Tandem/iterative cross couplings take advantage of bifunctional starting materials. One of the functional groups is initially active while the other one is inactive. The active site of the bifunctional molecule couples with another substrate. After the reaction is completed, the inactive site is then activated by deprotection or functional group conversion. The newly activated site is then coupled with the active site of another bifunctional substrate and the reaction sequence is repeated until the desired product is obtained (Scheme 1.2).⁵⁵



Nature frequently utilizes this technique. One simple example is shown in Scheme 1.3 where mother nature utilizes four molecules of Malonyl CoA to produce 3,5 Dihydroxyphenylglycine.⁵⁶ First Malonyl CoA **12** is activated by the enzyme **13** by nucleophilic addition to the carbonyl followed by loss of the leaving group. Deprotonation of another molecule of Malonyl CoA **12** is done by a basic site of enzymes and then condensation followed by decarboxylation would result into the adduct **16**. Enzyme **13** again activates adduct **16** followed by

condensation with Malonyl CoA. In this way Nature incorporates as many carbons as needed and finally intramolecular condensation and decarboxylation to form the ringed precursor which is later converted to the desired product.



Inspired by Mother Nature, people have been trying to mimic this type of technology in their reaction vessel by finding bifunctional compounds that can undergo iterative cross coupling reactions. However, most of these bifunctional compounds take two to three steps to be synthesized.⁵⁷ Some, even require the use of precious metals and/or toxic metals, like tin, to be synthesized.⁵⁸ Our lab is looking to address this issue be developing tandem coupling reactions

with easily synthesized bifunctional reagents prepared and coupled with earth abundant metals.⁵⁹⁻ ⁶⁰ Chapter 2-4 of this dissertation will elaborate our effort in the utilization of titanacyclopropene's in tandem/iterative cross-coupling reactions.

1.2. Dual catalytic cross coupling reaction

Catalysis is one of the most efficient and powerful tools in chemical synthesis. Scientists have been able to create new C-C bonds and perform different functional group manipulations with the help of catalysis. Catalysts have been used to increase the rate of a reaction, polarize bonds, and form reactive intermediates. Mono-catalysis, the activation of a single substrate by a unique catalyst, as well as dual catalysis, two catalytic systems work side by side to activate two substrates have been equally used by different researchers for the formation of new bonds.

A number of multi-catalysis mechanisms have evolved in recent years (Fig 1.3). Bifunctional catalysis is one where both the substrate, nucleophile, and electrophile are activated separately by two different active sites present in the same catalyst.⁶¹ The use of two catalysts to activate a single component has been termed double activation catalysis.⁶² If one catalyst reacts with a substrate to form a stable intermediate which is then activated by a second catalyst and subsequently reacts with a second substrate has been called cascade catalysis.⁶³⁻⁶⁴ Whereas, if the two catalysts present will simultaneously activate the nucleophile and the electrophile then this has been coined dual/synergistic catalysis.⁶³



Nature has been utilizing these multicatalysis techniques in generating complex compounds. One such example is depicted during the formation of tetrahydrofolate. During its formation, coenzyme NADP⁺ catalytically activates hydride by generating NADPH and on the other hand enzyme dihydrofolate reductase binds dihydrofolate through protonation of an imine and activates it for hydride addition. NADPH cofactor binds to the enzyme and the hydride is delivered to produce tetrahydrofolate by regeneration of NADP⁺ (Scheme 1.4).⁶³



The precious metal, palladium, has been widely utilized to develop the majority of crosscoupling reactions to date because of its high functional group compatibility and specially directed towards C(sp²)-C(Sp²) coupling (Scheme 1.5). Even though C(sp²)-C(sp³) and C(sp³)-C(sp³) bond formation is crucial, methods to construct those linkage are far less advanced. The pioneer work in this field demonstrated nickel catalysts to be competent at facilitating the coupling of sp³hybridized alkyl halide electrophiles or organometallic nucleophiles.⁶⁵ These ground breaking studies have recently been expanded and studied in further details, resulting in more reliable and robust methods, such as Fu's stereoconvergent cross-couplings, that indicate the formation of radical intermediates in the catalytic cycle.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸ However, the use of pre-functionalized organometallic reagents⁶⁹⁻⁸² are required in those methods. This is a drawback because they require additional step to prepare the reagent, stoichiometric metal waste is generated, limited functional group compatibility depending on the metal, toxicity issues, non-atom economical, sensitivity to air and/or moisture, and a limited shelf life. To address these issues, Weix demonstrated the crosselectrophile coupling of aryl halides with aliphatic halides using nickel catalyst, and provided strong evidence of a single-electron-transfer (SET) process occurring in the catalytic cycle.⁸³ The current need is more focused on the strategies that can replace or as alternatives to the organometallic reagents.

Due to evidence that nickel catalyzed cross-couplings occur through radical intermediates, and the ease with which nickel can adjust its oxidation state between Ni⁰, Ni¹, Ni^{1I}, and Ni^{III} a viable alternative coupling partner would be carbon radicals.⁸⁴ For this approach to be successful the radicals would need to be generated in catalytic amount to minimize radical propagation and termination events. Fortunately, advancements in catalytic radical generation has been made recently using titanium, cobalt, and iron, in addition to photoinduced electron transfer.⁸⁵ Thus, a radical generating catalyst along with the dual catalysis approach can enable new bond forming processes. The feasibility of this dual catalytic approach was initially demonstrated by Sanford by merging palladium-catalyzed C-H arylation and photoredoxcatalysis.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁷ Building on this seminal study the Molander, MacMillan, and Doyle groups merged nickel and photocatalysis. Molander generated carbon radicals from alkyl organometallic reagents, potassium trifluoroborates,⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰ and ammonium silicates.⁹¹ MacMillan used carboxylic acids⁹²⁻⁹⁴ for radical generation, while Doyle has employed α -amino radicals.⁹⁵ The common ground for these groups has been radical generation through photoinduced electron transfer, which has benefits of milder reaction conditions, and enabling new bond formations, which has attracted additional groups to this area.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁷

The other way to generate the carbon radical catalytically is through transition metals, such as titanium, cobalt, and iron. Yet, dual catalytic reactiond using Ni/Ti, Ni/Co, or Ni/Fe has remained nearly unexplored (Scheme 1.6). The exploration of which would complement the existing dual photo-catalytic methods, and more importantly it would enhance the radical coupling partner by expanding upon the available starting materials. The scaling of these dual radical cross-couplings can be easily achieved whereas the photo-catalytic methods need specialized flow reactors that are not readily available. Despite the important advances to nickel catalyze cross-couplings with sp^3 -hybridized coupling partners, there exists a clear need for new methods that use readily available, inexpensive, and non-organometallic coupling partners.

In the Rahaim group we have tried developing dual catalytic methods for cross-coupling two abundant functional groups which otherwise could not be coupled through existing technologies. Overall fewer steps to prepare compounds under milder conditions with expanded substrate scope and chemoselectivity would be a clear advantage of dual catalytic radical cross-couplings over classical palladium catalyzed cross-couplings. This is significant as imines, ketones, and quaternary carbons can efficiently and selective prepared. These classes of compounds are routinely used in medicinal chemistry synthesis strategies to prepare drug targets that display activity over a vast range of therapeutic targets. The development of this new technology would expand the medicinal chemist tool box to new bond forming strategies, namely $C(sp^2)-Csp^3$) and $C(sp^3)-C(sp^3)$ bond connections.



References:

- 1. Hay, M.; Thomas, D. W.; Craighead, J. L.; Economides, C.; Rosenthal, J. "Clinical development success rates for investigational drugs" *Nat. Biotech.* **2014**, *32* (1), 40-51.
- Pammolli, F.; Magazzini, L.; Riccaboni, M. "The productivity crisis in pharmaceutical R&D" *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 2011, *10* (6), 428-438.
- Matter, A.; Keller, T. H. "State of the art technologies in drug discovery 2011" *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 2011, 15 (4), 461-462.
- Drewry, D. H.; Macarron, R. "Enhancements of screening collections to address areas of unmet medical need: an industry perspective" *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 2010, *14* (3), 289-298.
- Newman, D. J.; Cragg, G. M. "Natural Products As Sources of New Drugs over the 30 Years from 1981 to 2010" *J. Nat. Prod.* 2012, 75 (3), 311-335.
- Ganesan, A. "The impact of natural products upon modern drug discovery" *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 2008, *12* (3), 306-317.
- Cragg, G. M.; Grothaus, P. G.; Newman, D. J. "Impact of natural products on developing new anti-cancer agents" *Chem. Rev.* 2009, *109* (7), 3012-3043.
- Newman, D. J.; Cragg, G. M. "Natural products as sources of new drugs over the last 25 years" *J. Nat. Prod.* 2007, *70* (3), 461-477.
- 9. Butler, M. S. "Natural products to drugs: natural product-derived compounds in clinical trials" *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2008**, *25* (3), 475-516.
- Harvey, A. L. "Natural products in drug discovery" *Drug Discov. Today* 2008, *13* (19–20), 894-901.
- Koehn, F. E.; Carter, G. T. "The evolving role of natural products in drug discovery" *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2005, *4* (3), 206-220.
- 12. Li, J. W. H.; Vederas, J. C. "Drug discovery and natural products: end of an era or an endless frontier?" *Science* **2009**, *325*, 161-165.

- Baltz, R. H. "Renaissance in antibacterial discovery from actinomycetes" *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 2008, 8 (5), 557-563.
- Schreiber, S. L. "Organic synthesis toward small-molecule probes and drugs" *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2011, *108* (17), 6699-6702.
- Nicolaou, K. C.; Chen, J. S., *Classics in Total Synthesis III: Further Targets, Strategies, Methods.* Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, Germany, 2011.
- Jackson, K. L.; Henderson, J. A.; Phillips, A. J. "The Halichondrins and E7389" *Chem. Rev.* 2009, *109* (7), 3044-3079.
- Smith, A. B.; Tomioka, T.; Risatti, C. A.; Sperry, J. B.; Sfouggatakis, C. "Gram-scale synthesis of (+)-spongistatin 1: Development of an improved, scalable synthesis of the f-ring subunit, fragment union, and final elaboration" *Org. Lett.* 2008, *10* (19), 4359-4362.
- Martin, C. L.; Overman, L. E.; Rohde, J. M. "Total synthesis of (±)- and (–)-actinophyllic acid" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, *132* (13), 4894-4906.
- 19. Liu, F.; Myers, A. G. "Development of a platform for the discovery and practical synthesis of new tetracycline antibiotics" *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **2016**, *32*, 48-57.
- 20. Kummer, D. A.; Li, D.; Dion, A.; Myers, A. G. "A practical, convergent route to the key precursor to the tetracycline antibiotics" *Chem. Sci.* **2011**, *2* (9), 1710-1718.
- Newhouse, T.; Lewis, C. A.; Baran, P. S. "Enantiospecific total syntheses of kapakahines
 B and F" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2009, *131* (18), 6360-6361.
- Jørgensen, L.; McKerrall, S. J.; Kuttruff, C. A.; Ungeheuer, F.; Felding, J.; Baran, P. S.
 "14-Step Synthesis of (+)-Ingenol from (+)-3-Carene" *Science* 2013, *341*, 878-882.
- Seiple, I. B.; Zhang, Z.; Jakubec, P.; Langlois-Mercier, A.; Wright, P. M.; Hog, D. T.; Yabu, K.; Allu, S. R.; Fukuzaki, T.; Carlsen, P. N.; Kitamura, Y.; Zhou, X.; Condakes, M. L.; Szczypiński, F. T.; Green, W. D.; Myers, A. G. "A platform for the discovery of new macrolide antibiotics" *Nature* 2016, *533*, 338-345.

- Kuttruff, C. A.; Eastgate, M. D.; Baran, P. S. "Natural product synthesis in the age of scalability" *Nat. Prod. Rep.* 2014, 31 (4), 419-432.
- 25. Schreiber, S. L. "Target-oriented and diversity-oriented organic synthesis in drug discovery" *Science* **2000**, *287*, 1964-1969.
- 26. Spaller, M. R.; Burger, M. T.; Fardis, M.; Bartlett, P. A. "Synthetic strategies in combinatorial chemistry" *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **1997**, *1*, 47-53.
- Cui, J.; Hao, J.; Ulanovskaya, O. A.; Dundas, J.; Liang, J.; Kozmin, S. A. "Creation and manipulation of common functional groups en route to a skeletally diverse chemical library" *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2011, *108*, 6763-6768.
- 28. Wender, P. A.; Verma, V. A.; Paxton, T. J.; Pillow, T. H. "Function-oriented synthesis, step economy, and drug design" *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2008**, *41* (1), 40-49.
- 29. Wilson, R. M.; Danishefsky, S. J. "Small molecule natural products in the discovery of therapeutic agents: The Synthesis Connection" *J. Org. Chem.* **2006**, *71* (22), 8329-8351.
- Wetzel, S.; Bon, R. S.; Kumar, K.; Waldmann, H. "Biology-Oriented Synthesis" Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50 (46), 10800-10826.
- Raveendra, Bindu L.; Wu, H.; Baccala, R.; Reddy, M. M.; Schilke, J.; Bennett, Jeffrey L.; Theofilopoulos, Argyrios N.; Kodadek, T. "Discovery of peptoid ligands for antiaquaporin 4 antibodies" *Chem. Biol.* 2013, 20 (3), 351-359.
- Aquino, C.; Sarkar, M.; Chalmers, M. J.; Mendes, K.; Kodadek, T.; Micalizio, G. C. "A biomimetic polyketide-inspired approach to small-molecule ligand discovery" *Nat. Chem.* 2012, *4* (2), 99-104.
- Aditya, A.; Kodadek, T. "Incorporation of heterocycles into the backbone of peptoids to generate diverse peptoid-inspired one bead one compound libraries" *ACS. Comb. Sci.* 2012, *14* (3), 164-169.
- 34. Pelish, H. E.; Westwood, N. J.; Feng, Y.; Kirchhausen, T.; Shair, M. D. "Use of biomimetic diversity-oriented synthesis to discover galanthamine-like molecules with biological

properties beyond those of the natural product" J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123 (27), 6740-6741.

- Goess, B. C.; Hannoush, R. N.; Chan, L. K.; Kirchhausen, T.; Shair, M. D. "Synthesis of a 10,000-membered library of molecules resembling carpanone and discovery of vesicular traffic inhibitors" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2006, *128* (16), 5391-5403.
- 36. Kumar, N.; Kiuchi, M.; Tallarico, J. A.; Schreiber, S. L. "Small-molecule diversity using a skeletal transformation strategy" *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7* (13), 2535-2538.
- Balthaser, B. R.; Maloney, M. C.; Beeler, A. B.; Porco, J. A.; Snyder, J. K. "Remodelling of the natural product fumagillol employing a reaction discovery approach" *Nat. Chem.* 2011, *3* (12), 969-973.
- 38. Kopp, F.; Stratton, C. F.; Akella, L. B.; Tan, D. S. "A diversity-oriented synthesis approach to macrocycles via oxidative ring expansion" *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2012**, *8* (4), 358-365.
- 39. Morrison, K. C.; Hergenrother, P. J. "Natural products as starting points for the synthesis of complex and diverse compounds" *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2014**, *31* (1), 6-14.
- 40. Rafferty, R. J.; Hicklin, R. W.; Maloof, K. A.; Hergenrother, P. J. "Synthesis of complex and diverse compounds through ring distortion of abietic acid" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2014, *53* (1), 220-224.
- Huigens Iii, R. W.; Morrison, K. C.; Hicklin, R. W.; Flood Jr, T. A.; Richter, M. F.; Hergenrother, P. J. "A ring-distortion strategy to construct stereochemically complex and structurally diverse compounds from natural products" *Nat. Chem.* 2013, 5 (3), 195-202.
- Schreiber, Stuart L.; Kotz, Joanne D.; Li, M.; Aubé, J.; Austin, Christopher P.; Reed, John C.; Rosen, H.; White, E. L.; Sklar, Larry A.; Lindsley, Craig W.; Alexander, Benjamin R.; Bittker, Joshua A.; Clemons, Paul A.; de Souza, A.; Foley, Michael A.; Palmer, M.; Shamji, Alykhan F.; Wawer, Mathias J.; McManus, O.; Wu, M.; Zou, B.; Yu, H.; Golden, Jennifer E.; Schoenen, Frank J.; Simeonov, A.; Jadhav, A.; Jackson, Michael R.; Pinkerton, Anthony B.; Chung, Thomas D. Y.; Griffin, Patrick R.; Cravatt, 16

Benjamin F.; Hodder, Peter S.; Roush, William R.; Roberts, E.; Chung, D.-H.; Jonsson,
Colleen B.; Noah, James W.; Severson, William E.; Ananthan, S.; Edwards, B.; Oprea,
Tudor I.; Conn, P. J.; Hopkins, Corey R.; Wood, Michael R.; Stauffer, Shaun R.; Emmitte,
Kyle A.; Brady, Linda S.; Driscoll, J.; Li, Ingrid Y.; Loomis, Carson R.; Margolis,
Ronald N.; Michelotti, E.; Perry, Mary E.; Pillai, A.; Yao, Y. "Advancing biological
understanding and therapeutics discovery with small-molecule probes" *Cell* 2015, *161* (6),
1252-1265.

- 43. O' Connor, C. J.; Beckmann, H. S. G.; Spring, D. R. "Diversity-oriented synthesis: producing chemical tools for dissecting biology" *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2012**, *41* (12), 4444-4456.
- Galloway, W. R. J. D.; Isidro-Llobet, A.; Spring, D. R. "Diversity-oriented synthesis as a tool for the discovery of novel biologically active small molecules" *Nat. Commun.* 2010, *1* (80), 1-13.
- Schaefer, G. I.; Perez, J. R.; Duvall, J. R.; Stanton, B. Z.; Shamji, A. F.; Schreiber, S. L.
 "Discovery of small-molecule modulators of the sonic hedgehog pathway" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2013, *135* (26), 9675-9680.
- Clemons, P. A.; Bodycombe, N. E.; Carrinski, H. A.; Wilson, J. A.; Shamji, A. F.; Wagner,
 B. K.; Koehler, A. N.; Schreiber, S. L. "Small molecules of different origins have distinct distributions of structural complexity that correlate with protein-binding profiles" *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2010, *107* (44), 18787-18792.
- 47. Singh, N.; Guha, R.; Giulianotti, M. A.; Pinilla, C.; Houghten, R. A.; Medina-Franco, J. L.
 "Chemoinformatic analysis of combinatorial libraries, drugs, natural products, and molecular libraries small molecule repository" *J. Chem. Inf. Model.* 2009, *49* (4), 1010-1024.

- Feher, M.; Schmidt, J. M. "Property distributions: differences between drugs, natural products, and molecules from combinatorial chemistry" *J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci.* 2003, 43 (1), 218-227.
- Shelat, A. A.; Guy, R. K. "The interdependence between screening methods and screening libraries" *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 2007, *11* (3), 244-251.
- Shelat, A. A.; Guy, R. K. "Scaffold composition and biological relevance of screening libraries" *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 2007, 3 (8), 442-446.
- 51. Grabowski, K.; Baringhaus, K.-H.; Schneider, G. "Scaffold diversity of natural products: inspiration for combinatorial library design" *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2008**, *25* (5), 892-904.
- 52. Kristina, G.; Gisbert, S. "Properties and architecture of drugs and natural products revisited" *Curr. Chem. Biol.* **2007**, *1* (1), 115-127.
- 53. Newman, D. J. "Developing natural product drugs: Supply problems and how they have been overcome" *Pharmacol. Ther.* **2016**, *162*, 1-9.
- 54. Odom, A. L.; McDaniel, T. J. "Titanium-catalyzed multicomponent couplings: efficient one-pot syntheses of nitrogen heterocycles" *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2015**, *48* (11), 2822-2833.
- 55. Wang, C.; Glorius, F. "Controlled iterative cross-coupling: on the way to the automation of organic synthesis" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48* (29), 5240-5244.
- Fischbach, M. A.; Walsh, C. T. "Assembly-line enzymology for polyketide and nonribosomal peptide antibiotics: logic, machinery, and mechanisms" *Chem. Rev.* 2006, 106 (8), 3468-3496.
- 57. Lee, S. J.; Gray, K. C.; Paek, J. S.; Burke, M. D. "Simple, efficient, and modular syntheses of polyene natural products via iterative cross-coupling" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2008, *130* (2), 466-468.
- 58. Singidi, R. R.; RajanBabu, T. V. "Borostannylation of alkynes and enynes. scope and limitations of the reaction and utility of the adducts" *Org. Lett.* **2010**, *12* (11), 2622-2625.

- 59. Silwal, S.; Rahaim, R. J. "Regioselective synthesis of enones via a titanium-promoted coupling of unsymmetrical alkynes with weinreb amides" *J. Org. Chem.* **2014**, *79* (17), 8469-8476.
- 60. Silwal, S.; Rahaim, R. J. "Modular synthesis of tetra-substituted furans from alkynes, Weinreb amides, and aldehydes" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2015, *56* (42), 5738-5742.
- Shibasaki, M.; Kanai, M.; Matsunaga, S.; Kumagai, N. "Recent progress in asymmetric bifunctional catalysis using multimetallic systems" *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2009, *42* (8), 1117-1127.
- Knowles, R. R.; Jacobsen, E. N. "Attractive noncovalent interactions in asymmetric catalysis: Links between enzymes and small molecule catalysts" *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2010, *107* (48), 20678-20685.
- 63. Allen, A. E.; MacMillan, D. W. C. "Synergistic catalysis: A powerful synthetic strategy for new reaction development" *Chem. Sci.* **2012**, *3* (3), 633-658.
- 64. Echavarren, A. M.; Stille, J. K. "Palladium-catalyzed coupling of aryl triflates with organostannanes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1987**, *109* (18), 5478-5486.
- 65. Negishi, E. "Palladium- or nickel-catalyzed cross coupling. A new selective method for carbon-carbon bond formation" *Acc. Chem. Res.* **1982**, *15* (11), 340-348.
- 66. Hu, X. "Nickel-catalyzed cross coupling of non-activated alkyl halides: a mechanistic perspective" *Chem. Sci.* **2011**, *2* (10), 1867-1886.
- Jana, R.; Pathak, T. P.; Sigman, M. S. "Advances in transition metal (Pd,Ni,Fe)-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions using alkyl-organometallics as reaction partners" *Chem. Rev.* 2011, *111* (3), 1417-1492.
- Rosen, B. M.; Quasdorf, K. W.; Wilson, D. A.; Zhang, N.; Resmerita, A.-M.; Garg, N. K.;
 Percec, V. "Nickel-Catalyzed Cross-Couplings Involving Carbon–Oxygen Bonds" *Chem. Rev.* 2011, *111* (3), 1346-1416.

- Liang, Y.; Fu, G. C. "Stereoconvergent Negishi arylations of racemic secondary alkyl electrophiles: differentiating between a CF₃ and an alkyl group" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2015, *137* (30), 9523-9526.
- 70. Choi, J.; Martín-Gago, P.; Fu, G. C. "Stereoconvergent arylations and alkenylations of unactivated alkyl electrophiles: catalytic enantioselective synthesis of secondary sulfonamides and sulfones" J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136 (34), 12161-12165.
- Liang, Y.; Fu, G. C. "Catalytic asymmetric synthesis of tertiary alkyl fluorides: Negishi Cross-couplings of racemic α,α-dihaloketones" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2014, *136* (14), 5520-5524.
- 72. Do, H.-Q.; Chandrashekar, E. R. R.; Fu, G. C. "Nickel/bis(oxazoline)-catalyzed asymmetric negishi arylations of racemic secondary benzylic electrophiles to generate enantioenriched 1,1-diarylalkanes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135* (44), 16288-16291.
- 73. Cordier, C. J.; Lundgren, R. J.; Fu, G. C. "Enantioconvergent cross-couplings of racemic alkylmetal reagents with unactivated secondary alkyl electrophiles: catalytic asymmetric Negishi α-alkylations of *N*-Boc-pyrrolidine" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2013, *135* (30), 10946-10949.
- 74. Binder, J. T.; Cordier, C. J.; Fu, G. C. "Catalytic enantioselective cross-couplings of secondary alkyl electrophiles with secondary alkylmetal nucleophiles: Negishi reactions of racemic benzylic bromides with achiral alkylzinc reagents" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134* (41), 17003-17006.
- 75. Wilsily, A.; Tramutola, F.; Owston, N. A.; Fu, G. C. "New directing groups for metalcatalyzed asymmetric carbon–carbon bond-forming processes: stereoconvergent alkyl– alkyl suzuki cross-couplings of unactivated electrophiles" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134* (13), 5794-5797.

- Oelke, A. J.; Sun, J.; Fu, G. C. "Nickel-catalyzed enantioselective cross-couplings of racemic secondary electrophiles that bear an oxygen leaving group" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, 134 (6), 2966-2969.
- 77. Zultanski, S. L.; Fu, G. C. "Catalytic asymmetric γ-alkylation of carbonyl compounds via stereoconvergent Suzuki cross-couplings" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133* (39), 15362-15364.
- Lu, Z.; Wilsily, A.; Fu, G. C. "Stereoconvergent amine-directed alkyl-alkyl Suzuki Reactions of unactivated secondary alkyl chlorides" J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133 (21), 8154-8157.
- 79. Owston, N. A.; Fu, G. C. "Asymmetric alkyl–alkyl cross-couplings of unactivated secondary alkyl electrophiles: stereoconvergent suzuki reactions of racemic acylated halohydrins" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132* (34), 11908-11909.
- Lundin, P. M.; Fu, G. C. "Asymmetric Suzuki cross-couplings of activated secondary alkyl electrophiles: arylations of racemic α-chloroamides" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, *132* (32), 11027-11029.
- 81. Lou, S.; Fu, G. C. "Enantioselective alkenylation via nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling with organozirconium reagents" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132* (14), 5010-5011.
- Lou, S.; Fu, G. C. "Nickel/Bis(oxazoline)-catalyzed asymmetric Kumada reactions of alkyl electrophiles: cross-couplings of racemic α-bromoketones" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, *132* (4), 1264-1266.
- 83. Weix, D. J. "Methods and mechanisms for cross-electrophile coupling of csp² halides with alkyl electrophiles" *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2015**, *48* (6), 1767-1775.
- Ananikov, V. P. "Nickel: The "Spirited Horse" of transition metal catalysis" ACS Catal.
 2015, 5 (3), 1964-1971.
- Studer, A.; Curran, D. P. "Catalysis of radical reactions: a radical chemistry perspective" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2016, 55 (1), 58-102.

- Kalyani, D.; McMurtrey, K. B.; Neufeldt, S. R.; Sanford, M. S. "Room-temperature c-h arylation: merger of Pd-catalyzed c-h functionalization and visible-light photocatalysis" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2011, *133* (46), 18566-18569.
- 87. Neufeldt, S. R.; Sanford, M. S. "Combining transition metal catalysis with radical chemistry: dramatic acceleration of palladium-catalyzed C-H arylation with diaryliodonium salts" *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2012**, *354* (18), 3517-3522.
- Gutierrez, O.; Tellis, J. C.; Primer, D. N.; Molander, G. A.; Kozlowski, M. C. "Nickelcatalyzed cross-coupling of photoredox-generated radicals: uncovering a general manifold for stereoconvergence in nickel-catalyzed cross-couplings" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2015, *137* (15), 4896-4899.
- 89. Karakaya, I.; Primer, D. N.; Molander, G. A. "Photoredox cross-coupling: Ir/Ni dual catalysis for the synthesis of benzylic ethers" *Org. Lett.* **2015**, *17* (13), 3294-3297.
- Tellis, J. C.; Primer, D. N.; Molander, G. A. "Single-electron transmetalation in organoboron cross-coupling by photoredox/nickel dual catalysis" *Science* 2014, *345*, 433-436.
- 91. Patel, N. R.; Kelly, C. B.; Jouffroy, M.; Molander, G. A. "Engaging alkenyl halides with alkylsilicates via photoredox dual catalysis" *Org. Lett.* **2016**, *18* (4), 764-767.
- 2. Zuo, Z.; Ahneman, D. T.; Chu, L.; Terrett, J. A.; Doyle, A. G.; MacMillan, D. W. C.
 "Merging photoredox with nickel catalysis: Coupling of α-carboxyl sp3-carbons with aryl halides" *Science* 2014, *345* (6195), 437-440.
- 93. Noble, A.; McCarver, S. J.; MacMillan, D. W. C. "Merging photoredox and nickel catalysis: decarboxylative cross-coupling of carboxylic acids with vinyl halides" J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137 (2), 624-627.
- 94. Chu, L.; Lipshultz, J. M.; MacMillan, D. W. C. "Merging photoredox and nickel catalysis: the direct synthesis of ketones by the decarboxylative arylation of α-oxo acids" *Angew*. *Chem. Int. Ed.* 2015, *54* (27), 7929-7933.
- 95. Joe, C. L.; Doyle, A. G. "Direct Acylation of C(sp3)–H bonds enabled by nickel and photoredox catalysis" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55* (12), 4040-4043.
- 96. Oderinde, M. S.; Frenette, M.; Robbins, D. W.; Aquila, B.; Johannes, J. W. "Photoredox mediated nickel catalyzed cross-coupling of thiols with aryl and heteroaryl iodides via thiyl radicals" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2016, *138* (6), 1760-1763.
- 97. Luo, J.; Zhang, J. "Donor–acceptor fluorophores for visible-light-promoted organic synthesis: photoredox/Ni dual catalytic C(sp³)–C(sp²) cross-coupling" *ACS Catal.* 2016, 6 (2), 873-877.

CHAPTER II

CROSS-COUPLING OF TITANACYCLES TO PREPARE TRI- AND TETRASUBSTITUTED OLEFINS, CATALYZED BY EARTH ABUNDANT METALS

2.1. INTRODUCTION

Metal-catalyzed cross couplings have been widely used to synthesize fine chemicals, agro chemicals, materials, therapeutics, and natural products. This mode of C-C bond forming reaction has been well developed as an invaluable tool for synthetic chemists, yet, the need for new environment friendly reactions with improved chemical efficiency is in high demand. This has urged the development of new methods where multiple C-C bonds can be selectively formed from readily available starting materials. Organoboron reagents have dominated the field of transition metal cross-couplings due to their functional group compatibility, established methods of preparation, and stability. However, boron is the 41st most abundant elements that is mined, in combination with the growing use of this element, it has been predicted to deplete within the next century. Titanium, on the other hand, is the 9th most abundant element in the earth crust and 5th most abundant metal that is mined; and is not currently in danger of being depleted. In addition to that, the use of organotitanium reagents would produce TiO₂ as the byproduct, which is environmentally benign and non-toxic. Unlike organoboron reagents, organotitanium reagents can form titanacycles which are 1,2-dicarbanions. These titanacycles have been well established to be

useful in reductive couplings of π -unsaturated substrates and have proven to be a powerful method in natural product syntheses. ¹⁻² However, the use of these reagents in transition metal catalyzed cross-couplings is nearly undeveloped. This study aims to develop a general approach for crosscoupling titanacycles to generate C-C and C-heteroatom bonds from readily available π unsaturated substrates (alkynes) and organohalides.

Tri- and tetrasubstituted olefins are an important scaffold that can be found in small molecule drugs,³ materials, and natural products (fig. 2.1).⁴⁻⁶ They are also extremely useful building blocks for the generation of stereogenic centers through asymmetric transformations such as epoxidation,⁷ dihydroxylation,⁸⁻⁹ hydrogenation,¹⁰⁻¹¹ and metal catalyzed coupling reactions.¹² Olefins have also been established as versatile building blocks in radical reactions, ionic and radical polymerization reactions,¹³ and materials research.¹⁴ The challenge is to synthesize the substituted alkenes stereoselectively. While progress has been made in the stereocontrolled synthesis of substituted olefins there is still a need for modular methods that use earth abundant metals.¹⁵ In our approach titanacyle dicarbanions have been used in the mono- and di-functionalization of alkynes. Available methods focus on transition metal catalyzed three component couplings of terminal alkynes, alkyl iodides, and organometallic reagents under palladium¹⁶⁻¹⁸ or nickel catalysis¹⁹⁻²¹ to prepare substituted olefins from alkynes (Scheme 2.1). This is an efficient and rapid approach to prepare substituted alkenes, but does have some restrictions that our approach can address. Namely, these methods are limited to alkyl iodides or activated alkyl bromides which need to be used in excess (2 equiv.), as does the organometallic reagent. Additionally, the organometallic reagent requires separate resources, energy, and time to be prepared prior to use. While a vast assortment of organoboron reagents are commercially available it should be kept in mind that resources and energy are being expended in their preparation.



Another approach has been the copper catalyzed carboboration of alkynes, which is also restricted to alkyl- and aryl iodides, and also requires the vinyl boronate product to be used in excess in a separate cross-coupling reaction (Scheme 2.2).²²⁻²³ Our approach will expand the halide coupling partners, use the titanacycle as the limiting reagent, and run the reaction in one pot so less resources, energy, and time are expended, and less waste is generated.





Titanacycles have an established track record to perform intra- and intermolecular reactions with readily available ubiquitous π -unsaturated substrates.²⁴⁻²⁶ Low valent titanium has been used to react with and/or reductively couple alkynes, alkenes, allenes, aldehydes, ketones, imines, and nitriles in the synthesis of a myriad of structures (Scheme 2.3). The robustness and utility of these reactions is exemplified by Micalizio's and Phillip's applications in the total synthesis of pectenotoxin 2,²⁷ lehualide B,²⁸ macbecin I,²⁹ spirastrellolide B,³⁰ spirolaxine methyl ether,³¹ and dictyostatin.¹ This powerful synthetic technology has also been used in the preparation of natural product analogs³²⁻³⁵ and for a divergent synthesis of carbocycles.³⁶ Surprisingly, application of these reagents in transition metal catalyzed cross-couplings is nearly undeveloped. Cross-coupling of zirconacycles and titanacycles has only been accomplished with stoichiometric (≥ 1 equiv.) amounts of copper salts, and a limited range of electrophiles, including aryl iodides, alkynyl iodides, alkynyl bromides, and allyl halides. Additional pitfalls are that these dicarbanion reagents have only been cross-coupled with a single electrophile twice and only symmetrical alkenes and alkynes were utilized. A powerful modular approach to prepare complex molecules would be the development of tandem catalytic cross-couplings of titanacycles, generated from unsymmetrical alkynes, and with two different electrophiles. This would be an economical approach. Iterative reactions are a powerful strategy to construct complex molecules from simple starting materials, exemplified by nature's biosynthesis of polyketides.³⁷ The utilization of bimetallic or bifunctional reagents in iterative cross-couplings has been established,³⁸⁻³⁹ and is still an active area of research⁴⁰

with elegant contributions surfacing from the research groups of Morken,⁴¹⁻⁴² Molander,⁴³ and Burke.⁴⁴



While these approaches are extremely powerful strategies that can prepare complex molecules in a modular, convergent, and regioselective manner, there still exist areas for improvement. Iterative cross-coupling with a bimetallic methyliminodiacetic acid (MIDA) boronate is a multi-step (reaction vessel) process that requires the boron coupling partners to be used in excess (1.5–2 equivalents) in both couplings (Scheme 2.4), meaning 33 to 75% of the bimetallic reagent is wasted. Thus, an approach that could prepare a bimetallic reagent with differential reactivity and couple it in a single reaction vessel would increase the efficiency of iterative cross-couplings, and require less time, resources, and energy.



2.2. Approaches to synthesize tetrasubstituted olefins

Various methods have been utilized to access tri- and tetrasubstituted olefins. The Wittig⁴⁵ and McMurry⁴⁶ reactions are the most common classical approaches. In the Wittig reaction, various phosphorous ylides are reacted with with aldehydes and ketones to obtain tri- and tetrasubstituted olefins.^{45, 47} In 1968, D. J. Peterson showed the silicon-variant of the Wittig-type reactions where α -silyl carbanions are reacted with carbonyl compounds to obtain olefins.⁴⁸ This reaction is commonly known as Peterson olefination (Scheme 2.5). In the McMurry coupling reaction, the reductive homo coupling of carbonyl compounds is performed with low valent titanium complexes to form the corresponding substituted olefins (Scheme 2.6).⁴⁶ Though, these are the most commonly employed methods to generate tri- and tetrasubstituted olefins, they suffer from major drawbacks such as limited functional group tolerance and poor stereoselectivity.



Modern technologies involve carbometalation of alkynes using organometallic reagents such asGrignard reagents, organocuprates, and organozinc reagents. The resultant alkenyl-metal bond is trapped by various processes such as addition of electrophiles, cross-coupling, and oxidative coupling. These techniques have been widely used because readily accessible reactants such as alkynes and alkyl halides are used to build up a huge variety of complex olefins. The use of pyrophoric organometallic reagents, poor functional group tolerance, difficult to control regio-and stereoselectivity are the major drawbacks suffered by these techniques (Scheme 2.7). Thus, a reaction technique is required that can have better function group tolerance, and better regio- and stereocontrol. One of the most recent method for synthesizing tetrasubstituted olefins is direct functionalization of alkynes in a three component domino reaction. Internal alkynes, aryl iodides and arylboronic acids are catalyzed by various Pd^{49.52} and Ni⁵³ salts to synthesize tetrasubstituted olefins regio- and steroselectively.⁴⁹ The proposed mechanism involves oxidative addition of aryl iodide to the Pd(0) and then aryl palladation of an internal alkyne to form an alkenyl palladium

species. This key intermediate then reacts with the arylboronic acid to give the tetrasubstituted olefin after reductive elimination (Scheme 2.8).



However, these are the efficient methods to synthesize the tetrasubstituted olefins, the use of stoichiometric amount of organoboron reagent is the major set back of this reaction.

2.3. RESULT AND DISCUSSION

The cross-coupling of aryl titanium(IV) reagents [ArTi(O*i*Pr)₃] has been successfully completed under palladium⁵⁴ and nickel⁵⁵ catalysis. These reagents are electronically very different than the titanacyclopropenes but it demonstrates the feasibility of cross-coupling titanacycles under nickel catalysis. A seminal paper by Tsuji demonstrated that bis(1,5-cyclooctadiene)nickel(0) can catalyze the cross coupling of symmetrical titanacyclopropenes with aromatic iodides (Scheme 2.9).⁵⁶ This work established the feasibility and laid the foundation for iterative cross-couplings of

titanacycles. The potential reason why this paper has been overlooked is that it indicates that an iterative cross-coupling is possible but not highly selective or efficient. While Tsuji designed the system with the intent of performing a double cross-coupling, as seen by using four equivalents of the aryl iodide and prolonged reaction times, it is our supposition based on his data that modification of the system can result in a selective and efficient iterative cross-coupling. Based on the theory that the reactivity difference between the titanacycle and the resultant organotitanium(IV) intermediate is vast, a selective mono-cross-coupling of the titanacycle should occur with just one equivalent of aryl halide. This theory is also validated by the reactivity difference of these two titanium reagents with aldehydes. Titanacyclopropenes readily undergo reductive coupling with aldehydes, whereas organotitanium(IV) reagents require Lewis acid activation.⁵⁷ Therefore, by controlling the concentration of the first electrophile, and adding an additive to activate the titanium(IV) intermediate through formation of an ate-complex, a second selective cross-coupling with a second different electrophile is anticipated to occur.



As a first step to achieve this one-pot iterative cross-coupling with two different organohalides, we will cross-couple the titanacyclopropene with an earth abundant catalyst, then react the vinyl titanium(IV) intermediate with a variety of electrophiles to gain insight into its reactivity profile, assisting efforts in achieving a second cross-coupling. Tsuji's original protocol used $Ni(COD)_2$ as the catalyst. Due to the high reactivity, instability, and requirement of a glovebox to use $Ni(COD)_2$ we opted to screen bench stable iron, nickel, and copper salts.

2.3.1. Attempts on an Iron Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Between a Titanacyclopropene and an Aryl Halide.

As the starting point to develop the iterative cross-coupling of titanacyclopropenewe chose to begin with iron catalysts. This was chosen in part due to iron being the greenest choice. Iron is the 3rd most abundant metal that is mined. It is currently not in danger of being depleted, is not toxic, and environmentally benign.⁵⁸ Additionally, iron has been established as a competent catalyst in cross-coupling Grignard reagents. The first iron catalyzed homo-coupling of aryl Grignard reagents was described in 1941 by Kharasch and Fields.⁵⁹ Cross-coupling reactions catalyzed by iron started in the early 1970s when Kochi was able to show the coupling of alkenyl halides with Grignard reagents.⁶⁰ Through the 1990s, some publications appeared in this area, but not until the 2000s the growth and development of iron-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions has occurred and now it is a major focus of many scientists around the globe.⁵⁸ Since Fürstner and Leitner published optimized conditions for highly selective iron-catalyzed cross couplings of alkyl halides with alkyl magnesium halides in the presence of NMP as co-solvent,⁶¹ the iron-catalyzed cross coupling reactions have matured to an effective C-C and C-X bond forming reaction with broad scope. Organomagnesium species have been the most successful nucleophiles in iron catalyzed cross coupling reactions. Organotitanium compounds have shown a very similar reaction profile to organomagnesium compounds.²⁵ Thus, we started looking at whether iron catalysts could be used to cross-couplie titanacycles. The reaction was envisioned to be carried out as shown in Scheme 2.10.



2.3.2. Test reactions to establish titanacylce formation and iron cross coupling are reproducible

 η^3 -Allyltitanium(III) complexes were synthesized in 1967 by Martin and Jellinek by reacting Cp₂TiCl₂ with 2 equivalents of alkyl Grignard reagents and conjugated dienes,⁶² which were later demonstrated to be allylating reagent by Sato and Tauben independently.²⁵ Similarly, the synthesis of η^2 -alkene-, η^2 -alkyne titanium complexes have also been reported by Bercaw, *et al.* using alkene/alkyne with Cp'₂TiCl₂ and sodium amalgam⁶³⁻⁶⁴ which have been shown to react with aldehydes and ketones.²⁵ Sato et al. has generated (n²-propene)Ti (O-i-Pr)₂ in situ from Ti(O-i-Pr)₄ and i-PrMgCl which was then treated with acetylenes to form acetylene-titanium alkoxide complexes.⁶⁵ These alkyne-titanium alkoxide complexes function as vicinal dianionic species and couple with reactive electrophiles like aldehydes and ketones,^{25, 65} imines, carbonmonoxide⁶⁶ and carbon dioxide.⁶⁷ Tsuji showed that thermally stable titanium(II)-alkyne complexes could be formed *in situ* by reacting Ti(O-i-Pr)₄ and n-BuLi at -78 °C, followed by ligand exchange with an alkyne under thermal heating.⁵⁶ The titanacyclopropenes formed by Sato and Tsuji are similar, the only difference being the reducing agent. As isopropylmagnesium chloride was less pyrophoric than n-BuLi, and the titanacyclopropene thus formed can react under cryogenic conditions (from -78 °C to -50 °C), and also the cross coupling of aryl halides with Grignard reagents using an iron catalyst was performed in the cold condition, Sato's methods was chosen as the starting point.



The main aim was to cross couple the reactive titanacyclopropene. Initially they have been quenched with the strong electrophiles. Now, they have to be carried over to the next step. So, to figure out whether these reaction is reproducible and can be carried out further to cross couple, I tried to reproduce the formation of three and five membered titanacycle and quench it with water. For this the well described method by Sato⁶⁵ was utilized (Scheme 2.11 and 2.12). Cis-stilbene(**80**) was isolated in 81% yield which showed reaction worked well in our hands. The main purpose of forming the titanacyclopropene was to use it *in situ* for an iron catalyzed cross coupling reaction. The cross coupling reaction of titanacyclopropene to couple it with benzaldehyde to form five-membered titanacycles is a well established method. Various experiments were performed with different stoichiometries and various times to see the maximum conversion of reactant to titanacycles (Scheme 2.12). The experiments performed and the outcomes are stated in Table 2.1. Here, the focus was only on the formation of titanacycles(**81**) so the regioisomeric ratios of products **82** and **83** was not determined. With increasing reaction time and equivalents of Ti(O-i-Pr)₄/i-PrMgCl, the yield of product was increased which meant that titanacycles at lower temperatures takes a longer time to be formed (entry 3, table 2.1).

R ¹ E - R ²	1) A equiv. Ti(O-i-Pr) ₄ B equiv. i-PrMgCl Et ₂ O, -78 °C to -50 °C T_1 h 2) 1 equiv. PhCHO -75 °C to -70 °C			Pr-O, O- ⁱ Pr Ti O Ph	H_2O R	2 Ph + OH	OH R ¹ Ph R ²
61	T_2	h		81		82	83
Scheme 2.12 Reaction of titanacyclopropene with carbonyl compunds							
Table 2.1 Test reproducibility and optimization of titanacycle formation							
No.	R ₁	R ₂	A eq.	B eq.	T ₁ (hr)	$T_2(hr)$	Yield (pdt)
1.	Ph	Ph	1	2.5	2.5	1	59%
2.	Ph	Me	1	2.5	2.5	1	37%
3.	Ph	Me	1	2.5	3	2	81%
4.	Ph	Me	1.2	2.8	2.5	1	63%

Having established that the titanacycle could be reproducibly made the second step was to test the feasibility of performing an iron cross-coupling, before attempting the iron catalyzed cross-coupling of the in situ prepared titanacycle. As the starting point for this the cross-coupling of ethyl magnesium bromide with an aryl chloride using Fürstner's conditions was attempted (Scheme 2.13).⁶¹ The cross-coupled product was isolated in >95% demonstrating that an iron catalyzed cross-coupling could be performed in our hands. Since this cross-coupling was accomplished under a dual solvent system (THF/NMP), we sought to examine if the high boiling point polar solvent NMP was truly necessary, for it was perceived to be incompatible with the titanacycle. Titanacyles are prototypically formed in ether solvents, as such, the cross-coupling was rerun in just THF. Under these conditions the product was formed but with a slightly deceased yield (69%). When the solvent was changed to diethyl ether only 10% of the product was formed. Demonstrating that the cross-coupling can be performed in the absence of highly polar coordination solvents, and that

THF would be the optimal solvent to start with in attempting the iron catalyzed cross-coupling of titanacycles.



2.3.3. Conditions screened for an iron catalyzed cross-coupling of a titanacyclopropene and aryl halide

Titanacyclopropene was prepared by both Sato's method⁶⁵ and Tsuji's method.⁵⁶ Both methods have their own advantages. The titanacyclopropene made via Sato's method would be stable up to -30 °C while that of Tsuji's method would be stable up to 50 °C. So, the reactivity could be monitored over a wide range of temperatures by using these two techniques. Additionally, Sato's method forms the titanacycle from a Grignard reagent typically in Et₂O, whereas Tsuji's method forms the titanacycle from *n*-BuLi in THF. Both methods were screened for the choice of reducing agent and solvent could also affect the cross-coupling. Terminal as well as internal (both symmetrical as well as unsymmetrical) alkynes were screened. Both aryl as well as alkyl halides were tested. The reactions of titanacycle and the iron catalyzed reactions were established as solvent dependent. Both polar and non-polar solvents as well as mixed solvents were used in the reaction. Reducing agent to reduce both titanium and iron were varied. The reactions were monitored at regular time points: 1, 2, 6, and 15 hours. The reagents were added simultaneously as well as stepwise. The progress of the reaction was monitored by GC with a calibration curve. The conditions that were varied are described in Scheme 2.14. The formation of desired coupled product

was not observed. Instead only recovered alkyne starting material and reduced alkene product were observed in all the cases.

In 2012, Nakamura and his group published a paper where he showed the iron catalyzed alkyl-alkyl Suzuki-Miyaura coupling reaction facilated by a bisphosphine with a large bite angle, XantPhos (9,9-dimethyl-4,5-bis (diphenylphosphino)xanthene).⁶⁸ Based on this report, we attempted activating the iron catalyst by adding 10 mol% of XantPhos instead of using 15 mol% of Grignard reagent. Every reaction sequence was redone using this new facilitator, but the desired product was not observed. Addition of the XantPhos ligand did not help facilitate the cross coupling reaction. Pre-activating the iron catalyst with the reductant and ligands was also tried with no improvement of the obtained results. Titanacyclopropenes are presumed to exist as an equilibrium mixture of two resonance forms, the coordinated titanium alkyne π -complex and as the titanacycle. Most experimental evidence indicates the titanacycle is favored. Even our examination of reaction mixtures prior to cross-coupling indicated that the titanacycle was formed by evidence of the cisalkene being formed by GC and GC/MS analysis of a quenched aliquot. Yet, what was seen when the cross-coupling was attempted in the presence of an iron catalyst was that the equilibrium was shifted back towards the π -complex. As evident of the large amounts of alkyne seen by GC, GC/MS, and isolation after quenching the reaction. It appears that the iron catalysts prefer to reverse the titanacycle formation, making cross-coupling not feasible.



2.3.4. Nickel catalyzed cross coupling reaction of titanacycles with aryl halide

As a result of the inability of iron to catalyze the cross-coupling, we changed gears and focused on catalyzing the reaction with nickel. While Tsuji had already established that nickel cross-coupling of titanacylopropenes was feasible, the intent was to improve the original method and expand its utility. To make the reaction more user friendly, we opted to start screening simple bench stable nickel salts. Based off of the information gathered from the iron attempts and literature, we chose to run the initial catalysis screening in THF using *n*-BuLi as the reductant. NiCl₂ was found to work better at 60 °C than all other Ni-salts as the Ni-catalyst giving 48% of the

trisubstituted alkene without any tetrasubstituted alkene. With the good starting point and knowing that ligands can play vital role in nickel catalyzed reaction through steric and electronic effects, several ligands were screened to increase the yield of the alkene. Various carbene ligands have been tested in nickel catalyzed cross-coupling reactions.⁶⁹ Thus, N-heterocyclic carbene ligands were among the first ones tested with various Ni-salts, and the product formation was monitored by GC with a calibration curve using tri- and tetrasubstituded alkenes from commercial sources. The results, Table 2.2 (Entries **99-101**), showed that addition of carbene ligands did not help product formation. Also, various phosphines (entries **106-111**), mono and bidentate nitrogen containing ligands (entries **102-105**) were screened because of their proven track record in facilitating nickel catalyzed cross-coupling reactions.⁷⁰ The result showed no further improvement in the yield of the product.

It is known in Stille couplings that the addition of copper salts enhances the efficiency of the reaction by increasing the rate of reaction by >10³ fold.⁷¹⁻⁷² The enhancement is speculated to be from the copper salt undergoing a metathesis reaction with the organostannane resulting in formation of a more reactive organocuprate. This organocuprate in turn undergoes transmetalation with the palladium complex faster. We speculated that copper salts could also undergo a metathesis process with the titanacycle reagent to afford an organocuprate, that would more efficiency participate in the nickel catalyzed cross-coupling. Also, organocopper reagents have a proven track record of reacting with Grignard reagents,⁷³ and the titanacycles have comparable reactivity. Thus, 5 mol% of copper salts such as CuCl₂, CuBr₂, Cu(OTf)₂, CuI, Cu(OAc), CuBr.SMe₂, Cu(O'Bu) were screened as the additives. Among them, CuI gave 25% of the product with the remaining affording poorer results.

The addition of ligands to Ni(II) catalyst would facilitate to form Ni(0) active catalyst. In the same way we tried to reduce the catalyst precursor to Ni(0) by using 2 equivalent of reducing metals like magnesium, manganese and zinc.⁷⁰ When manganese was used as reducing agent 36 % of product



97 was isolated. Other reducing agent like n-BuLi and i-PrMgCl produced less than 5% of the desired product.

With the optimized condition as in scheme 2.16, various substrates were screened and the results are shown in Table 2.3.



2.4. CONCLUSIONS

After screening various sets of reaction conditions, it has been observed that the iron catalyzed cross coupling reaction of titanacycle, in cold conditions yields partial reduction of alkyne with untouched aryl and/or alkyl halides and in the hot conditions the titanacyclopropene would open up to give alkynes back. Nickel proved to be better catalyst over iron and NiCl₂ has been found as the better catalyst to perform cross coupling reactions with titanocyclopropene. Unlike in Tsuji's method which used glovebox conditions with aryl iodide,⁵⁶ aryl bromides were

capable of selectively giving trisubstituted olefins with bench stable Ni-salts. The maximum temperature the reaction could tolerate was 60 °C; the titanacycle started decomposing above this temperature. Nitrogen containing bidentate ligands were better than carbene or phosphine ligands, but they had the effect of slowing the reaction. Aryl bromides were better substrates than aryl iodides which gave a greater amount of di-arylated product, while aryl chlorides were the least reactive and alkyl bromides could not be coupled at all. Electron-rich aryl bromides reacted better than electron-poor aryl bromides. In the alkyne, di-aliphatic substituted alkynes reacted similar to the di-aromatic substituted alkynes.

Various tri-substituted olefins can be obtained via nickel catalyzed cross-coupling reaction of titanocyclopropene with aryl bromides in moderate yields. The bench stable NiCl₂ salt can be used as a catalyst for the transformation. The exclusive tri-substituted product showed that there is a further possibility of adding second electrophile to obtain tetra-substituted olefins as well. However, further modification is needed to improve the reaction itself to get better yields.

2.5. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

As various substituents in the bi- and tri-dentate nitrogen containing ligands play vital role in the Ni-catalyzed cross coupling reactions,^{70, 74} one of the strategies to improve the reaction yields may be screening substituted bipyridines and terpyridines that are known to promote Ni-catalyzed transformations. Another strategy may involve making a more thermally stable titanocyclopropene by using other titanium reagents. This might be fruitful as various iron and nickel catalyzed reactions proceed at higher temperatures. Recently, there has been a growing interest in hypervalent iodonium compounds⁷⁵ as an electrophile in various cross couplings. In particular, copper catalyzed cross couplings of hypervalent iodonium compounds have been shown.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁷So, one of the probable directions would be using copper to catalyze the reaction with diaryliodonium reagents or Togni reagent.⁷⁸ In fact, the initial results showed a promising outcome. When titanacyclopropene was reacted with diphenyliodonium iodide in the presence of copper bromide at 60 °C, a 45% conversion to the product **97** was realized.⁷⁹ Further developments will be reported.

2.6. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

2.6.1. Methods

All of the reactions were carried out in oven-dried or flame-dried glassware under an atmosphere of argon with magnetic stirring. Reactions were monitored either by thin-layer chromatography with 0.25 mm precoated silica gel plates or by gas chromatography. Visualization of all TLCs was performed with UV light and/or staining with phosphomolybdic acid, KMnO₄, or Seebach's stain. Purifications were performed by flash chromatography with silica gel (60 Å, 230–400 mesh) packed in glass columns and elution with hexanes/EtOAc, unless otherwise noted.

2.6.2. Materials

Diethyl ether, dichloromethane, chloroform, and tetrahydrofuran were purified and dried using a solvent purification system that contained activated alumina. 1,2-Dichloroethane and pyridine were freshly distilled from calcium hydride under argon. Ti(O-iPr)₄ was distilled once a month.

2.6.3. Instrumentation

¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were obtained on a 400 MHz NMR spectrometer (400 MHz for ¹H and 101 MHz for ¹³C), and chemical shifts (δ , ppm) are reported relative to residual chloroform solvent peaks (δ = 7.26 ppm for ¹H and δ = 77.0 ppm for ¹³C). Data for ¹H NMR are reported as follows: chemical shift (multiplicity, coupling constant(s) in Hz, integration). Multiplicities are indicated as follows: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, quin = quintet, sex = sextet, sept = septet, m = multiplet or unresolved. Low-resolution mass spectra were obtained by GC–MS

2.6.4. General procedure A: formation of three membered titanacyclopropene (Scheme 2.11)

In flame dried, argon treated 25mL round bottomed. flask was treated diphenylacetylene (0.8 mmol, 0.1086 g) and Ti(i-O-Pr)₄ (1 mmol, 0.22 mL) was added, then added the solvent diethethyl ether (8mL). It was cooled to -78° C. iPrMgCl (2.0 M in Et₂O, 2.5 mmol, 0.93 mL) was added slowly to the reaction mixture until it is homogeneous. The solution was warmed up to -50° C over half an hour. Stirred the mixture at same temperature for 2hr. The reaction was quenched with water, dried and purified through hexane in silica gel. Cis-stillbene was obtained as white solid in about 81%.

2.6.5. General procedure B: formation of five membered titanacyclopropene (Scheme 2.12)

A 25mL round bottomed flask was flame dried and argon treated. Diphenyl acetylene (0.8 mmol, 0.1086 g) was added with Ti(i-O-Pr)₄ (1 mmol, 0.22 mL) in ether (8mL). It was cooled to - 78°C. iPrMgCl (2.0 M in Et₂O, 2.5 mmol, 0.93 mL) was added slowly to the reaction mixture until it is homogeneous. The solution was warmed up to -50 °C over 30 min. The mixture was stirred at same temperature for 2hr. Benzaldehyde(1 mmol, 0.10mL) was added at -78°C and the reaction mixture was continued to stir at -75 °C to -70 °C. The reaction was quenched with water (0.8 mL), dried by MgSO₄ and purified through hexane:EtOAc 95:5 in silica gel to obtain respective alcohol in about 60% yield.

2.6.6. General procedure C: iron catalyzed cross coupling of aryl chloride with Grignard reagent (Scheme 2.13)

A flame dried 25 mL round bottomed flask was charged under Argon. 4-chlorobenzoic acid methyl ester (1 mmol, 0.1704g) was added with $Fe(acac)_3$ (5 mol%, 0.0170g) in THF (6 mL) and NMP (0.56 mL). A solution of ethyl magnesium bromide (3.0 M in Et₂O, 1.2 mmol, 0.40 mL) was added via syringe slowly resulting red solution to change to dark brown and finally to violet colored solution. The resulting mixture was stirred for 10min and is diluted with diethylether and carefully quenched with aqueous HCl. The mixture was dried with MgSO₄ and purified under silica gel to get 98% coupled product.

2.6.7. General procedure D: iron catalyzed cross coupling of titanacycles with aryl halides (Scheme 2.14)

A round bottomed flask 25 mL was set up and flame dried charged under Argon flow. It was charged with acetylene(1 mmol) and Ti(i-O-Pr)₄ (1.5 mmol, 0.33 mL) in 2.5 mL of THF and was cooled to -78 °C and iPrMgCl (2.0 M in Et₂O, 2.5 mmol, 0.93 mL) was added slowly until the mixture is homogeneous. The solution was warmed upto -50 °C in 0.5 hr and stirred it to same temperature for about 3 hr. Bromobenzene(1 mmol, 0. 11 mL) , Fe(acac)₃ (5 mol%, 0.0170 g), reductant (15 mol%) and 2.5 mL THF was mixed together in another flame dried, argon treated 25 mL round bottomed flask. And the titanacycle was slowly transferred the second round bottom flask. And the reaction is stirred at given temperatures. The reaction is monitored by GC in 1hr, 2hr, 6hr, 15h and 24h.

Modification 1: After the formation of titanacyle, bromobenzene, $Fe(acac)_3$ and reductant was sequentially added to titanacycle

Modification 2: Ligands and additives or reducing agents were added along with the iron catalyst and aryl bromide before adding the organotitanium reagents.

2.6.8. General procedure E: nickel catalyzed cross coupling of titanacycles with aryl halides

In 25 mL round bottomed flask (flame dried argon treated) diphenyl acetylene (1 mmol, 0.18 g), Ti(i-O-Pr)₄ (1.5 mmol, 0.33 mL) in 5 mL of THF was cooled to -78 °C. n-BuLi (1.6 M in hexane, 2 mmol, 1.25 mL) was added drop by drop to the solution mixture. The reaction mixture was warmed to r.t. after stirring 3 h, the solution was added to the round bottomed flask (flame dried argon treated) containing NiCl₂ (0.05 mmol, 0.0064 g). Then bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211

mL) was added last. The solution was taken to 60 °C bath and stirred overnight to quench with water 1 mL and allowed to cool down to r.t. dried over MgSO₄, filtered and concentrated in rotovap. It was purified under flash chromatography by eluting with Hexane:EtOAc 98:2.

Note 1: The ligands were added along with the NiCl₂ in the dried argon treated Round bottomed flask prior to the addition of titanacycles

Note 2: The alequate was taken and run through the GC and compared with the calibration curve to find out the percent yields of the particular reaction.

2.6.9. Spectral data for the products

Cis-stillbene (80): Following general procedure A, a product (81%, 0.0894 g) was isolated as while solid after the column chromatography with 100% hexanes. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.33-7.19 (m, 10H), δ 7.65 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, cdcl₃) δ 137.2, 130.2, 128.9, 128.2, 127.1. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁸⁰

(*E*)-1,2,3-Triphenylprop-2-en-1-ol (82): Following the general procedure B, a product (59%, 0.1368g) was isolated after the column chromatography with hexane/EtOAc (90:10). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.36-7.18 (m, 9H), 7.07 (m, 3H), 7.69 (m, 4H), 5.54 (s, 1H), 2.03 (s, 1H). The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁸¹

4-Ethylbenzoic acid methyl ester (85): Following the general procedure C, a product (95%, 0.1560g) was isolated after the column chromatography with hexane/EtOAc (98:2). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 9.94 (d, J = 8.4Hz, 2H), 7.22 (d, J = 8.4Hz, 2H), 3.857 (s, 3H), 2.65 (q, J = 7.6H, 2H), 1.21 (t, J = 7.6H, 3H). The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁸²

1,1,2-Triphenylethene (97): Subjection to the general procedure E, the diphenylacetylene (1 mmol, 0.1870 g), with bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211mL), gave 48% of the product **97** (0.122 g)

as colorless solid after column chromatography Haxanes:Ethylacetate (98:2). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.37 (m, 8H), 7.27 (m, 2H), 7.18 (m, 3H), 7.09 (m, 2H), 7.02 (s, 1H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.4, 142.6, 140.3, 137.4, 130.4, 129.5, 128.6, 128.2, 128.1, 127.9, 127.6, 127.5, 127.4, 126.7. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁸³

(*E*)-1-(4-Methoxyphenyl)-1,2-diphenylethene (112): Subjection to the general procedure E, the diphenylacetylene (0.5 mmol, 0.0891 g), with 4-bromoanisole (1 mmol, 0.105 mL), gave 48 % the product 112 (0.0687 g) as oily liquid after column chromatography with Haxanes:Ethylacetate (98:2). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.45-6.79 (m, 14 H), 3.81 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 159.2, 142.1, 140.5, 137.6, 136.0, 130.3, 129.4, 128.7, 128.6, 127.9, 127.3, 126.6, 126.4, 113.6, 55.4. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁸⁴

(*E*)-1-(4-Trifluoromethylphenyl)-1,2-diphenylethene (113): Subjection to the general procedure E, the diphenylacetylene (0.5 mmol, 0.0891 g), with 4-trifluoromethylbromobenzene (1 mmol, 0.140 mL), gave 36% of the product 113 (0.0585 g) after column chromatography with Hexane:Ethylacetate (98:2). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.61 (m, 2H), 7.39 (m, 5H), 7.19 (m, 4H), 7.07 (m, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 141.3, 139.6, 136.8, 130.9, 130.3, 130.0, 129.7, 128.9, 128.2, 128.1, 127.8, 127.3, 125.6, 125.2, 77.4, 77.0, 76.7. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁸⁴

(*E*)-4-Phenyl-4-octene (114): Subjection to the general procedure E, the 4-octyne (1 mmol, 0.146mL), with bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211mL), gave the product 114 as yellow oil in 43% (0.0816 g) yield after column chromatography with 100% hexane. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.40-7.20 (m, 5H), 5.69 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 2.51 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.21 (q, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.50 (q, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2 H), 1.39 (q, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 0.99 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 3H), 0.91 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 143.5, 140.0, 129.2, 128.1, 126.9, 126.4, 31.7, 30.7, 23.1, 21.8, 14.0, 14.0. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁸⁵

(*E*)-2-(1,2-diphenylvinyl)pyridine (115): Subjection to the general procedure E, the diphenylacetylene (0.5 mmol, 0.0891 g), with 2-bromopyridine (1 mmol, 0.095 mL) gave the product **115** as yellow oil in 11% (0.0137 g) after the column chromatography with Hexane:Ethylacetate (98:2). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.69 (d, *J* = 4.4 Hz, 1H), 7.90 (s, 1H), 7.55 (m, 1H), 7.40 (m, 3H), 7.27 (m, 5H), 7.13 (m, 3H), 6.99 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 158.7, 149.0, 140.3, 139.0, 136.6, 136.3, 130.7, 130.1, 129.9, 128.9, 127.8, 127.5, 127.1, 122.3, 121.8. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁸⁶

References:

- O'Nei, G. W.; Phillips, A. J. "Total synthesis of (-)-dictyostatin" J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128 (16), 5340-5341.
- 2. Keaton, K. A.; Phillips, A. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 408.
- Yu, H.; Richey, R. N.; Carson, M. W.; Coghlan, M. J. "Cyclocarbopalladation of alkynes: a stereoselective method for preparing dibenzoxapine containing tetrasubstituted exocyclic alkenes" *Org. Lett.* 2006, 8 (8), 1685-1688.
- Williams, R. B.; Norris, A.; Slebodnick, C.; Merola, J.; Miller, J. S.; Andriantsiferana, R.; Rasamison, V. E.; Kingston, D. G. I. "Cytotoxic sesquiterpene lactones from vernonia pachyclada from the madagascar rainforest" *J. Nat. Prod.* 2005, 68 (9), 1371-1374.
- Rychlet Elliott, M.; Dhimane, A.-L.; Malacria, M. "Biomimetic diastereoselective total synthesis of epi-illudol via a transannular radical cyclizations strategy" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1997, *119* (14), 3427-3428.
- Arnone, A.; Brambilla, U.; Nasini, G.; de Pava, O. V. "Isolation and structure elucidation of tsugicolines A-D, novel protoilludane sesquiterpenes from Laurilia tsugicola1" *Tetrahedron* 1995, 51 (48), 13357-13364.
- 7. Xia, Q. H.; Ge, H. Q.; Ye, C. P.; Liu, Z. M.; Su, K. X. "Advances in homogeneous and heterogeneous catalytic asymmetric epoxidation" *Chem. Rev.* **2005**, *105* (5), 1603-1662.
- Kolb, H. C.; VanNieuwenhze, M. S.; Sharpless, K. B. "Catalytic asymmetric dihydroxylation" *Chem. Rev.* 1994, 94 (8), 2483-2547.
- Döbler, C.; Mehltretter, G. M.; Sundermeier, U.; Beller, M. "Osmium-catalyzed dihydroxylation of olefins using dioxygen or air as the terminal oxidant" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2000, *122* (42), 10289-10297.
- Tang, W.; Wu, S.; Zhang, X. "Enantioselective hydrogenation of tetrasubstituted olefins of cyclic β-(acylamino)acrylates" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2003, *125* (32), 9570-9571.

- Blackmond, D. G.; Lightfoot, A.; Pfaltz, A.; Rosner, T.; Schnider, P.; Zimmermann, N.
 "Enantioselective hydrogenation of olefins with phosphinooxazoline-iridium catalysts" *Chirality* 2000, *12* (5-6), 442-449.
- Quasdorf, K. W.; Overman, L. E. "Catalytic enantioselective synthesis of quaternary carbon stereocentres" *Nature* 2014, *516*, 181-191.
- Hall, H. K. "Bond-forming initiation in spontaneous addition and polymerization reactions of alkenes" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **1983**, *22* (6), 440-455.
- 14. Chiappe, C.; Detert, H.; Lenoir, D.; Pomelli, C. S.; Ruasse, M. F. "Polarizability effects and dispersion interactions in alkene-Br₂ π-complexes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2003, *125* (10), 2864-2865.
- 15. Magano, J.; Dunetz, J. R. "Large-scale applications of transition metal-catalyzed couplings for the synthesis of pharmaceuticals" *Chem. Rev.* **2011**, *111* (3), 2177-2250.
- 16. Li, Z.; García-Domínguez, A.; Nevado, C. "Pd-Catalyzed stereoselective carboperfluoroalkylation of alkynes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137* (36), 11610-11613.
- Monks, B. M.; Cook, S. P. "Palladium-catalyzed alkyne insertion/Suzuki reaction of alkyl iodides" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134* (37), 15297-15300.
- Zhang, X.; Larock, R. C. "Synthesis of highly substituted 1,3-dienes, 1,3,5-trienes, and 3,6disubstituted cyclohexenes by the palladium-catalyzed coupling of organic halides, internal alkynes or 1,3-cyclohexadienes, and organoboranes" *Tetrahedron* 2010, *66* (24), 4265-4277.
- 19. Li, Z.; García-Domínguez, A.; Nevado, C. "Nickel-catalyzed stereoselective dicarbofunctionalization of alkynes" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55* (24), 6938-6941.
- 20. Terao, J.; Bando, F.; Kambe, N. "Ni-catalyzed regioselective three-component coupling of alkyl halides, arylalkynes, or enynes with R-M (M = MgX', ZnX'" *Chem. Commun.* 2009, (47), 7336-7338.

- 21. Stüdemann, T.; Knochel, P. "New nickel-catalyzed carbozincation of alkynes: a short synthesis of (z)-tamoxifen" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **1997,** *36* (1-2), 93-95.
- Itoh, T.; Shimizu, Y.; Kanai, M. "Ligand-enabled, copper-catalyzed regio- and stereoselective synthesis of trialkylsubstituted Alkenylboronates from Unactivated Internal Alkynes" J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138 (24), 7528-7531.
- Zhou, Y.; You, W.; Smith, K. B.; Brown, M. K. "Copper-catalyzed cross-coupling of boronic esters with aryl iodides and application to the carboboration of alkynes and allenes" *Angew. Chem.* 2014, *126* (13), 3543-3547.
- 24. Mared, I., *Titanium and Zirconium in Organic Synthesis*. Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2002.
- 25. Sato, F.; Urabe, H.; Okamoto, S. "Synthesis of organotitanium complexes from alkenes and alkynes and their synthetic applications" *Chem. Rev.* **2000**, *100* (8), 2835-2886.
- Kulinkovich, O. G.; de Meijere, A. "1,N-Dicarbanionic titanium intermediates from monocarbanionic organometallics and their application in organic synthesis" *Chem. Rev.* 2000, *100* (8), 2789-2834.
- 27. Kubo, O.; Canterbury, D. P.; Micalizio, G. C. "Synthesis of the C1–C26 hexacyclic subunit of pectenotoxin 2" *org. Lett.* **2012**, *14* (22), 5748-5751.
- 28. Jeso, V.; Micalizio, G. C. "Total synthesis of lehualide b by allylic alcohol–alkyne reductive cross-coupling" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132* (33), 11422-11424.
- Belardi, J. K.; Micalizio, G. C. "Total synthesis of macbecin I" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, 47 (21), 4005-4008.
- Keaton, K. A.; Phillips, A. J. "Toward the synthesis of spirastrellolide b: a synthesis of the C1–C23 subunit" Org. Lett. 2008, 10 (6), 1083-1086.
- 31. Keaton, K. A.; Phillips, A. J. "A cyclopropanol-based strategy for subunit coupling: total synthesis of (+)-spirolaxine methyl ether" *Org. Lett.* **2007**, *9* (14), 2717-2719.

- 32. Canterbury, D. P.; Scott, K. E. N.; Kubo, O.; Jansen, R.; Cleveland, J. L.; Micalizio, G. C.
 "Synthesis of C11-Desmethoxy Soraphen A1α: A Natural Product Analogue That Inhibits Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase" ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 2013, 4 (12), 1244-1248.
- Jeso, V.; Iqbal, S.; Hernandez, P.; Cameron, M. D.; Park, H.; LoGrasso, P. V.; Micalizio,
 G. C. "Synthesis of Benzoquinone Ansamycin-Inspired Macrocyclic Lactams from Shikimic Acid" Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52 (18), 4800-4804.
- Jeso, V.; Yang, C.; Cameron, M. D.; Cleveland, J. L.; Micalizio, G. C. "Synthesis and SAR of Lehualide B: A Marine-Derived Natural Product with Potent Anti-Multiple Myeloma Activity" ACS. Chem. Biol. 2013, 8 (6), 1241-1252.
- Jeso, V.; Cherry, L.; Macklin, T. K.; Pan, S. C.; LoGrasso, P. V.; Micalizio, G. C.
 "Convergent synthesis and discovery of a natural product-inspired paralog-selective HSP90 inhibitor" *Org. Lett.* 2011, *13* (19), 5108-5111.
- Wu, J.; Pu, Y.; Panek, J. S. "Divergent synthesis of functionalized carbocycles through organosilane-directed asymmetric alkyne–alkene reductive coupling and annulation sequence" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134* (44), 18440-18446.
- Fischbach, M. A.; Walsh, C. T. "Assembly-line enzymology for polyketide and nonribosomal peptide antibiotics: logic, machinery, and mechanisms" *Chem. Rev.* 2006, 106 (8), 3468-3496.
- Tobisu, M.; Chatani, N. "Devising boron reagents for orthogonal functionalization through suzuki–miyaura cross-coupling" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2009, 48 (20), 3565-3568.
- Wang, C.; Glorius, F. "Controlled iterative cross-coupling: on the way to the automation of organic synthesis" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2009, 48 (29), 5240-5244.
- 40. Singidi, R. R.; RajanBabu, T. V. "Borostannylation of alkynes and enynes. scope and limitations of the reaction and utility of the adducts" *Org. Lett.* **2010**, *12* (11), 2622-2625.
- Hong, K.; Morken, J. P. "Catalytic enantioselective diboration of cyclic dienes. a modified ligand with general utility" *J. Org. Chem.* 2011, 76 (21), 9102-9108.

- 42. Cho, H. Y.; Yu, Z.; Morken, J. P. "Stereoselective borylative ketone-diene coupling" *Org. Lett.* **2011**, *13* (19), 5267-5269.
- 43. Molander, G. A.; Sandrock, D. L. "Orthogonal reactivity in boryl-substituted organotrifluoroborates" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130* (47), 15792-15793.
- 44. Gillis, E. P.; Burke, M. D. "Iterative cross-couplng with MIDA boronates: towards a general platform for small molecule synthesis" *Aldrichimica acta*. **2009**, *42* (1), 17-27.
- 45. Wittig, G.; Schöllkopf, U. "Triphenylphosphinemethylenes as olefin forming reagents" *Chem. Ber.* **1954**, 87 (9), 1318-1330.
- 46. McMurry, J. E.; Fleming, M. P. "New method for the reductive coupling of carbonyls to olefins. Synthesis of .beta.-carotene" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1974**, *96* (14), 4708-4709.
- Wittig, G.; Haag, W. "Über triphenyl-phosphinmethylene als olefinbildende reagenzien (ii. mitteil.1))" *Chem. Ber.* 1955, 88 (11), 1654-1666.
- 48. Peterson, D. J. "Carbonyl olefination reaction using silyl-substituted organometallic compounds" *J. Org. Chem.* **1968**, *33* (2), 780-784.
- 49. Zhou, C.; Emrich, D. E.; Larock, R. C. "An efficient, regio- and stereoselective palladiumcatalyzed route to tetrasubstituted olefins" *Org. Lett.* **2003**, *5* (9), 1579-1582.
- Zhang, X.; Larock, R. C. "Synthesis of highly substituted 1,3-dienes and 1,3,5-trienes by the palladium-catalyzed coupling of vinylic halides, internal alkynes, and organoboranes" *Org. Lett.* 2003, 5 (17), 2993-2996.
- 51. Konno, T.; Taku, K.-i.; Ishihara, T. "Highly stereoselective one-pot synthesis of tetrasubstituted alkenes via carbopalladation reaction of fluorine-containing acetylene derivatives" *J. Fluorine Chem.* 2006, *127* (7), 966-972.
- Yamashita, M.; Hirano, K.; Satoh, T.; Miura, M. "Synthesis of 1,4-Diarylbuta-1,3-dienes through palladium- catalyzed decarboxylative coupling of unsaturated carboxylic acids" *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2011, 353 (4), 631-636.

- Xue, F.; Zhao, J.; Hor, T. S. A.; Hayashi, T. "Nickel-Catalyzed Three-component domino reactions of aryl Grignard reagents, alkynes, and aryl halides producing tetrasubstituted alkenes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2015, *137* (9), 3189-3192.
- Lee, H. W.; Lam, F. L.; So, C. M.; Lau, C. P.; Chan, A. S. C.; Kwong, F. Y. "Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling of aryl halides using organotitanium nucleophiles" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2009, 48 (40), 7436-7439.
- 55. Manolikakes, G.; Dastbaravardeh, N.; Knochel, P. "Nickel-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of aryltitanium(IV) alkoxides with aryl halides" *Synlett* **2007**, *2007* (13), 2077-2080.
- 56. Obora, Y.; Moriya, H.; Tokunaga, M.; Tsuji, Y. "Cross-coupling reaction of thermally stable titanium(II)-alkyne complexes with aryl halides catalysed by a nickel complex" *Chem. Commun.* 2003, 22, 2820-2821.
- 57. Zhou, S.; Chen, C.-R.; Gau, H.-M. "Highly enantioselective 3-furylation of ketones using (3-furyl)titanium nucleophile" *Org. Lett.* 2010, *12* (1), 48-51.
- Czaplik, W. M.; Mayer, M.; Cvengroš, J.; von Wangelin, A. J. "Coming of age: sustainable iron-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions" *ChemSusChem* 2009, 2 (5), 396-417.
- 59. Kharasch, M. S.; Fields, E. K. "Factors determining the course and mechanisms of Grignard reactions. iv. the effect of metallic halides on the reaction of aryl Grignard reagents and organic halides1" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1941**, *63* (9), 2316-2320.
- Tamura, M.; Kochi, J. K. "Vinylation of grignard reagents. catalysis by iron" *J. Am. Chem.* Soc. 1971, 93 (6), 1487-1489.
- Fürstner, A.; Leitner, A. "Iron-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of alkyl-grignard reagents with aryl chlorides, tosylates, and triflates" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2002, *41* (4), 609-612.
- 62. Martin, H. A.; Jellinek, F. "Allyldicyclopentadienyltitanium(III) and (DI)methylallyl homologues" *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1967**, *8* (1), 115-128.

- Cohen, S. A.; Auburn, P. R.; Bercaw, J. E. "Structure and reactivity of bis(pentamethylcyclopentadienyl)(ethylene)titanium(II), a simple olefin adduct of titanium" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1983, *105* (5), 1136-1143.
- 64. Cohen, S. A.; Bercaw, J. E. "Titanacycles derived form reductive coupling of nitriles, alkynes, acetaldehyde, and carbon dioxide with bis(pentamethylcyclopentadienyl)(ethylene)titanium(II)" *Organometallics* **1985**, *4* (6), 1006-1014.
- Harada, K.; Urabe, H.; Sato, F. "Generation and reactions of low-valent titanium alkoxideacetylene complexes. A practical preparation of allyl alcohols" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1995, *36* (18), 3203-3206.
- Gao, Y.; Shirai, M.; Sato, F. "Synthesis of substituted pyrroles from an alkyne, an imine and carbon monoxide via an organotitanium intermediate" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1996, *37* (43), 7787-7790.
- Gao, Y.; Shirai, M.; Sato, F. "Synthesis of 1,5-dihydro-2H-pyrrol-2-ones from an alkyne, an imine and carbon dioxide via an organotitanium intermediate" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1997, 38 (39), 6849-6852.
- Hatakeyama, T.; Hashimoto, T.; Kathriarachchi, K. K. A. D. S.; Zenmyo, T.; Seike, H.; Nakamura, M. "Iron-catalyzed alkyl–alkyl Suzuki–Miyaura coupling" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2012, *51* (35), 8834-8837.
- 69. Liu, P.; Montgomery, J.; Houk, K. N. "Ligand steric contours to understand the effects of n-heterocyclic carbene ligands on the reversal of regioselectivity in Ni-catalyzed reductive couplings of alkynes and aldehydes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2011, *133* (18), 6956-6959.
- Tasker, S. Z.; Standley, E. A.; Jamison, T. F. "Recent advances in homogeneous nickel catalysis" *Nature* 2014, *509* (7500), 299-309.
- Farina, V.; Kapadia, S.; Krishnan, B.; Wang, C.; Liebeskind, L. S. "On the nature of the "copper effect" in the stille cross-coupling" *J. Org. Chem.* 1994, *59* (20), 5905-5911.

- 72. Liebeskind, L. S.; Fengl, R. W. "3-Stannylcyclobutenediones as nucleophilic cyclobutenedione equivalents. Synthesis of substituted cyclobutenediones and cyclobutenedione monoacetals and the beneficial effect of catalytic copper iodide on the Stille reaction" *J. Org. Chem.* **1990**, *55* (19), 5359-5364.
- 73. Iwasaki, T.; Imanishi, R.; Shimizu, R.; Kuniyasu, H.; Terao, J.; Kambe, N. "Coppercatalyzed alkyl–alkyl cross-coupling reactions using hydrocarbon additives: efficiency of catalyst and roles of additives" *J. Org. Chem.* 2014, 79 (18), 8522-8532.
- 74. Surry, D. S.; Buchwald, S. L. "Diamine ligands in copper-catalyzed reactions" *Chem. sci.* **2010**, *1* (1), 13-31.
- Yoshimura, A.; Zhdankin, V. V. "Advances in synthetic applications of hypervalent iodine compounds" *Chem. Rev.* 2016, *116* (5), 3328-3435.
- 76. Lubriks, D.; Sokolovs, I.; Suna, E. "Indirect C–H azidation of heterocycles via copper-catalyzed regioselective fragmentation of unsymmetrical λ3-iodanes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*2012, *134* (37), 15436-15442.
- 77. Kantak, A. A.; Marchetti, L.; DeBoef, B. "Regioselective C-H bond amination by aminoiodanes" *Chem. Commun.* **2015**, *51* (17), 3574-3577.
- 78. Charpentier, J.; Früh, N.; Togni, A. "Electrophilic trifluoromethylation by use of hypervalent iodine reagents" *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115* (2), 650-682.
- 79. Initial data is based on the reaction performed by my collegue Vinoth K. Chenniappan.
- Alonso, F.; Riente, P.; Yus, M. "Wittig-type olefination of alcohols promoted by nickel nanoparticles: synthesis of polymethoxylated and polyhydroxylated stilbenes" *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2009, 2009 (34), 6034-6042.
- 81. Hu, Q.; Li, D.; Zhang, H.; Xi, Z. "A novel reaction of titanacyclopentenes and aldehydes with or without Lewis acids" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2007**, *48* (35), 6167-6170.
- Rahaim, R. J.; Maleczka, R. E. "C–O hydrogenolysis catalyzed by Pd-PMHS nanoparticles in the company of chloroarenes" *Org. Lett.* 2011, *13* (4), 584-587.

- 83. Li, B.-J.; Li, Y.-Z.; Lu, X.-Y.; Liu, J.; Guan, B.-T.; Shi, Z.-J. "Cross-coupling of aryl/alkenyl pivalates with organozinc reagents through nickel-catalyzed C-O bond activation under mild reaction conditions" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47* (52), 10124-10127.
- 84. Terao, Y.; Nomoto, M.; Satoh, T.; Miura, M.; Nomura, M. "Palladium-Catalyzed dehydroarylation of triarylmethanols and their coupling with unsaturated compounds accompanied by c-c bond cleavage" J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69 (20), 6942-6944.
- 85. Cahiez, G.; Gager, O.; Lecomte, F. "Manganese-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction between aryl grignard reagents and alkenyl halides" *Org. Lett.* **2008**, *10* (22), 5255-5256.
- 86. Nakao, Y.; Kanyiva, K. S.; Hiyama, T. "A strategy for C–H activation of pyridines: direct C-2 selective alkenylation of pyridines by nickel/Lewis acid catalysis" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*2008, *130* (8), 2448-2449.
CHAPTER III

SELECTIVE SYNTHESIS OF ENONES VIA A TITANIUM PROMOTED COUPLIING OF UNSYMMETRICAL ALKYNES WITH WEINREB AMIDES

3.1. INTRODUCTION

 α ,β-Unsaturated carbonyl compounds are an important class of building blocks for natural product synthesis and small molecule library development. Within this realm α-β unsaturated ketones, also known as enones have been versatile building blocks in complex molecule synthesis. Enones are present in natural products¹⁻³ as well pharmaceutical drugs having divergent biological activities (Fig 3.1). Enones contain two functionalizable handles, and as such, a diverse array of structures can be accessed from this motif. They have been selectively⁴⁻⁶ and enantioselectively reduced,⁷⁻⁸ subjected to 1,2- and 1,4-additions,⁹⁻¹² Robinson annulations,¹³ Diels-Alder reactions,¹⁴ radical addition reactions,¹⁵⁻¹⁶ and used as building blocks in heterocycle synthesis (see Scheme 3.1).¹⁷⁻¹⁹ As a result of their synthetic utility, numerous methods have been developed for the preparation of enones. While all of these methods complement each other, they have narrowly focused on mono- and di-substituted enones (acryloyl groups). Few of these methods are amenable to applications in library preparation, and there is still a need for a method that can be used to prepare tri- and tetrasubstituted enones in a modular manner from readily available and easily modifiable substrates. A diverse array of three- and five-member ring titanacycles can be prepared from alkynes, alkenes, allenes, carbonyls, imines, and nitriles through intra- and intermolecular

reductive coupling. These titanium promoted couplings have proven to be a powerful strategy for bond construction. The Rahaim group is interested in leveraging the dicarbanion nature of titanacycles to rapidly and efficiently prepare complex molecules/building blocks/scaffolds, in a modular and economical (atom, step, redox) manner. To address this gap in enone synthesis we sought to adopt our sequential one pot reactions of titanacycles to this issue.





3.2. BACKGROUND: ENONE SYNTHESIS

A divergent array of methods has been developed for the preparation of enones²⁰⁻²² such as, dehydrative aldols,²³⁻²⁴ oxidations,²⁵⁻²⁹ olefination reactions with α -ketophosphonates,³⁰⁻³¹ palladium dehydrogenation,³² transition metal catalyzed isomerization of propargylic alcohols,³³⁻³⁷ hydroacylation of alkynes,³⁸⁻⁴⁰ and acylation of organometallic reagents. These strategies for the synthesis of enones complement each other; however, each possess individual drawbacks. Let us discuss them in brief:

3.2.1. Synthesis of enones from enols and enolates

The classical method for preparing enones is an aldol condensation, a reaction between an enol or enolate nucleophile and an aldehyde or ketone followed by thermal dehydration.^{23,41} Aldol condensations can be catalyzed with Brønsted acids or bases, Lewis acids, or run with preformed metal enolates. The catalyzed versions typically have undesired competing pathways, such as self-condensation and poly-condensation resulting in diminished yields and mixtures of products that can be difficult to separate. Additionally, the catalyzed methods are not selective and produce mixtures of stereoisomers. The use of preformed enolates circumvents the self- and poly-condensation issues, but this approach requires an additional step to prepare the metal enolate, which has been accomplished with main group^{24,42} and transition metals.⁴³⁻⁴⁴ The most commonly utilized metal enolates are lithium,^{24,45} titanium,^{43,46-48} boron,^{42,49-51} and silicon.⁵²⁻⁵⁵ While some specific substrates in the enolate approach to enones selectively afford a single diastereomer, in general this approach also suffers from being non-selective affording mixtures of stereo-isomers. As a result this strategy is typically employed only for the synthesis of mono- and disubstituted enones.



3.2.2. Enone synthesis via oxidative reactions:

A second classical approach to enones is oxidation of secondary allylic alcohols, which can be accomplished with stoichiometric oxidizing reagents,⁵⁶⁻⁶² or with more modern metal catalyzed methods.^{25-27, 63-65} The limitation of this approach lies in the available methods to prepare the allylic alcohols. This is typically accomplished by the addition of a vinyl metal nucleophile to an aldehyde. The problems are that (1) this requires an additional step to prepare the vinylic nucleophile, making this approach at minimum three steps, (2) the vinylic nucleophile may have functional group compatibility issues limiting the scope of the substrates, and (3) methods to prepare polysubstituted vinylic metals are limited. Of the methods that exist, the preparation of triand tetrasubstituted metal-alkenes is not trivial and is accompanied by poor regio- and stereoselectivity, which diminishes the overall yield of the enone and affords mixtures of stereoisomers that may be difficult to separate (Scheme 3.3). A relatively recent advance in this area was developed by Nicolaou and coworkers, where they demonstrated that the hypervalent iodine reagent IBX in combination with a stoichiometric oxidant could perform a tandem oxidation dehydration to form enones from alcohols. While this method has increased process efficiency it still also produces mixtures of stereoisomers for tri-substituted enones, and is unable to prepare tetrasubstituted cases.^{29, 66} Palladium promoted dehydration of ketones to form enones has been known since the 1970s.³² Recent endeavors in this area have focused on developing catalytic versions through the addition of stoichiometric oxidants.^{32, 67} These reactions have demonstrated good functional group compatibility affording the enone in moderate to high yields (Scheme 3.4). Yet, this approach also produces mixtures of diastereomers for acyclic trisubstituted enones and is problematic for tetrasubstituted targets only working for specialized substrates. Furthermore, these palladium catalyzed dehydrations can have a competing reduction pathway affording the allylic alcohol, sometimes as the major product.^{32, 67}





3.2.3. Synthesis of enones by hydroacylation of alkynes and acylation of organometallic reagents

Hydroacylation³⁸ involves the addition of an acyl group and a hydrogen atom across a carbon-carbon π bond, which is accomplished by C-H activation of an aldehyde with a transition metal. This is an atom economical approach to preparing enones. The inter- and intramolecular hydroacylation of alkynes has been accomplished under rhodium,^{40, 68-70} ruthenium,⁷¹ and nickel catalysis.⁷² This reaction has typically been done intramolecularly to form 5- and 6-membered cyclic enones. Intermolecular hydroacylation has been less developed due to regioselectivity issues when using unsymmetrical alkynes. Some progress has been made but these methods are restricted to using terminal alkynes and a directing group on the aldehyde, which limits the substrate scope of the reaction and only affords disubstituted enones.

Palladium catalyzed cross-couplings of organolithiums⁷³, organomagnesiums⁷⁴, organosilanes⁷⁵, organostannanes⁷⁶ and organoboranes⁷⁷ have been utilized to synthsize enones. Two approaches have been developed, the first being the cross-coupling of vinylstannanes with acid chlorides, which has the drawback of using a toxic organometallic reagent and is limited to only preparing disubstituted enones selectively. The second approach is palladium catalyzed carbonylation which is typically performed with vinylboronic acids / esters. The drawbacks of carbonylation are the use of carbon monoxide, a toxic flammable gas, and the restriction of only being able to readily prepare mono- and disubstituted enones. Polysubstituted enones can be prepared through these cross-couplings but this then requires an arduous multistep process to prepare the vinyl coupling partner, either as the vinyl halide or as the vinyl metal nucleophile. These two approaches also have a narrowed substrate scope do to the limitation of performing palladium cross-couplings with only *sp*²-hybridized organohalides.

3.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

We speculated that a titanium-promoted coupling⁷⁸ of alkynes and acyl electrophiles could afford enones in a modular manner with high selectivity. Stemming from the seminal work of Kulinkovich the cyclopropanation of esters,79 Sato demonstrated on that diisopropoxytitanacyclopropenes undergo intramolecular nucleophilic acyl substitution with carbonates (Scheme 3.5).⁸⁰⁻⁸¹ Six expanded this work to include the formation of α . β -unsaturated carboxylic acids and esters via an intermolecular titanium-mediated reductive coupling of alkynes with carbon dioxide⁸² and carbonates (Scheme 3.6).⁷⁸ Complementarily, zirconocene-mediated couplings of alkynes with chloroformates⁸³ and carbon dioxide⁸⁴ have also been reported. Surprisingly, the use of group IV metallacycles to form enones from alkynes has not been reported. For applications in library preparation, a vast pool of readily available acyl electrophiles are needed to facilitate diversification of the library. On the basis of this requirement, we chose to investigate Weinreb amides, which are bench-stable reactive acyl electrophiles that can easily and efficiently

be prepared from ubiquitous carboxylic acids.⁸⁵⁻⁸⁶ Weinreb amides have been utilized in enone synthesis with vinyllithium⁸⁷ and Grignard⁸⁸ reagents but not with titana- or zircona-cyclopropenes.



Evaluation of the titanacycle literature indicated that the optimal starting point would be generation of the titanacyclopropene via Sato's method, which involves reduction of $Ti(O-i-Pr)_4$ with *i*-PrMgCl followed by ligand exchange with an alkyne.⁸⁹⁻⁹⁰ A limitation of this method for applications in small-molecule library synthesis is that diisopropoxytitanacyclopropenes are thermally unstable and typically cannot be warmed above -30 °C. It was speculated that the rate of reaction of the titanacyclopropene with a Weinreb amide would be faster than the decomposition pathways and side reactions at room temperature. Additionally, the coupling would generate a stabilized intermediate that would be thermally stable through coordination of the methoxy group to the titanium (**150**).



3.3.1. Optimization of the titanium-promoted coupling reaction

While the ultimate goal was the development of a simple mix-and-stir procedure that would operate at room temperature, the reaction was first investigated under cryogenic reaction conditions. A room-temperature procedure would require the titanacyclopropene to be generated in the presence of the Weinreb amide, and it was not clear whether the Grignard reagent would preferentially react with Ti(OiPr)₄ over the Weinreb amide. Thus, for the initial optimization reactions, the titanacyclopropene of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (88) was generated under prototypical cryogenic conditions (-78 to -40 °C for 3 h), after which the Weinreb amide (152) was added at -78 °C and the reaction mixture was warmed to room temperature. Under these conditions the desired enone was formed (Table 3.1, entry 1), establishing that a titanacyclopropene can undergo coupling with a Weinreb amide with high regioselectivity, favoring enone 153. Increasing the amount of Weinreb amide 152 to 2 equiv increased the yield of the enone (entry 2), but further increases had no effect (entry 3). Attempts to further increase the yield through adjustment of the solvent (entries 4-6) established Et₂O as the optimal choice. The choice of reducing agent was critical, as a negative effect was seen with EtMgBr (entry 7) and cyclopentylmagnesium chloride (entry 8). It has been demonstrated that the use of *n*-BuLi produces thermally stable titanacycles.⁹¹⁻ ⁹³ Surprisingly, under this reaction manifold the use of n-BuLi to generate the titanacyclopropene afforded the enone in moderate yield but with a complete reversal in regioselectivity, favoring enone 154 (entry 9). Simplification of the procedure by generating the titanacyclopropene in the

		0 	1.5 equiv. Ti(O 3 equiv. reducin	-i-Pr)₄ O g agent ∐	
Pn	+ F		Solvent	Ph	Ph + Ph Ph
88		152			153 154
Scheme 3.8: Reaction of Titanacyclopropene with Weinreb amide					
Table 3.1: Optimization of the Titanium-Promoted Coupling Conditions:					
Entry	Solvent	equiv. of	Reducing	%yield	Conditions
		152	agent	(153:154)	
1.	Et ₂ O	1	<i>i</i> -PrMgCl	32%(>99:1)	-78 to -40 °C for 3 h 44 added
					at -78 °C and warmed to r.t.
2.	Et ₂ O	2	<i>i</i> -PrMgCl	59%(97:3)	Condition same as entry 1
3.	Et ₂ O	5	<i>i</i> -PrMgCl	52%(97:3)	Condition same as entry 1
4.	THF	2	<i>i</i> -PrMgCl	34%	Condition same as entry 1
5.	MTBE	2	<i>i</i> -PrMgCl	0%	Condition same as entry 1
6.	Toluene	2	<i>i</i> -PrMgCl	0%	Condition same as entry 1
7.	Et ₂ O	2	EtMgBr	0%	Condition same as entry 1
8.	Et ₂ O	1	C-C5H9MgCl	20%	Condition same as entry 1
9.	THF	2	n-BuLi	37%(13:87)	152 added after warming to
					r.t.
10.	THF	2	<i>n</i> -BuLi	0%	<i>n</i> -BuLi added last at r.t.
11.	Et ₂ O	2	<i>i</i> -PrMgCl	58%(97:3)	<i>i</i> -PrMgCl added at -78 °C and
					warmed to r.t.
12.	Et ₂ O	2	<i>i</i> -PrMgCl	67%(97:3)	<i>i</i> -PrMgCl added last at r.t

presence of the Weinreb amide was explored next. It was found that addition of n-BuLi to the reaction mixture last did not result in titanacycle formation; instead, the n-BuLi selectively reacted with only the Weinreb amide to afford 1-phenylpentanone (entry 10). Conversely, addition of i-PrMgCl to the reaction mixture last at -78 °C followed by warming to room temperature (entry 11) afforded the desired enone in the same yield and regioselectivity as the stepwise process (entry 2). The yield was increased further to 67% by running this sequential addition of reagents at room temperature (entry 12).

3.3.2. Substrate scope of titanium-promoted alkyne Weinreb amide coupling

Having established the optimal conditions to be the operationally simple procedure of combining all of the reagents and then adding the i-PrMgCl last at room temperature followed by stirring for 4 h, substrate screening was initiated to determine the scope of this coupling reaction (Table 3.2).

Initial efforts focused on varying the Weinreb amide while keeping the alkyne static, using the unsymmetrical alkyne 88. In all of the cases examined (Table 3.2), the regioselectivity of the coupling reaction was greater than 97/3. Formation of the carbon–carbon bond favored the alkyne carbon that contained the sterically smaller substituent, regardless of the Weinreb amide employed. Aliphatic Weinreb amides (entries 164-169) were higher-yielding than aromatic Weinreb amides (entries 153, 157-163), except for the sterically large N-methoxy-N-methylpivalamide (entry 167), which afforded the enone in a moderate yield comparable to those for aromatic counterparts. The system tolerated aromatic and aliphatic halogens (entries 157-161, 165), although it is noteworthy that an aromatic bromide did not undergo magnesium halogen exchange with the Grignard reagent.⁹⁴ The system tolerated meta- and para-substituted aromatic Weinreb amides, whereas ortho-substituted95 aromatics (I, OMe, Me) would not react with the in-situ formed titanacycle, with the exception of a naphthalene (entry 163). Methoxy groups inhibited the coupling (entry 174), presumably because of coordination with the titanium complex. To establish that coordination was the issue and not deactivation of the Weinreb amide carbonyl by electron donation, a Weinreb amide with a TBS-protected phenol was prepared and reacted without incident (entry 162). Additional functional groups on the aromatic Weinreb amide that were found to be incompatible with the system were -NO₂, -CN, -OAc, and -C(O)CH₃. Furan (entry 172) and thiophene (entry 173) heteroaromatics were tolerated, but a pyridine (entry 175) inhibited coupling.⁹⁶ Conjugated Weinreb amides underwent the coupling to produce the corresponding 1,4-dien-3-ones in modest yields (entry 170 and 171). These products have the potential to undergo a Nazarov cyclization,⁹⁷ but under these reaction conditions less than 3% yield of the Nazarov product was observed.



A nearly quantitative yield was obtained with 4-octyne (Table 3.3, entry **179**), whereas sterically more congested diphenylacetylene (entry **180**) afforded the enone in moderate yield. As already demonstrated with 1-phenyl-1-propyne, an alkyne with a clear steric difference between the groups

attached to the alkyne undergoes the coupling with high regioselectivity. To test the limits of the regioselectivity, unsymmetrical alkynes of varying steric bulk were examined. The coupling reaction afforded a near 1:1 mixture of regioisomers when the steric differentiating group was distal to the alkyne (entry **181**) or when the two groups were similarly sized (entry **182**). A single isomer was obtained with 3-benzyloxy-1-propynylbenzene (entry **188**), albeit in low yield, presumably as a result of the formation of a dimeric titanacycle that inhibited the reaction with the Weinreb amide. High regioselectivity was seen with silylprotected terminal alkynes (entries **184-186**). Sterically congested phenyl(tert-butyl)acetylene participated in the coupling, affording the



enone in moderate yield but with high selectivity (entry **187**). Increasing the sterics further with tert-butyl- (trimethylsilyl)acetylene completely inhibited the reaction as depicted by complete recovery of alkyne.

3.3.3. Control experiments to probe the change in regioselectivity when changing the reductant to *n*-BuLi

Our earlier findings demonstrated that when n-BuLi was used as the reducing agent (Table 3.1, entry 9), the enone was formed favoring the opposite regioisomer. On the basis of this result, we became interested in the possibility of selectively accessing either regioisomer simply by changing the reducing agent. Unfortunately, when *n*-BuLi was employed in the coupling reaction the yields were considerably lower, and with a number of the substrates screened there was no reaction. Control reactions were run to help determine which element was the cause of the reversal in regioselectivity. First, we explored the possibility of a solvent effect. Since the solution of *i*-PrMgCl used was in ether and the *n*-BuLi was in hexanes, we ran the coupling reaction with the Grignard reagent in the presence of added hexanes. This resulted only in a lower yield of enone with no erosion in the selectivity, consistent with the solvent screening data, where the reaction did not take place in toluene (Table 3.1, entry 6). Next we examined the role of the metal cation. To examine whether the lithium cation interacted with the titanium complex and thereby affected the regiocontrol, 10 equiv. of LiCl was added to the reaction with *i*-PrMgCl and was found to have no effect. In theory, reduction of the Ti(OiPr)₄ with the reducing agent produces 2 equiv. of a metal alkoxide, which could affect the aggregate structure of the titanacycle and/or coordinate to the titanium to form an ate complex. Thus, we ran the coupling reaction using *i*-PrMgCl with 2 equiv. of lithium tert-butoxide added, which lowered the yield of the enone from 92% to 66% and slightly eroded the regiocontrol to 96:4. The root cause of the regioselectivity difference with n-BuLi and *i*-PrMgCl remains unclear. It is well established that Grignard and organo-lithium reagents do not exist as monomeric species, but as oligomers. The aggregate structure of these complexes can be modified through variation of the conditions: solvent, temperature, concentration, rate of addition,

etc. Organotitanium reagents most likely also exist as oligomers, so at this point, it is conjectured that the change in reducing agent from *i*-PrMgCl to *n*-BuLi is changing the aggregate structure of the reactive titanacyclopropene. Leading to the change in regioselectivity. To determine this detailed NMR studies of the titanacyclopropene's formed from each reducing agent would need to be done. At this point these structural mechanistic NMR studies are beyond what is need for this project, and as such were not done.

3.3.4. Addition of second electrophile to access tetra-substituted enones

Titanacycles are carbanion reagents, so we examined subsequent reactions of the stabilized titanacycle intermediate. As shown in Scheme 3.11, the *in-situ* formed titanacycle **189** could be quenched with deuterium oxide to afford the deuterated enone in 82% yield with greater than 95% deuterium incorporation, and titanium halogen exchange of **189** with iodine afforded the conjugated vinyl iodide in moderate yield. Attempts to transmetalate the chelated and stabilized titanium–carbon bond in titanacycle **189** with copper(I) salts were successful only with CuO*t*Bu, albeit in low yield, but this could be used to couple with allyl bromide to form the skipped dienone **192**. The reaction of titanacycle **189** with benzaldehyde did not occur because of the decreased reactivity of the stabilized titanacycle, but precomplexation of the aldehyde with BF₃·OEt₂ facilitated the addition and subsequent cyclization to yield tetrasubstituted furan **193** in 66% yield.⁹⁸⁻⁹⁹ A more detailed examination of this approach to furan and heterocycle synthesis is reported in chapter 4.



3.4. CONCLUSIONS

In summary, this report has described a titanium-mediated coupling of internal alkynes with Weinreb amides to yield *E*-trisubstituted enones in moderate to good yields. The regioselectivity of the reaction is due to the steric difference between the groups attached to the alkyne, with levels as high >99/1 being obtained. Additionally, this is the first demonstration that organotitanium reagents react with Weinreb amides, thereby expanding the arsenal of nucleophiles that can react with this important acyl electrophile.

3.5. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Weix in his investigation of Ni catalyzed cross electrophile coupling has shown another bench stable electrophile (2-pyridyl)-thioesters have the same reactivity profile as acid chlorides under his reaction conditions.¹⁰⁰ These thioesters can also prepared from the wide pool of carboxylic acids using di(2-pyridyl)disulfide and triphenylphosphine in single step.¹⁰¹ This substrate also has the chelating pyridine moiety which would form six-membered chelates making it stabler that the intermediate **189**. This might be a good starting point to increase the yields and chemoselectivity of the reaction. Furthermore, copper catalyzed coupling of diaryl iodonium iodide can also be tested to react to this chelated five-membered titanacycle. Copper might be able to transmetallate with the titanium of chelated intermediate then to react with the hypervalent iodonium compound to get tetrasubstituted enones. Also, the tetrasubstituted furan as formed in **79** should be further studied.¹⁰²

3.6. SUPPORTING INFORMATIONS

3.6.1. Methods

All of the reactions were carried out in oven-dried or flame-dried glassware under an atmosphere of argon with magnetic stirring. Reactions were monitored either by thin-layer chromatography with 0.25 mm precoated silica gel plates or by gas chromatography. Visualization of all TLCs was performed with UV light and/or staining with phosphomolybdic acid, KMnO₄, or Seebach's stain. Purifications were performed by flash chromatography with silica gel (60 Å, 230–400 mesh) packed in glass columns and elution with hexanes/EtOAc, unless otherwise noted.

3.6.2. Materials

Diethyl ether, dichloromethane, chloroform, and tetrahydrofuran were purified and dried using a solvent purification system that contained activated alumina. 1,2-Dichloroethane and pyridine were freshly distilled from calcium hydride under argon. All of the Weinreb amides were prepared following literature procedures¹⁰³ from purchased carboxylic acids.

3.6.3. Instrumentation

¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were obtained on a 400 MHz NMR spectrometer (400 MHz for ¹H and 101 MHz for ¹³C), and chemical shifts (δ , ppm) are reported relative to residual chloroform solvent peaks (δ = 7.26 ppm for ¹H and δ = 77.0 ppm for ¹³C). Data for ¹H NMR are reported as follows: chemical shift (multiplicity, coupling constant(s) in Hz, integration). Multiplicities are

indicated as follows: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, quin = quintet, sex = sextet, sept = septet, m = multiplet or unresolved. The reported melting points are uncorrected. Lowresolution mass spectra were obtained by GC-MS, and high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) was performed using an Orbitrap operated in FT mode to provide a nominal resolution of 100 000.

3.6.4. Spectral data of Weinreb amides:

N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (152):



Subjection of benzoic acid (10 mmol, 1.22 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 1.44 g (87%) of N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (152) as a colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:

75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.49 (m, 2H), 7.32 – 7.14 (m, 3H), 3.34 (s, 3H), 3.14 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 169.9, 134.3, 130.6, 128.1, 128.1, 61.0, 33.8. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.95, 103

4-chloro-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylbenzamide (194)



Subjection of 4-chloro-benzoic acid (10 mmol, 1.56 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 1.82 g (91%) of 4-chloro-N-methoxy-Nmethylbenzamide (194) as a colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc: 75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.67 – 7.49 (m, 2H), 7.39 – 7.20 (m, 2H), 3.41 (s, 3H), 3.24 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) & 168.71, 136.79, 132.51, 130.00, 128.38, 61.23, 33.70. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.¹⁰⁴

N-methoxy-*N*-methyl-4-(trifluoromethyl)benzamide (195)

Subjection of 4-triflouromethyl-bonzoic acid (10 mmol, 1.90 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 2.16 g (92%) of N-methoxy-N-methyl-4-(trifluoromethyl)benzamide (195) as a colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc: 75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.70 (dd, J = 8.1, 3.2 Hz, 2H), 7.55 (dd, J = 8.3, 3.6 Hz, 2H), 3.44 (s, 3H), 3.25 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.2, 132.3, 132.0, 131.7, 131.4, 128.3, 127.6, 124.9, 124.7, 119.5, 60.8, 33.0. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature. *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-(trifluoromethyl)benzamide (196)

Subjection of 3-triflouromethyl-bonzoic acid (10 mmol, 1.90 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 2.17 g (93%) of N-methoxy-N-methyl-3-(trifluoromethyl)benzamide (196) as a colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc: 75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.90 (d, J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 7.82 (dd, J = 7.9, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.67 - 7.61 (m, 1H), 7.47 (t, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 3.46 (s, 3H), 3.30 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101) MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.0, 134.7, 131.4, 130.7, 130.4, 130.1, 129.7, 128.4, 127.7, 127.0, 127.0, 127.0, 126.9, 125.1, 125.1, 125.0, 125.0, 124.9, 122.3, 119.6, 60.9, 33.1. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.¹⁰⁵

4-fluoro-N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (197)



literature procedure afforded 1.69 g (92%) of 4-fluoro-N-methoxy-Nmethylbenzamide (194) as a colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc: 75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.81 – 7.54 (m, 2H), 7.12 - 6.89 (m, 2H), 3.42 (s, 3H), 3.25 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.3, 164.9, 162.4,

Subjection of 3-bromo-benzoic acid (10 mmol, 2.01 g) to the standard

Subjection of 4-fluoro-benzoic acid (10 mmol, 1.40 g) to the standard

130.5, 130.4, 129.7, 129.7, 114.8, 114.6, 60.6, 33.2.

3-bromo-*N***-methoxy-***N***-methylbenzamide (198)**



N^O literature procedure afforded 2.37 g (97%) of 3-bromo-N-methoxy-Nmethylbenzamide (198) as a colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc: 75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.77 (t, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.60 – 7.47 (m, 2H), 7.23 (t, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 3.49 (s, 3H), 3.30 (s, 4H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 168.0, 135.8, 133.4, 131.1, 129.5, 126.7, 121.9, 61.1, 33.4. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.⁹⁵

4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)-N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (199)

TBSO NO

Subjection of TBS protected 4-hydroxy-bonzoic acid¹⁰⁶ (10 mmol, 2.52 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 2.72 g (92%) of 4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylbenzamide (**199**) as a

colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc: 75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 – 7.55 (m, 1H), 6.92 – 6.70 (m, 1H), 3.51 (s, 2H), 3.30 (s, 2H), 0.95 (s, 5H), 0.18 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 169.4, 157.9, 130.3, 126.7, 119.4, 60.8, 33.9, 25.6, 18.2, -4.4.

N-methoxy-N-methyl-1-naphthamide (200)



Subjection of 1-naphthoic acid (10 mmol, 1.73 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 2.05 g (95%) of *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-1-naphthamide (**200**) as white solid after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:75:25); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ ppm 2.81(s, 3 H), 3.78 (s, 3 H) 7.44 - 7.57 (m, 4 H) 7.82 -7.95 (m, 3

H) 13C NMR (CDCl₃, 101 MHz) δ ppm 33.1, 61.1, 124.1, 124.6, 124.7, 126.1, 126.7, 128.2, 129.4,
 129.5, 133.0, 133.1, 169.7. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.⁹⁵

N-methoxy-N-methylcyclohexanecarboxamide (201)



MHz, CDCl₃) δ 177.4, 61.5, 42.9, 40.0, 32.3, 29.1, 25.8. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.¹⁰⁴

2-Ethyl-N-methoxy-N-methylhexanamide (202)



Subjection of 2-ethyl hexanoyl chloride (10 mmol, 1.7 mL) to the $N_{\rm N}^{\rm O}$ standard literature procedure afforded 0.86 g (46%) of 2-Ethyl-Nmethoxy-N-methylhexanamide (202) as colorless liquid after flash

chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) & 3.64 (s, 3H), 3.16 (s, 3H), 2.78 -2.65 (m, 1H), 1.66 - 1.51 (m, 2H), 1.50 - 1.33 (m, 2H), 1.32 - 1.13 (m, 4H), 0.88 - 0.79 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 177.9, 61.4, 42.4, 32.3, 29.9, 25.8, 22.9, 14.0, 12.2. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.⁹⁵

N-methoxy-*N*,**3**,**3**-trimethylbutanamide (203)

Subjection of 3,3-dimethyl butanoic acid (10 mmol, 1.3 mL) to the standard literature procedure afforded 0.61 g (38%) of *N*-methoxy-*N*,3,3trimethylbutanamide (203) as colorless liquid after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 3.61 (s, 3H), 3.12 (s, 3H), 2.27 (s, 2H), 1.00 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.4, 60.9, 43.7, 31.9, 31.3, 30.0.

N-methoxy-*N*-methylpivalamide (204)

Subjection of 3,3-dimethyl propanoyl chloride (10 mmol, 1.2 mL) to the standard literature 1literature procedure afforded 0.63 g (43%) of *N*-methoxy-*N*-methylpivalamide (204) as colorless liquid after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 3.60 (s, 3H), 3.10 (s, 3H), 1.17 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 179.1, 60.5, 39.3, 33.6, 27.0. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.¹⁰⁴

3-chloro-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylpropanamide (205)

Cl N O Subjection of 3-chloro- propanoic acid (10 mmol, 1.08 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 0.79 g (52%) of 3-chloro-*N*-methoxy-*N*methylpropanamide (205) as colorless liquid after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 3.73 (dtd, J = 6.8, 4.2, 2.0 Hz, 2H), 3.64 (s, 3H), 3.13 (s, 3H), 2.84 (dd, 3H), 3.13 (s, 3H), 3.14 (s, 3H), 3.1

J = 8.1, 5.1 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 170.6, 61.3, 39.2, 34.9, 31.9. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.¹⁰⁴

N-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (176)



Subjection of 3-phenyl- propanoic acid (30 mmol, 4.505 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 4.80 g (83%) of *N*-methoxy-*N*-

methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (**176**) as colorless liquid after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.26 (ddd, J = 8.5, 5.0, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.22 – 7.13 (m, 3H), 3.55 (d, J = 1.4 Hz, 3H), 3.14 (d, J = 1.7 Hz, 3H), 2.94 (td, J = 7.9, 2.2 Hz, 2H), 2.71 (t, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.9, 141.5, 128.7, 128.6, 126.3, 61.4, 34.0, 32.4, 30.9. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.⁹⁵

N-methoxy-*N*-methylcinnamamide (206)



Subjection of cinnamic acid (15 mmol, 2.22 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 2.80 g (97%) of *N*-methoxy-*N*-methylcinnamamide

(206) as colorless liquid after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.73 (d, *J* = 15.8 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (dq, *J* = 7.1, 1.8 Hz, 2H), 7.41 – 7.34 (m, 3H), 7.03 (dd, *J* = 15.8, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 3.75 (d, *J* = 1.9 Hz, 3H), 3.30 (d, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.0, 143.5, 135.2, 129.9, 128.9, 128.1, 115.9, 61.9, 32.6. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.⁹⁵

(E)-N-methoxy-N-methylbut-2-enamide (207)

Subjection of crotonic acid (20 mmol, 1.74 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 1.28 g (49%) of (*E*)-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylbut-2-enamide (**207**) as colorless liquid after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.78 – 6.55 (m, 1H), 6.24 – 6.05 (m, 1H), 3.50 – 3.30 (m, 3H), 3.00 – 2.85 (m, 3H), 1.70 – 1.53 (m, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.2, 141.9, 119.8, 61.0, 31.6, 17.5. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.¹⁰⁷

N-methoxy-N-methylfuran-2-carboxamide (208)

Subjection of 2-furoic acid (10 mmol, 1.12 g) to the standard literature procedure afforded 1.52 g (97%) of N-methoxy-N-methylfuran-2-carboxamide (208) as colorless liquid after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.57 – 7.44 (m, 1H), 7.13 – 6.98 (m, 1H), 6.41 (td, *J* = 3.5, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 3.66 (s, 3H), 3.24 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 158.9, 145.5, 145.1, 117.3, 111.5, 61.2, 33.0. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.¹⁰⁷

N-methoxy-N-methylthiophene-2-carboxamide (209)



Subjection of thiophene-2-carboxylic acid (10 mmol, 1.28 g) to the standard N^{O} literature procedure afforded 1.63 g (95%) of *N*-methoxy-*N*-methylthiophene-2-carboxamide (209) as colorless liquid after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc:75:25); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.88 (dd, J = 3.8, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.47 (dd, J = 3.8, 1.4

5.1, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.04 – 6.99 (m, 1H), 3.68 (s, 3H), 3.28 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 162.3, 134.5, 133.4, 132.5, 127.0, 61.7, 33.2. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.107

3.6.6. Synthesis and characterization of alkynes

tert-butyl(hex-3-yn-1-yloxy)dimethylsilane (210)



butyl(hex-3-yn-1-yloxy)dimethylsilane (210) as a colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc: 98:2); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 3.67 (t, J = 7.3, 2H), 2.34 (t, J = 7.2, 2H), 2.13 (q, J = 7.5, 2H), 1.09 (t, J = 7.5, 3H), 0.88 (s, 9H), 0.05 (s, 6H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 82.8, 76.2, 62.4, 25.9, 23.1, 18.3, 14.2, 12.4, -5.3. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁷⁸

(cyclohex-1-en-1-ylethynyl)benzene (211)



Subjection of iodobenzene (5 mmol, 0.60 mL) and 1-ethynyl-1cyclohexene (5 mmol, 0.60 mL) to the standard literature procedure¹⁰⁹

afforded 0.67 g (74%) of (cyclohex-1-en-1-ylethynyl)benzene (**211**) as a yellow colored liquid after flash chromatography in Hexane; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.48 – 7.38 (m, 2H), 7.29 (m, 3H), 6.22 (m, 1H), 2.25 (m, 2H), 2.15 (m, 2H), 1.74 – 1.57 (m, 4H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 135.2, 131.4, 128.2, 127.7, 123.8, 120.7, 91.3, 86.8, 29.3, 25.8, 22.4, 21.6. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.¹¹⁰

1-(oct-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene (212)

Subjection of 1-ethynyl-1-cyclohexene (5 mmol, 0.60 mL), *n*-BuLi (1.6 M in hexane, 6 mmol, 3.75 mL), and hexyliodide (5 mmol, 0.74 mL) to the standard literature procedure¹¹¹ afforded 0.24 g (25%) of 1-(oct-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene (**212**) as yellow oil after flash chromatography in Hexane; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 5.98 (t, *J* = 3.5, 1H), 2.26 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.06 (m, 4H), 1.67 – 1.45 (m, 6H), 1.43 – 1.20 (m, 6H), 0.87 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 133.1, 121.0, 87.4, 82.3, 31.4, 29.6, 28.9, 28.6, 25.5, 22.6, 22.4, 21.6, 19.3, 14.0.

trimethyl(5-phenylpent-1-yn-1-yl)silane (213)

Ph Si Subjection of 5-phenyl-1-pentyne (15 mmol, 2.16 g), *n*-BuLi (15.3 mmol, 9.56 mL), and trimethylchlorosilane (15.3 mmol, 1.94 mL) to the standard

literature procedure¹¹² afforded 2.47 g (76%) of trimethyl(5-phenylpent-1-yn-1-yl)silane (**213**) as a colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex:EtOAc: 98:2); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.35 – 7.27 (m, 2H), 7.22 (m, , 3H), 2.81 – 2.71 (m, 2H), 2.30 – 2.18 (m, 2H), 2.04 (s, 0H), 1.93 – 1.81 (m, 2H), 0.21 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 141.6, 141.4, 128.5, 128.3, 128.3, 125.9, 125.8, 107.1, 85.0, 84.1, 77.3, 77.0, 76.7, 68.7, 34.7, 34.6, 30.2, 30.0, 19.3, 19.1, 17.8, 0.4, 0.2, -0.1.

(cyclohex-1-en-1-ylethynyl)trimethylsilane (214)

Subjection of 1-ethynyl-1-cyclohexene (10 mmol, 1.2 mL), TMSCl (10.2 mmol, 1.3 mL), and *n*-BuLi (1.6 M in hexane, 10.2 mmol, 6.4 mL) to the

standard literature procedure¹¹² afforded 1.18 g (66%) of (cyclohex-1-en-1ylethynyl)trimethylsilane (**214**) as colorless oil after flash chromatography(Hex:EtOAc: 98:2); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.16 (t, *J* = 3.9 Hz, 1H), 2.16 – 2.01 (m, 4H), 1.65 – 1.49 (m, 4H), 0.16 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 136.2, 120.7, 107.3, 90.8, 29.0, 25.6, 22.2, 21.4, 0.1.

(3,3-dimethylbut-1-yn-1-yl)benzene (215)

Subjection of iodobenzene (10 mmol, 1.1 mL), 3,3-dimethyl-1-butyne (30 mmol, 3.7 mL), bis(triphenylphosphine)palladium dichloride (0.5 mmol,

0.34 g), cuprous iodide (1 mmol, 0.190 g) and triethylamine (25 mmol, 3.5 mL) to the standard literature procedure¹¹³ afforded 1.45 g (92%) of (3,3-dimethylbut-1-yn-1-yl)benzene (**215**) as colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc: 99:1); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.43 (m, 2H), 7.33 – 7.27 (m, 3H), 1.37 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 131.5, 128.1, 127.4, 124.1, 98.5, 79.0, 31.0, 27.9.

(3-(benzyloxy)prop-1-yn-1-yl)benzene (216)

Subjection of iodobenzene (15 mmol, 1.7 mL), alkyne (15 mmol, 2.2 mL), bis(triphenylphosphine)palladium dichloride (0.075 mmol, 52 mg), cuprous iodide (0.15 mmol, 28 mg), and diethylamine 90 mL to the standard literature procedure¹⁰⁹ afforded 1.90 g (57%) of (3-(benzyloxy)prop-1-yn-1-yl)benzene (**216**) as colorless oil after flash chromatography (Hex/EtOAc: 98:2); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.50 – 7.45 (m, 2H), 7.43 – 7.29 (m, 8H), 4.69 (s, 2H), 4.41 (s, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 137.4, 131.7, 128.4, 128.2, 128.1, 127.8, 122.6, 86.4, 85.0, 71.6, 57.8. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.¹¹⁰

3.6.7. General procedure F: Synthesis of enones

A round-bottom flask was sealed with a septum, and the system was placed under an atmosphere of argon by performing a vacuum-purge cycle three times and then attaching a balloon of argon. The round-bottom flask was charged with the alkyne (1 mmol), Weinreb amide (2 mmol), dry diethyl ether (10 mL), and titanium isopropoxide (1.5 mmol, 0.44 mL). To this stirring mixture was injected a solution of isopropylmagnesium chloride (2 M in ether, 3 mmol, 1.5 mL) dropwise over 5 min. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 4 h, after which the system was opened to the air and the mixture was quenched with 1 mL of water. The mixture was dried over magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated. The crude material was subjected to flash chromatography, eluting with hexanes/EtOAc (98/2), unless otherwise noted.

Note 1: any solid reagents were added to the flask prior to the vacuum-purge cycle.

Note 2: a small aliquot of the quenched reaction mixture was used to determine the regioisomer ratio by GC–MS.

3.6.8. Spectral Data of enones

(*E*)-2-Methyl-1,3-diphenylprop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 153):



¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.81–7.75 (m, 3H), 7.59–7.52 (m, 1H), 7.51–7.32 (m, 7H), 7.21 (q, J = 1.2 Hz, 1H), 2.30 (d, J = 1.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 199.3, 142.1, 138.4, 136.7, 135.6, 131.5, 129.6, 129.4, 128.5, 128.4, 128.1, 14.3. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.¹⁰⁴

(E)-2-Methyl-3-phenyl-1-(4-fluorophenyl)prop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 157):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and 4-fluoro-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylbenzamide (2.0 mmol, 0.311 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.145 g (60% yield) of the enone as a yellowish

liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.80 (dd, *J* = 8.6, 5.5 Hz, 2H), 7.42 (m, 5H), 7.14 (m, 3H), 2.27 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 197.9, 164.9, 163.6, 141.7, 136.6, 135.5, 134.4, 132.0, 131.9, 129.6, 128.6, 128.4, 115.4, 115.3, 14.5; IR (neat) 3055, 2923, 1644, 1594, 1258, 1225, 1154, 1010, 691, 637 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₆H₁₃FO 241.1024, found 241.1020.

(E)-1-(4-Chlorophenyl)-2-methyl-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 158):



after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.70 (m, 2H), 7.42 (m, 7H), 7.14 (m, 1H), 2.26 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 198.0, 142.2, 137.9, 136.7, 136.5, 135.4, 130.8, 129.6, 128.7, 128.4, 128.4, 14.4. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.¹¹⁴

(*E*)-1-(3-Bromophenyl)-2-methyl-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 159):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and 3-bromo-*N*methoxy-*N*-methylbenzamide (2.0 mmol, 0.334 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.171 g (57% yield) of the enone as a brownish liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.87 (m, 1H), 7.66 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.45–7.30 (m, 6H), 7.18 (s, 1H), 2.27 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 197.6, 142.9, 140.4, 136.4, 135.3, 134.4, 132.1, 129.7, 128.8, 128.4, 128.2, 127.8, 122.4, 14.2; IR (neat) 3058, 2923, 85 1645, 1562, 1248, 1018, 728, 695 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₆H₁₃BrO 301.0223, found 301.0221.

(E)-2-Methyl-3-phenyl-1-(4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)prop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 160):



enone as a yellow liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.82 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.73 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.42 (m, 5H), 7.17 (s, 1H), 2.28 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 198.1, 143.7, 141.9, 136.5, 135.3, 133.1, 132.7, 129.8, 129.5, 128.9, 128.5, 125.2, 125.2, 125.2, 125.2, 125.1, 14.0; IR (neat) 3055, 2962, 1649, 1616, 1321, 1107, 1064, 1022, 693 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₇H₁₃F₃O 291.0992, found 291.0992.

(*E*)-2-Methyl-3-phenyl-1-(3-trifluoromethyl)phenyl)prop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 161):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and 3trifluoromethyl-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylbenzamide (2.0 mmol, 0.369 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.161 g (56% yield) of the enone as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.01 (s, 1H), 7.92 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.80 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.43 (m, 5H), 7.17 (s, 1H), 2.30 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 197.8, 143.2, 139.2, 136.5, 135.3, 132.5, 130.9, 130.6, 129.7, 128.9, 128.8, 128.5, 128.07, 128.03, 128.00, 127.9, 126.17, 126.13, 126.09, 126.05, 14.2; IR (neat) 2926, 1647, 1611, 1575, 1331, 1244, 1093, 1071, 695 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m/z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₇H₁₃F₃O 291.0992, found 291.0994. (*E*)-1-(4-((*tert*-Butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)-2-methyl-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 162):

the enone as a yellowish oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.77 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 7.42 (m, 5H), 7.14 (s, 1H), 6.91 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 2.27 (s, 3H), 1.02 (s, 9H), 0.27 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 198.2, 159.3, 140.0, 136.8, 135.8, 131.8, 131.2, 129.5, 128.2, 119.5, 29.8, 25.5, 18.1, 14.8, -4.4; IR (neat) 2955, 2928, 2857, 1643, 1595, 1505, 1253, 906, 837, 805, 736, 691 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₂H₂₈O₂Si 353.1932, found 353.1936.

(E)-2-Methyl-1-(naphthalen-1-yl)-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 163):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and *N*methoxy-*N*-methyl-1-naphthamide (2.0 mmol, 0.430 g) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.055 g (20% yield) of the enone as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.01 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.98 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.93 m, 1H), 7.53 (m, 4H), 7.40–7.29 (m, 5H), 7.22 (s, 1H), 2.37 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.8, 144.9, 138.5, 137.4, 135.6, 133.6, 131.0, 130.2, 129.8, 128.8, 128.4, 128.3, 126.9, 126.4, 126.3, 125.6, 124.4, 13.4; IR (neat) 3054, 2922, 1643, 1574, 1245, 1197, 777, 692 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₀H₁₆O 273.1274, found 273.1270.

(*E*)-2-Methyl-1,5-diphenylpent-1-en-3-one (Table 3.2, entry 164):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and *N*-methoxy-Ph \sim Ph \sim N-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.365 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.217 g (87% yield) of the enone as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.50 (s, 1H), 7.44–7.19 (m, 10H), 3.15 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 3.02 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.08 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 201.3, 141.5, 138.7, 137.2, 135.8, 129.7, 128.47, 128.42, 128.40, 126.1, 39.6, 30.8, 13.2. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.¹¹⁵

(E)-5-Chloro-2-methyl-1-phenylpent-1-en-3-one (Table 3.2, entry 165):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and 3-chloro-*N*-Cl \rightarrow Ph methoxy-*N*-methylpropanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.266 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.153 g (74% yield) of the enone as a yellow oil after flash chromatography (r.r. = 97/3). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.51 (s, 1H), 7.43 (m, 5H), 3.87 (t, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2H), 3.31 (t, *J* = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 2.08 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 198.4, 139.4, 136.9, 135.4, 129.6, 128.7, 128.4, 40.2, 39.2, 12.9; IR (neat) 2962, 2919, 1661, 1575, 1195, 1065, 727, 694, 657 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m/z*: [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₂H₁₃ClO 209.0728, found 209.0729.

(*E*)-2,5,5-Trimethyl-1-phenylhex-1-en-3-one (Table 3.2, entry 166):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and *N*-methoxy- *Ph N*,3,3-trimethylbutanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.340 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.198 g (92% yield) of the enone as a yellow liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.47 (s, 1H), 7.37 (m, 5H), 2.71 (s, 2H), 2.04 (s, 3H), 1.06 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 202.6, 139.0, 138.6, 136.1, 129.57, 128.4, 128.3, 49.2, 31.4, 30.1, 13.2; IR (neat) 2953, 2866, 1655, 1362, 764, 698 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₁₅H₂₀O [M + H]⁺ 217.1587, found 217.1585.

(*E*)-2,4,4-Trimethyl-1-phenylpent-1-en-3-one (Table 3.2, entry 167):



0.106 g (52% yield) of the enone as a yellowish liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.37 (m, 5H), 6.93 (s, 1H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 1.36 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 211.9, 137.6, 135.9, 131.8, 129.1, 128.2, 127.5, 44.1, 27.9, 16.0; IR (neat) 2966, 2869, 1683, 1659, 1477, 1047, 765, 694 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₄H₁₈O 203.1431, found 203.1429.

(E)-1-Cyclohexyl-2-methyl-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 168):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*methyl-1-cyclohexanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.335 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.217 g (95% yield) of the enone as a yellow liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.49 (s, 1H), 7.40 (m, 5H), 3.16 (t, *J* = 11.7 Hz, 1H), 2.04 (s, 3H), 1.82 (d, *J* = 10.8 Hz, 4H), 1.53–1.19 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ

205.8, 137.6, 136.4, 136.0, 129.5, 128.2, 128.2, 44.5, 29.8, 25.83, 25.80, 13.4; IR (neat) 2927, 2852, 1658, 1448, 1590, 1005, 753, 696 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₆H₂₀O 229.1587, found 229.1587.

(E)-4-Ethyl-2-methyl-1-phenyloct-1-en-3-one (Table 3.2, entry 169):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and 2-ethyl-*N*-Bu + + + + methoxy-*N*-methylhexanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.410 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.196 g (80% yield) of the enone as a yellow liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.51 (s, 1H), 7.43 (m, 4H), 7.33 (m, 1H), 3.26 (quin, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 1.70 (m, 2H), 1.58–1.41 (m, 2H), 1.35–1.18 (m, 4H), 0.88 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 206.9, 138.5, 137.9, 136.1, 129.6, 128.3, 128.3, 46.5, 32.4, 29.8, 26.0, 22.9, 13.9, 13.4, 12.0; IR (neat) 2958, 2928, 2858, 1658, 1047, 694 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₇H₂₄O 245.1900, found 245.1900.

(*E*,*E*)-2-Methyl-1,5-diphenylpenta-1,4-dien-3-one (Table 3.2, entry 170):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and *N*-methoxy-Ph \sim Ph \sim N-methylcinnamamide (2.0 mmol, 0.382 g) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.066 g (27% yield) of the enone as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.72 (d, *J* = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (m, 3H), 7.50–7.33 (m, 9H), 2.20 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 192.6, 143.4, 138.6, 138.5, 135.9, 135.1, 130.1, 129.7, 128.8, 128.5, 128.4, 128.2, 121.9, 13.8; IR (neat) 3025, 2920, 1650, 1593, 1494, 1448, 1328, 1200, 1061, 762, 698 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m/z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₈H₁₆O 249.1274, found 249.1272.

(*E*,*E*)-2-Methyl-1-phenylhexa-1,4-dien-3-one (Table 3.2, entry 171):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and (*E*)-*N*-Ph methoxy-*N*-methylbut-2-enamide (2.0 mmol, 0.264 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.056 mg (31% yield) of the enone as a yellowish liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.46 (m, 1H), 7.44–7.30 (m, 5H), 6.95 (dq, *J* = 15.2, 6.8 Hz, 1H), 6.79 (dq, *J* = 15.2, 1.49 Hz, 1H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 1.95 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 192.8, 143.0, 138.4, 137.9, 135.9, 129.6, 128.3, 128.2, 126.9, 18.3, 13.5; IR (neat) 3024, 2913, 1659, 1612, 1575, 1491, 1441, 1287, 1206, 1063, 964, 915, 753, 694 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₃H₁₄O 187.1118, found 187.1116.

(*E*)-1-(Furan-2-yl)-2-methyl-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 172):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*- $4 \rightarrow 0$ methylfuran-2-carboxamide (2.0 mmol, 0.268 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.111 g (53% yield) of the enone as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.66 (s, 1H), 7.50 (s, 1H), 7.46–7.30 (m, 5H), 7.17 (d, *J* = 3.2 Hz, 1H), 6.55 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz, 1H), 2.23 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 185.1, 151.8, 146.7, 139.3, 136.3, 135.7, 129.6, 128.4, 128.3, 119.5, 111.7, 14.5; IR (neat) 2916, 2848, 1630, 1575, 1558, 1463, 1389, 1273, 1024, 1011, 889, 761, 706, 692 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₄H₁₂O₂ 213.0911, found 213.0910.

(E)-2-Methyl-3-phenyl-1-(thiophen-2-yl)prop-2-en-1-one (Table 3.2, entry 173):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*- \swarrow Ph methylthiophene-2-carboxamide (2.0 mmol, 0.281 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.117 g (52% yield) of the enone as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (d, *J* = 3.6 Hz, 1H), 7.67 (d, *J* = 4.8 Hz, 1H), 7.48–7.32 (m, 6H), 7.14 (t, *J* = 4.4 Hz, 1H), 2.26 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 190.5, 143.4, 139.0, 136.9, 135.6, 133.5, 133.4, 129.5, 128.4, 128.3, 127.6, 14.8; IR (neat) 2917, 1618, 1512, 1411, 1263, 1002, 847, 723, 693 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₁₄H₁₂OS 229.0682, found 229.0679.

(*E*)-1-Phenyl-4-propyloct-4-en-3-one (Table 3.3, entry 179):

Subjection of 4-octyne (1.0 mmol, 0.147 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-Ph $\stackrel{}{\longrightarrow}_{Pr}$ phenylpropanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.365 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.232 g (95% yield) of the enone as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.28 (m, 2H), 7.21 (m, 3H), 6.57 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 2.97 (m, 4H), 2.27 (m, 2H), 2.21 (q, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 1.47 (sex, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.33 (sex, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.95 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.89 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.7, 142.8, 141.8, 141.6, 128.39, 128.38, 125.9, 39.2, 30.9, 30.8, 27.7, 22.5, 22.2, 14.2, 13.9. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.¹¹⁶

(*E*)-1,2,5-Triphenylpent-1-en-3-one (Table 3.3, entry 180):

Ph Ph Ph Bh Subjection of diphenylacetylene (1.0 mmol, 0.178 g) and *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.365 mL) to the general

procedure **F** afforded 0.149 g (48% yield) of the enone as a colorless solid after flash chromatography. Mp = 88 °C; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (s, 1H), 7.44 (m, 3H), 7.36–7.13 (m, 10H), 7.06 (m, 2H), 3.00 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.93 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.4, 141.3, 140.4, 138.2, 136.8, 134.6, 130.8, 129.5, 129.1, 129.0, 128.39, 128.38, 128.2, 127.9, 125.9, 41.8, 30.4; IR (neat) 3027, 2922, 1676, 1568, 1353, 1281, 1190, 738, 696 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₃H₂₀O 313.1587, found 313.1584.

(*E*)-7-((*tert*-Butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)-4-ethyl-1-phenylhept-4-en-3-one (major isomer) and (*E*)-4-(2-((*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)ethyl)-1-phenylhept-4-en-3-one (minor isomer) (Table 3.3,



procedure **F** afforded 0.259 g (75% yield) of an inseparable mixture of these regioisomeric enones (r.r. = 53/47) as a colorless liquid after flash chromatography. Major isomer: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.21 (m, 2H), 7.13 (m, 3H), 6.59 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H, measured 0.43H), 3.51 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H, measured 0.89H), 2.89 (m, 4H), 2.49 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H, measured 0.87H), 2.27 (m, 2H), 0.99 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 3H, measured 1.37H), 0.82 (s, 9H, measured 3.64H), -0.03 (s, 6H, measured 2.40H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.4, 146.4, 141.54, 137.6, 128.38, 128.33, 125.94, 62.2, 39.13, 32.3, 30.6, 29.4, 25.9, 18.3, 13.4, -5.4. Minor isomer: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.21 (m, 2H), 7.13 (m, 3H), 6.54 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1H, measured 1.09H), 3.65 (t, *J* = 6.4 Hz, 2H, measured 1.04H), 2.89 (m, 4H), 2.40 (q, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H, measured 1.09H), 2.24 (m, 2H), 0.88 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 3H, measured 1.96H), 0.83 (s, 9H, measured 5.04H), 0.00 (s, 6H, measured 3.29H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.3, 144.4, 141.49, 138.7, 128.35, 128.32, 125.91, 61.8, 39.10, 30.7, 25.8, 22.4, 19.0, 18.2, 13.8, -5.4. IR (neat) 2955, 2928, 2856, 1668, 1496, 1471, 1251, 1094, 833, 774, 697 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₁H₃₄O₂Si 347.2401, found 347.2391.

(*E*)-2-(Cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-1,5-diphenylpent-1-en-3-one (isomer 1) and (*E*)-1-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-2,5-diphenylpent-1-en-3-one (isomer 2) (Table 3.3, entry 182):

Ph Subjection of (cyclohex-1-en-1-ylethynyl)benzene (1.0 mmol, 0.189 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.365 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.191 g (60% yield) of an

inseparable mixture of these regioisomeric enones (r.r. = 50/50) as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. Isomer 1: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.62 (m, 2H), 7.42–7.15 (m, 9H), 5.66 (m, 1H), 3.05 (m, 4H), 2.19 (m, 2H), 1.75 (m, 4H), 1.51 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 201.10, 142.40, 141.48, 137.6, 136.3, 135.7, 135.2, 130.2, 128.6, 128.3, 128.2, 127.8, 125.9, 40.6, 30.6, 28.3, 25.4, 22.3, 21.7. Isomer 2: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.42–7.15 (m, 11H), 6.22 (m, 1H), 2.92 (m, 2H), 2.84 (m, 2H), 2.11 (m, 4H), 1.65 (q, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.41 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.6, 142.8, 141.5, 140.8, 136.6, 134.1, 130.1, 129.0, 128.5, 128.4, 128.3, 127.4, 125.8, 41.6, 30.5, 27.2, 26.8, 22.5, 21.5. IR 3025, 2929, 1668, 1571, 1494, 1446, 1179, 1071, 908, 729 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₃H₂₄O 317.1900, found 317.1890.

(*E*)-4-(Cyclohex-1-en-1-ylmethylene)-1-phenyldecan-3-one (major isomer) and (*E*)-4-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-1-phenylundec-4-en-3-one (minor isomer) (Table 3.3, entry 183):

Subjection of 1-(oct-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene (1.0 mmol, 0.219 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.365 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.208 g (64% yield) of an inseparable mixture of these regioisomeric enones (r.r. = 77/23) as a yellowish liquid after flash chromatography. Major isomer: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.27–7.05 (m, 5H), 6.75 (s, 1H, measured 0.58H), 5.85 (m, 1H, measured 0.56H), 2.89 (m, 4H), 2.35 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H, measured 1.74H), 2.10 (m, 4H, measured 3.69H), 1.57 (m, 4H), 1.21 (m, 8H), 0.81 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H). Minor isomer: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.27–7.05 (m, 5H), 6.57 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H, measured 0.19H), 6.53 (s, 1H, measured 0.22H), 2.83 (m, 2H), 2.69 (m, 2H, measured 0.41H), 2.35 (m, 2H, measured 1.74H), 1.86 (m, 4H, measured 0.75H), 1.57 (m, 4H), 1.21 (m, 8H), 0.81 (t, J = 6.8 Hz, 3H). Combined isomers: ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 201.5, 141.9, 141.6, 139.3, 135.0, 133.6, 128.3, 127.1, 125.9, 39.5, 31.5, 30.9, 30.2, 29.5, 28.2, 26.6, 26.1, 22.6, 22.5, 21.7, 14.0. IR (neat) 3026, 2924, 2855, 1663, 1495, 1452, 1105, 921, 747, 697 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₃H₃₂O 325.2526, found 325.2517.

(E)-1,7-Diphenyl-4-((trimethylsilyl)methylene)heptan-3-one (Table 3.3, entry 184):

as a yellowish liquid after flash chromatography (r.r. = 91/9; only a single isomer was isolated). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.16 (m, 4H), 7.07 (m, 6H), 6.42 (s, 1H), 2.88 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.80 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.52 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.28 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 1.52 (quin, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 0.00 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 201.3, 156.1, 142.0, 141.4, 139.9, 128.4, 128.39, 128.37, 128.2, 126.0, 125.7, 39.4, 36.3, 31.9, 31.0, 30.6, -0.4; IR (neat) 3025, 2951, 1672, 1602, 1495, 1452, 1248, 836, 745, 696 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₃H₃₀OSi 351.2139, found 351.2137.

(E)-2-(Cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-5-phenyl-1-(trimethylsilyl)pent-1-en-3-one (Table 3.3, entry 185):



Subjection of (cyclohex-1-en-1-ylethynyl)trimethylsilane (1.0 mmol,
0.207 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (2.0 mmol,
0.365 mL) to the general procedure F afforded 0.143 g (46% yield) of

the enone as a yellow oil after flash chromatography that was an inseparable mixture of regioisomers (r.r. = 86/14). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.32 (m, 2H), 7.24 (m, 3H), 6.57 (bs, 1H, measured 0.02H), 6.52 (bs, 1H, measured 0.75H), 5.62 (m, 1H, measured 0.18H), 5.53 (tt, *J* =
3.6, 1.7 Hz, 1H, measured 0.77H), 2.97 (m, 4H), 2.15 (m, 2H), 2.03 (m, 2H), 1.69 (m, 4H), 0.12 (s, 9H, measured 7.69H), -0.04 (s, 9H, measured 1.29H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 201.4, 158.8, 141.5, 139.5, 137.4, 128.4, 127.4, 126.0, 40.4, 30.5, 29.0, 25.1, 22.4, 21.7, -0.2; IR (neat) 3027, 2928, 1674, 1496, 1245, 836, 748, 697 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₀H₂₈OSi 313.1983, found 313.1978.

(E)-2,5-Diphenyl-1-(trimethylsilyl)pent-1-en-3-one (Table 3.3, entry 186):

Subjection of 1-phenyl-2-trimethylsilylacetylene (1.0 mmol, 0.197 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.365 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.149 g (53% yield) of the enone as a yellow liquid after flash chromatography that was an inseparable mixture of regioisomers (r.r. = 86/14). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.50–7.15 (m, 10H), 7.11 (m, 1H, measured 0.92H), 3.04 (m, 4H, measured 3.18H), 3.00–2.75 (m, 4H, measured 0.89H), 0.00 (bs, 9H, measured 6.96H), -0.37 (bs, 9H, measured 1.37H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.1, 155.4, 142.3, 141.3, 138.7, 129.3, 128.4, 128.4, 127.9, 127.7, 125.9, 41.1, 30.4, –0.7; IR (neat) 3027, 2952, 1679, 1578, 1247, 1099, 856, 834, 747, 697 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₀H₂₄OSi 309.1670, found 309.1667.

(*E*)-6,6-Dimethyl-1,4-diphenylhept-4-en-3-one (Table 3.3, entry 187):



Subjection of (3,3-dimethylbut-1-yn-1-yl)benzene (1.0 mmol, 0.180 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (2.0 mmol, 0.365 mL) to the general procedure **F** afforded 0.104 g (35% yield) of the enone as a

colorless liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.35 (m, 3H), 7.30–7.18 (m, 4H), 7.13 (m, 3H), 6.89 (s, 1H), 2.89 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.75 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 0.94 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.8, 151.1, 141.4, 139.5, 137.0, 130.0, 128.3, 128.2, 127.8, 127.3,

125.8, 44.8, 41.5, 34.1, 30.4; IR (neat) 3026, 2959, 1688, 1593, 1495, 1475, 1359, 1215, 1111, 1072, 1030, 747 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) m/z [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₁H₂₄O 293.1900, found 293.1890.

(E)-2-((Benzyloxy)methyl)-1,5-diphenylpent-1-en-3-one (Table 3.3, entry 188):



as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (s, 1H), 7.48 (m, 2H), 7.39–7.19 (m, 13H), 4.59 (s, 2H), 4.35 (s, 2H), 3.12 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 3.01 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.2, 143.4, 141.4, 137.9, 136.8, 134.7, 129.8, 129.4, 128.5, 128.48, 128.43, 128.3, 128.2, 127.7, 126.1, 73.1, 63.6, 40.0, 30.4; IR (neat) 3026, 2924, 1668, 1494, 1452, 1069, 1027, 733 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) *m*/*z* [M + H]⁺ calcd for C₂₅H₂₄O₂ 357.1850, found 357.1837.

References:

- Ding, C.; Zhang, Y.; Chen, H.; Yang, Z.; Wild, C.; Ye, N.; Ester, C. D.; Xiong, A.; White, M. A.; Shen, Q.; Zhou, J. "Oridonin ring A-based diverse constructions of enone functionality: identification of novel dienone analogues effective for highly aggressive breast cancer by inducing apoptosis" *J. Med. Chem.* 2013, *56* (21), 8814-8825.
- Li, L.; Yue, G. G. L.; Lau, C. B. S.; Sun, H.; Fung, K. P.; Leung, P. C.; Han, Q.; Leung, P. S. "Eriocalyxin B induces apoptosis and cell cycle arrest in pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells through caspase- and p53-dependent pathways" *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 2012, 262 (1), 80-90.
- Festa, C.; Lauro, G.; De Marino, S.; D'Auria, M. V.; Monti, M. C.; Casapullo, A.; D'Amore,
 C.; Renga, B.; Mencarelli, A.; Petek, S.; Bifulco, G.; Fiorucci, S.; Zampella, A.
 "Plakilactones from the marine sponge plakinastrella mamillaris. discovery of a new class of marine ligands of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ" *J. Med. Chem.* 2012, *55* (19), 8303-8317.
- 4. Wu, X.; Liu, J.; Li, X.; Zanotti-Gerosa, A.; Hancock, F.; Vinci, D.; Ruan, J.; Xiao, J. "On water and in air: fast and highly chemoselective transfer hydrogenation of aldehydes with iridium catalysts" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45* (40), 6718-6722.
- Mori, A.; Miyakawa, Y.; Ohashi, E.; Haga, T.; Maegawa, T.; Sajiki, H. "Pd/C-catalyzed chemoselective hydrogenation in the presence of diphenylsulfide" *Org. Lett.* 2006, 8 (15), 3279-3281.
- Park, C. M.; Kwon, M. S.; Park, J. "Palladium nanoparticles in polymers: catalyst for alkene hydrogenation, carbon-carbon cross-coupling reactions, and aerobic alcohol oxidation" *Synthesis* 2006, 2006 (22), 3790-3794.
- Martin, N. J. A.; List, B. "Highly enantioselective transfer hydrogenation of α,β-unsaturated ketones" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2006, *128* (41), 13368-13369.

- Moser, R.; Bošković, Ž. V.; Crowe, C. S.; Lipshutz, B. H. "CuH-catalyzed enantioselective 1,2-reductions of α,β-unsaturated ketones" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, *132* (23), 7852-7853.
- 9. Zong, H.; Huang, H.; Liu, J.; Bian, G.; Song, L. "Added-metal-free catalytic nucleophilic addition of grignard reagents to ketones" *J. Org. Chem.* **2012**, *77* (10), 4645-4652.
- Hatano, M.; Ito, O.; Suzuki, S.; Ishihara, K. "Zinc(II)-catalyzed addition of grignard reagents to ketones" *J. Org. Chem.* 2010, 75 (15), 5008-5016.
- Vellekoop, A. S.; Smith, R. A. J. "The mechanism of organocuprate 1,4-addition reactions with α,β-unsaturated ketones: formation of cuprate-enone complexes with lithium dimethylcuprate" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1994**, *116* (7), 2902-2913.
- Zhang, Y.; Wang, W. "Recent advances in organocatalytic asymmetric Michael reactions" *Catal. Sci. Tech.* 2012, 2 (1), 42-53.
- Heathcock, C. H.; Ellis, J. E.; McMurry, J. E.; Coppolino, A. "Acid-catalyzed Robinson annelations" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1971, *12* (52), 4995-4996.
- Jiang, X.; Wang, R. "Recent developments in catalytic asymmetric inverse-electron-demand Diels–Alder reaction" *Chem. Rev.* 2013, *113* (7), 5515-5546.
- Patrick, T. M. "The free radical addition of aldehydes to α,β-unsaturated ketones" J. Org. Chem. 1952, 17 (9), 1269-1275.
- Haszeldine, R. N.; Steele, B. R. "Addition of free radicals to unsaturated systems. Part XI. The direction of radical addition to 1,1,3,3,3-pentafluoropropene, and the synthesis of perfluoro-olefins, -ketones, and -acids" *J. Chem. Soc.* **1955**, 3005-3009.
- 17. Lévai, A. "Synthesis of heterocyclic compounds by the reactions of exocyclic α , β unsaturated ketones" *J. Heterocycl. Chem.* **2004**, *41* (3), 299-310.
- Wang, Z., Doebner-Miller Reaction. In Comprehensive Organic Name Reactions and Reagents, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: 2010.

- Ohkoshi, M.; Yoshida, M.; Matsuyama, H.; Iyoda, M. "Novel synthesis of perfluoroalkylated heterocyclic compounds from α-chlorostyrenes via perfluoroalkylated α,β-unsaturated ketones" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42 (1), 33-36.
- 20. Marsden, S. P. Science of Synthesis 2005, 26, 1045-1121.
- Buckle, D. R.; Pinto, I. L., *In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*. Pergamon: Oxford, 1991;
 Vol. 7.
- Larock, R. C., Comprehensive Organic Transformations. 2nd ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1999.
- Heathcock, C. H., The Aldol Reaction: Acid and General Base Catalysis A2 Trost, Barry M. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*, Fleming, I., Ed. Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; pp 133-179.
- Heathcock, C. H., 1.6 The Aldol Reaction: Group I and Group II Enolates A2 Trost, Barry M. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*, Fleming, I., Ed. Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; pp 181-238.
- Ren, K.; Hu, B.; Zhao, M.; Tu, Y.; Xie, X.; Zhang, Z. "Ruthenium-catalyzed oxidation of allyl alcohols with intermolecular hydrogen transfer: synthesis of α,β-unsaturated carbonyl compounds" *J. Org. Chem.* 2014, *79* (5), 2170-2177.
- 26. Nakano, T.; Ishii, Y.; Ogawa, M. "Selective oxidation of alcohol function in allylic alcohols to α,β-unsaturated carbonyl compounds catalyzed by zirconocene complexes" *J. Org. Chem.* 1987, *52* (22), 4855-4859.
- Liu, J.; Ma, S. "Iron-catalyzed aerobic oxidation of allylic alcohols: the issue of C=C bond isomerization" Org. Lett. 2013, 15 (20), 5150-5153.
- Catino, A. J.; Forslund, R. E.; Doyle, M. P. "Dirhodium(II) caprolactamate: An exceptional catalyst for allylic oxidation" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2004, *126* (42), 13622-13623.

- Nicolaou, K. C.; Zhong, Y. L.; Baran, P. S. "A new method for the one-step synthesis of α,βunsaturated carbonyl systems from saturated alcohols and carbonyl compounds" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2000, *122* (31), 7596-7597.
- Corey, E. J.; Weinshenker, N. M.; Schaaf, T. K.; Huber, W. "Stereo-controlled synthesis of dl-prostaglandins F2α and E2" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1969**, *91* (20), 5675-5677.
- 31. Corey, E. J.; Schaaf, T. K.; Huber, W.; Koelliker, U.; Weinshenker, N. M. "Total synthesis of prostaglandins F2α and E2 as the naturally occuring forms" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1970, 92 (2), 397-398.
- Muzart, J. "One-pot syntheses of α,β-unsaturated carbonyl compounds through palladiummediated dehydrogenation of ketones, -aldehydes, esters, lactones and amides" *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2010, 2010 (20), 3779-3790.
- 33. Pennell, M. N.; Unthank, M. G.; Turner, P.; Sheppard, T. D. "A general procedure for the synthesis of enones via gold-catalyzed Meyer–Schuster rearrangement of propargylic alcohols at room temperature" *J. Org. Chem.* 2011, 76 (5), 1479-1482.
- Sugawara, Y.; Yamada, W.; Yoshida, S.; Ikeno, T.; Yamada, T. "Carbon dioxide-mediated catalytic rearrangement of propargyl alcohols into α,β-unsaturated ketones" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2007, *129* (43), 12902-12903.
- 35. Cadierno, V.; Crochet, P.; Garcia-Garrido, S. E.; Gimeno, J. "Metal-catalyzed transformations of propargylic alcohols into α,β-unsaturated carbonyl compounds: from the Meyer-Schuster and Rupe rearrangements to redox isomerizations" *Dalton Trans.* 2010, *39* (17), 4015-4031.
- Collins, B. S. L.; Suero, M. G.; Gaunt, M. J. "Copper-catalyzed arylative Meyer–Schuster rearrangement of propargylic alcohols to complex enones using diaryliodonium salts" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2013, 52 (22), 5799-5802.

- Xiong, Y.-P.; Wu, M.-Y.; Zhang, X.-Y.; Ma, C.-L.; Huang, L.; Zhao, L.-J.; Tan, B.; Liu, X.-Y. "Direct access to α-trifluoromethyl enones via efficient copper-catalyzed trifluoromethylation of Meyer–Schuster rearrangement" *Org. Lett.* 2014, *16* (3), 1000-1003.
- Willis, M. C. "Transition metal catalyzed alkene and alkyne hydroacylation" *Chem. Rev.* **2010**, *110* (2), 725-748.
- Biju, A. T.; Wurz, N. E.; Glorius, F. "N-Heterocyclic carbene-catalyzed cascade reaction involving the hydroacylation of unactivated alkynes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, *132* (17), 5970-5971.
- Parsons, S. R.; Hooper, J. F.; Willis, M. C. "O-Substituted alkyl aldehydes for rhodiumcatalyzed intermolecular alkyne hydroacylation: The utility of methylthiomethyl ethers" *Org. Lett.* 2011, *13* (5), 998-1000.
- Czakó, L. K. a. B., The Aldol Reaction. In Strategic Applications of Named Reactions in Organic Synthesis, Elsevier: San Diego, 2005; pp 8-9.
- Moon Kim, B.; Williams, S. F.; Masamune, S., 1.7 The Aldol Reaction: Group III Enolates
 A2 Trost, Barry M. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*, Fleming, I., Ed. Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; pp 239-275.
- Paterson, I., 1.9 The Aldol Reaction: Transition Metal Enolates A2 Trost, Barry M. In Comprehensive Organic Synthesis, Fleming, I., Ed. Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; pp 301-319.
- Rathke, M. W.; Weipert, P., 1.8 Zinc Enolates: the Reformatsky and Blaise Reactions A2 -Trost, Barry M. In *Comprehensive Organic Synthesis*, Fleming, I., Ed. Pergamon: Oxford, 1991; pp 277-299.
- 45. Yamamoto, Y.; Yatagai, H.; Maruyama, K. "Threo-selective aldol condensations of lithium enolates in the presence of trialkylboranes" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1982**, *23* (23), 2387-2390.
- Panek, J. S.; Bula, O. A. "Syn selective aldol reactions of titanium and zirconium dienolates" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1988**, *29* (14), 1661-1664.

- Reetz, M. T.; Peter, R. "Erythro selective aldol condensation using titanium enolates" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1981, 22 (47), 4691-4694.
- 48. Harrison, C. R. "Transient titanium enolate aldol condensations" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1987, 28 (36), 4135-4138.
- Evans, D. A.; Taber, T. R. "Enantioselective aldol condensations via boron enolates. A steric model for asymmetric induction" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1980**, *21* (49), 4675-4678.
- Paterson, I.; Lister, M. A.; McClure, C. K. "Enantioselective aldol condensations: The use of ketone boron enolates with chiral ligands attached to boron" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1986, 27 (39), 4787-4790.
- Paterson, I.; Goodman, J. M. "Aldol reactions of methylketones using chiral boron reagents: A reversal in aldehyde enantioface selectivity" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1989, *30* (8), 997-1000.
- Mukaiyama, T.; Sato, T.; Hanna, J. "Reductive coupling of carbonyl compounds to pinacols and olefins by using TiCl₄ and Zn" *Chem. Lett.* **1973**, *2* (10), 1041-1044.
- Wadamoto, M.; Ozasa, N.; Yanagisawa, A.; Yamamoto, H. "BINAP/AgOTf/KF/18-Crown-6 as new bifunctional catalysts for asymmetric Sakurai–Hosomi allylation and Mukaiyama Aldol reaction" *J. Org. Chem.* 2003, 68 (14), 5593-5601.
- Kobayashi, S.; Ogino, T.; Shimizu, H.; Ishikawa, S.; Hamada, T.; Manabe, K. "Bismuth triflate-chiral bipyridine complexes as water-compatible chiral lewis acids" *Org. Lett.* 2005, 7 (21), 4729-4731.
- 55. Chintareddy, V. R.; Wadhwa, K.; Verkade, J. G. "P(PhCH₂NCH₂CH₂)₃N catalysis of Mukaiyama Aldol reactions of aliphatic, aromatic, and heterocyclic aldehydes and trifluoromethyl phenyl ketone" *J. Org. Chem.* **2009**, *74* (21), 8118-8132.
- 56. Bora, U.; Chaudhuri, M. K.; Dey, D.; Kalita, D.; Kharmawphlang, W.; Mandal, G. C. "3,5-Dimethylpyrazolium fluorochromate(VI), C₅H₈N₂H[CrO₃F], (DmpzHFC): a convenient new reagent for oxidation of organic substrates" *Tetrahedron* 2001, *57* (12), 2445-2448.

- González-Núñez, M. E.; Mello, R.; Olmos, A.; Acerete, R.; Asensio, G. "oxidation of alcohols to carbonyl compounds with CrO₃·SiO₂ in supercritical carbon dioxide" *J. Org. Chem.* 2006, 71 (3), 1039-1042.
- Matovic, N. J.; Hayes, P. Y.; Penman, K.; Lehmann, R. P.; De Voss, J. J. "polyunsaturated alkyl amides from echinacea: synthesis of diynes, enynes, and dienes" *J. Org. Chem.* 2011, 76 (11), 4467-4481.
- Matovic, N.; Matthias, A.; Gertsch, J.; Raduner, S.; Bone, K. M.; Lehmann, R. P.; DeVoss, J. J. "Stereoselective synthesis, natural occurrence and CB2 receptor binding affinities of alkylamides from herbal medicines such as *Echinacea sp*" *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2007, *5* (1), 169-174.
- 60. Ahmed, M. M.; Cui, H.; O'Doherty, G. A. "De novo asymmetric syntheses of Muricatacin and its analogues via dihydroxylation of dienoates" *J. Org. Chem.* **2006**, *71* (17), 6686-6689.
- Shaabani, A.; Mirzaei, P.; Lee, G. D. "The beneficial effect of manganese dioxide on the oxidation of organic compounds by potassium permanganate" *Catal. Lett.* 2004, 97 (3), 119-123.
- 62. Beckmann, C.; Rattke, J.; Sperling, P.; Heinz, E.; Boland, W. "Stereochemistry of a bifunctional dihydroceramide Δ4-desaturase/hydroxylase from Candida albicans; a key enzyme of sphingolipid metabolism" Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1 (14), 2448-2454.
- Coleman, M. G.; Brown, A. N.; Bolton, B. A.; Guan, H. "Iron-catalyzed Oppenauer-type oxidation of alcohols" *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2010, *352* (6), 967-970.
- Suzuki, T.; Morita, K.; Tsuchida, M.; Hiroi, K. "Iridium-catalyzed Oppenauer oxidations of primary alcohols using acetone or 2-butanone as oxidant" *J. Org. Chem.* 2003, 68 (4), 1601-1602.

- Hanasaka, F.; Fujita, K.-i.; Yamaguchi, R. "Cp*Ir complexes bearing n-heterocyclic carbene ligands as effective catalysts for Oppenauer-type oxidation of alcohols" *Organometallics* 2004, 23 (7), 1490-1492.
- Nicolaou, K. C.; Montagnon, T.; Baran, P. S.; Zhong, Y. L. "Iodine(V) reagents in organic synthesis. part 4. o-iodoxybenzoic acid as a chemospecific tool for single electron transferbased oxidation processes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2002, *124* (10), 2245-2258.
- 67. Theissen, R. J. "Preparation of α,β-unsaturated carbonyl compunds" *J. Org. Chem.* 1971, *36*(6), 752-757.
- Jun, C.-H.; Lee, H.; Moon, C. W.; Hong, H.-S. "Cleavage of carbon–carbon triple bond of alkyne via hydroiminoacylation by Rh(I) catalyst" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2001, *123* (35), 8600-8601.
- Jun, C.-H.; Lee, H.; Hong, J.-B.; Kwon, B.-I. "Efficient and selective hydroacylation of 1alkynes with aldehydes by a chelation-assisted catalytic system" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2002, 41 (12), 2146-2147.
- Rueda, X. Y.; Castillón, S. "Rhodium-catalyzed intermolecular hydroacylation of 1-alkynes: Effect of phosphines and MK-10 on the reaction selectivity" *J. Organomet. Chem.* 2007, 692 (8), 1628-1632.
- Williams, V. M.; Leung, J. C.; Patman, R. L.; Krische, M. J. "Hydroacylation of 2-butyne from the alcohol or aldehyde oxidation level via ruthenium catalyzed C–C bond forming transfer hydrogenation" *Tetrahedron* 2009, 65 (26), 5024-5029.
- 72. Tsuda, T.; Kiyoi, T.; Saegusa, T. "Nickel(0)-catalyzed hydroacylation of alkynes with aldehydes to .alpha.,.beta.-enones" *J. Org. Chem.* **1990**, *55* (8), 2554-2558.
- Kong, K.; Moussa, Z.; Lee, C.; Romo, D. "Total synthesis of the spirocyclic imine marine toxin (-)-Gymnodimine and an unnatural C4-epimer" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2011, *133* (49), 19844-19856.

- 74. Fu, R.; Ye, J.-L.; Dai, X.-J.; Ruan, Y.-P.; Huang, P.-Q. "Asymmetric synthesis of the cytotoxic marine natural product (+)-Awajanomycin and its C-11 epimer" *J. Org. Chem.* 2010, 75 (12), 4230-4243.
- 75. Fleming, I.; Pearce, A. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1980, 2485-2489.
- 76. Echavarren, A. M.; Stille, J. K. "Palladium-catalyzed carbonylative coupling of aryl triflates with organostannanes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1988**, *110* (5), 1557-1565.
- 77. Tatsuo, I.; Norio, M.; Akira, S. "Palladium-Catalyzed carbonylative cross-coupling reaction of 1-halo-1-alkenes with 9-alkyl-9-BBN derivatives. A direct synthesis of α,β-unsaturated ketones" *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1991**, *64* (6), 1999-2001.
- 78. Wolan, A.; Cadoret, F.; Six, Y. "A convenient titanium-mediated intermolecular alkyne– carbonate coupling reaction" *Tetrahedron* **2009**, *65* (36), 7429-7439.
- Kulinkovich, O. G.; de Meijere, A. "1,n-Dicarbanionic titanium intermediates from monocarbanionic organometallics and their application in organic synthesis" *Chem. Rev.* 2000, *100* (8), 2789-2834.
- Kasatkin, A.; Okamoto, S.; Sato, F. "Intramolecular nucleophilic acyl substitution reactions mediated by Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄/2 *i*-PrMgBr reagent. Synthesis of vinyltitanium compounds having a lactone and/or an ester group from acetylenic carbonates" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1995, *36* (34), 6075-6078.
- Okamoto, S.; Kasatkin, A.; Zubaidha, P. K.; Sato, F. "Intramolecular nucleophilic acyl substitution reactions mediated by XTi(O-*i*-Pr)₃ (X = Cl, O-*i*-Pr)/2*i*-PrMgBr reagent. Efficient synthesis of functionalized organotitanium compounds from unsaturated compounds" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1996**, *118* (9), 2208-2216.
- Six, Y. "Titanium-mediated carboxylation of alkynes with carbon dioxide" *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2003, 2003 (7), 1157-1171.
- Takahashi, T.; Xi, C.; Ura, Y.; Nakajima, K. "Metallo-esterification of alkynes: Reaction of alkynes with Cp₂ZrEt₂ and chloroformate" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2000, *122* (13), 3228-3229.

- Yamashita, K.; Chatani, N. "Cp₂ZrCl₂-mediated three-component coupling reactions of CO₂, ethylene (or alkynes), and electrophiles leading to carboxylic acid derivatives" *Synlett* 2005, 2005 (06), 0919-0922.
- Nahm, S.; Weinreb, S. M. "N-methoxy-n-methylamides as effective acylating agents" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1981, 22 (39), 3815-3818.
- Balasubramaniam, S.; Aidhen, I. S. "The growing synthetic utility of the Weinreb amide" Synthesis 2008, 2008 (23), 3707-3738.
- Bach, J.; Galobardes, M.; Garcia, J.; Romea, P.; Tey, C.; Urpí, F.; Vilarrasa, J. "Syntheses of the C-1 alkyl side chains of Zaragozic acids A and C" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1998, *39* (37), 6765-6768.
- Yu, L.-F.; Hu, H.-N.; Nan, F.-J. "Total synthesis of Lathyranoic Acid A" *J. Org. Chem.* 2011, 76 (5), 1448-1451.
- Harada, K.; Urabe, H.; Sato, F. "Generation and reactions of low-valent titanium alkoxideacetylene complexes. A practical preparation of allyl alcohols" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1995, *36* (18), 3203-3206.
- 90. Sato, F.; Urabe, H.; Okamoto, S. "Synthesis of Organotitanium Complexes from Alkenes and Alkynes and Their Synthetic Applications" *Chem. Rev.* **2000**, *100* (8), 2835-2886.
- Obora, Y.; Moriya, H.; Tokunaga, M.; Tsuji, Y. "Cross-coupling reaction of thermally stable titanium(ii)-alkyne complexes with aryl halides catalysed by a nickel complex." *Chem. Commun.* 2003, 2820-2821.
- 92. Rassadin, V. A.; Six, Y. "A study of the reaction of n-BuLi with Ti(Oi-Pr)4 as a method to generate titanacyclopropane and titanacyclopropene species" *Tetrahedron* 2014, *70* (4), 787-794.
- 93. Eisch, J. J.; Gitua, J. N. "Coordination-Induced Reductive Elimination and Titanium(II) Carbenoid Transfer in Reactions of Dialkyltitanium(IV) Complexes with Unsaturated Organic Substrates1" Organometallics 2003, 22 (1), 24-26.

- 94. Knochel, P.; Dohle, W.; Gommermann, N.; Kneisel, F. F.; Kopp, F.; Korn, T.; Sapountzis,
 I.; Vu, V. A. "Highly functionalized organomagnesium reagents prepared through halogen-metal exchange" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2003, 42 (36), 4302-4320.
- 95. Rudzinski, D. M.; Kelly, C. B.; Leadbeater, N. E. "A Weinreb amide approach to the synthesis of trifluoromethylketones" *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48* (77), 9610-9612.
- 96. Noor, A.; Kempe, R. "Acetylenetitanium Complex Stabilized by Aminopyridinato Ligands" *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2008**, 2008 (15), 2377-2381.
- Spencer Iii, W. T.; Vaidya, T.; Frontier, A. J. "Beyond the divinyl ketone: Innovations in the generation and Nazarov cyclization of pentadienyl cation intermediates" *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2013, 2013 (18), 3621-3633.
- 98. Suzuki, D.; Nobe, Y.; Watai, Y.; Tanaka, R.; Takayama, Y.; Sato, F.; Urabe, H. "facile preparation of various heteroaromatic compounds via azatitanacyclopentadiene intermediates" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2005, *127* (20), 7474-7479.
- 99. Teng, X.; Wada, T.; Okamoto, S.; Sato, F. "One-pot preparation of 2-substituted and 2,3disubstituted furans from 2-alkynal tetramethylethylene acetals and aldehydes using a divalent titanium reagent Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄/2 *i*-PrMgX" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2001, 42 (32), 5501-5503.
- Wotal, A. C.; Weix, D. J. "Synthesis of functionalized dialkyl ketones from carboxylic acid derivatives and alkyl halides" *Org. Lett.* 2012, *14* (6), 1476-1479.
- 101. Kobayashi, S.; Iimori, T.; Izawa, T.; Ohno, M. "Ph₃P-(PyS)₂-CH₃CN as an excellent condensing system for .beta.-lactam formation from .beta.-amino acids" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1981, *103* (9), 2406-2408.
- Silwal, S.; Rahaim, R. J. "Modular synthesis of tetra-substituted furans from alkynes, Weinreb amides, and aldehydes" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2015, *56* (42), 5738-5742.

- Shintani, R.; Kimura, T.; Hayashi, T. "Rhodium/diene-catalyzed asymmetric 1,4-addition of arylboronic acids to α,β-unsaturated Weinreb amides" *Chem. Commun.* 2005, 3213-3214.
- 104. Niu, T.; Zhang, W.; Huang, D.; Xu, C.; Wang, H.; Hu, Y. "A powerful reagent for synthesis of weinreb amides directly from carboxylic acids" *Org. Lett.* **2009**, *11* (19), 4474-4477.
- 105. Kishore Kumar, G. D.; Chavarria, G. E.; Charlton-Sevcik, A. K.; Arispe, W. M.; MacDonough, M. T.; Strecker, T. E.; Chen, S.-E.; Siim, B. G.; Chaplin, D. J.; Trawick, M. L.; Pinney, K. G. "Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of potent thiosemicarbazone based cathepsin L inhibitors" *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2010, 20 (4), 1415-1419.
- 106. Thimm, D.; Funke, M.; Meyer, A.; Müller, C. E. "6-Bromo-8-(4-[3H]methoxybenzamido)4-oxo-4H-chromene-2-carboxylic acid: A powerful tool for studying orphan G proteincoupled receptor GPR35" *J. Med. Chem.* 2013, 56 (17), 7084-7099.
- 107. Pace, V.; Castoldi, L.; Alcantara, A. R.; Holzer, W. "Highly efficient and environmentally benign preparation of Weinreb amides in the biphasic system 2-MeTHF/water" *RSC Adv.* 2013, *3* (26), 10158-10162.
- Corey, E. J.; Venkateswarlu, A. "Protection of hydroxyl groups as *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl derivatives" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1972**, *94* (17), 6190-6191.
- 109. Sonogashira, K.; Tohda, Y.; Hagihara, N. "A convenient synthesis of acetylenes: catalytic substitutions of acetylenic hydrogen with bromoalkenes, iodoarenes and bromopyridines" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1975**, *16* (50), 4467-4470.
- Cheng, J.; Sun, Y.; Wang, F.; Guo, M.; Xu, J.-H.; Pan, Y.; Zhang, Z. "A copper- and amine-free sonogashira reaction employing aminophosphines as ligands" *J. Org. Chem.* 2004, 69 (16), 5428-5432.

- Briones, J. F.; Davies, H. M. L. "Silver triflate-catalyzed cyclopropenation of internal alkynes with donor-/acceptor-substituted diazo compounds" *Org. Lett.* 2011, *13* (15), 3984-3987.
- 112. Zweifel, G.; Lewis, W. "Stereoselective syntheses of ((E)- and (Z)-1-halo-1alkenyl)silanes from alkynes" *J. Org. Chem.* **1978**, *43* (14), 2739-2744.
- 113. Dooley, J. D.; Reddy Chidipudi, S.; Lam, H. W. "Catalyst-controlled divergent C–H functionalization of unsymmetrical 2-aryl cyclic 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds with alkynes and alkenes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2013, *135* (29), 10829-10836.
- 114. Wei, Y.; Tang, J.; Cong, X.; Zeng, X. "Practical metal-free synthesis of chalcone derivatives via a tandem cross-dehydrogenative-coupling/elimination reaction" *Green Chem.* 2013, 15 (11), 3165-3169.
- 115. Fujihara, T.; Tatsumi, K.; Terao, J.; Tsuji, Y. "Palladium-catalyzed formal hydroacylation of allenes employing acid chlorides and hydrosilanes" *Org. Lett.* **2013**, *15* (9), 2286-2289.
- 116. Ooi, I.; Sakurai, T.; Takaya, J.; Iwasawa, N. "Protonation-triggered generation of acylcobalt species from alkyne–[Co₂(CO)₆] complexes and their reaction with alkenes" *Chem. Eur. J.* 2012, *18* (46), 14618-14621.

CHAPTER IV

MODULAR SYNTHESIS OF TETRA-SUBSTITUTED FURANS FROM ALKYNES, WEINREB AMIDES, AND ALDEHYDES E

4.1. INTRODUCTION

There has been a long standing interest in the development of simple methods to synthesize substituted heterocycles,¹⁻² as they are an important constitutents of natural products³⁻⁴, drug molecules, agrochemicals, fine chemicals,⁵⁻⁶ and materials.⁷⁻⁸ In particular, oxygen-containing heterocycles such as furans are an important structural motif in many biologically active molecules. Selaginoidine,⁹ nakadomarin A,¹⁰ pukalide,¹¹ teubrevin G,¹² furodysin,¹³ and pinguisone¹⁴ are examples of complex natural products that contain furan rings (Fig 4.1)¹⁵ and exhibit biological activity. Ranitidine (Zantac), **223**, is an FDA approved drug which is used to treat ulcers in the stomach and intestines was introduced in 1981 and became the highest selling drug in 1987. Furans not only have applications in pharmaceuticals but also in the flavoring and fragrance industries.¹⁶ In addition to their wide spread presence in natural products, they are also used as important building blocks in synthetic chemistry to prepare heterocyclic and acyclic organic compounds.¹⁷ The Diels-Alder reaction, oxidation to lactones, reduction to tetrahydrofurans, acting as 1,4-dicarbonyl surrogates, and reacting in re-cyclization processes are some of their important transformations (Scheme 4.1). A number of approaches have been utilized to synthesize various

substituted furans.¹⁸ Highly substituted furans can be prepared *via* current strategies, however, these methods utilize starting materials that have to be synthesized in 2-4 steps which is tedious and not atom economical. Additionally, they lack the ability to place a specific functional group at desired positions on the ring, thus limiting their utility in small molecule library development, performing SAR studies, and lead optimization of initial hits. What is needed is a method that can prepare polysubstituted furans in a single reaction vessel from readily available starting materials, and can also readily interchange functional groups around the ring selectively





4.2. APPROACHES TO SYNTHESIZE FURANS

Polysubstituted furans comprise an important class of five membered heterocycles having broad utility. Therefore, these types of structural motifs have been synthesized by number of synthetic methods.¹⁸⁻¹⁹ The classical approach to synthesize furan rings involves cyclocondensation of γ -diketones (Paal-Knorr furan synthesis)²⁰ and the Feist-Benary synthesis.²¹ Modern approaches encompass olefin cross methathesis,²² transition metal catalyzed cycloaddition,²³⁻²⁶ metalloradical cyclization,²⁷ and metal-catalyzed cycloisomerization reactions.

4.2.1. Paal-Knorr furan synthesis

Intramolecular condensation of 1,4-dicarbonyl compounds, **233**, as well as their surrogates, **234-236**, results in formation of furan rings (Scheme 4.2).^{20, 28-30} This method is known as the Paal-Knorr furan synthesis as C. Paal and L. Knorr simultaneously reported the transformation in 1884. Because the dehydration is facilitated by the presence of a mineral acid, functional groups that are sensitive to acidic conditions cannot tolerate the reaction conditions. Additionally, the necessary 1,4-diketones are relatively difficult to obtain.



4.2.2. Feist-Benary furan synthesis

The reaction between β -keto esters, **238**, and α -halogenated carbonyl compounds, **237**, under basic conditions results in the formation of furans.^{21,31} This reaction is called the Feist-Benary reaction. The regiochemistry depends on the reactivity of the α -halogenated compound. If it is an aldehyde, then the reaction sequence involves an aldol condensation followed by O-alkylation to give the substituted dihydrofuranol intermediate **239**. However, if a ketone is employed, C-alkylation gives rise to a 1,4-dicarbonyl intermediate **240**.^{21, 32} Both intermediates, upon acid treatment, result in substituted furans after dehydration (Scheme 4.3). The requirement of an



electron withdrawing group at the β -position of the carbonyl compound to promote deprotonation and the requirement of a strong base for the reaction to occur, limits functional group compatibility.

4.2.3. Olefin cross metathesis

A powerful and widely used reaction to synthesize substituted alkenes is olefin cross metathesis. Recently, Donohoe and Bower were able to show the utility of this technique to synthesize 2,5-di- and 2,3,5-trisubstituted furans (Scheme 4.4).²² The utilization of an expensive ruthenium catalyst (second generation Grubbs-Hoveyda catalyst), **249**, results in moderate to good yield of the substituted furans. This method is, however, limited to di- and trisubstituted furans.



4.2.4. [3+2] Cycloaddition reaction:

The most direct approach to synthesize polysubstituted furans is the [3+2] cycloaddition reaction of arylacetylenes with α -diazocarbonyl compounds. This reaction can be catalyzed by Rh,^{25-26, 33-34} Cu,²³ or Ag.²³ Electron rich arylacetylenes have been most effective in the reaction with diazocompounds containing electron withdrawing groups. These reactions are intrinsically ionic where the arylacetylene and electron withdrawing group stabilizes the zwitterion as shown in intermediate **254** (Scheme 4.5). Thus, aliphatic and electron deficient alkynes perform poorly and furans with sensitive functionalities also remain challenging. Recently, Zhang *et. al.* developed a similar transformation using a Co(II)-porphyrin catalyst which generates Co(III)-carbene radical **258** from α -diazocarbonyl compounds which undergo radical addition with alkynes to form furans (Scheme 4.6).²⁷ By using this metalloradical cycloaddition reaction approach, a wide range of

functional groups were well tolerated and both aliphatic and electron deficient alkynes produced moderate to good yields of furans. However, it is difficult to synthesize the electron-deficient diazo-compounds necessary to obtain trisubstituted furans.



4.2.5. Metal-catalyzed cycloisomerization reaction

The cycloisomerization of alkyne **262** and allene-containing compound **263** serves as an alternative approach to synthesize substituted furans (Scheme 4.7). Typically, allene substrates³⁵⁻³⁷

are less preferred over alkynyl substrates due to difficulties in their synthesis and issues with stability. Also, the furans obtained from reactions with the allenes cannot yield substitution at the 3 and 4 position of the furan generated. Various alkynyl substrates such as acetylenic ketones,³⁸⁻³⁹ alkynyl epoxides,⁴⁰ and alkynyl allyl alcohols⁴¹ have been used to generate substituted furans using transition metals such as Pt,⁴² Pd,³⁹ Au,^{37-38,40} Ag,⁴¹ In,⁴³ Hg,⁴⁴ Ru,⁴⁵ and Rh⁴⁶ catalysts. Use of these expensive metal catalysts and the starting materials which require several steps to synthesize are two limitations of this method.



4.2.6. Titanium promoted synthesis of substituted furans

Titanium promoted methods for the synthesis of 2,3-disubstituted furans⁴⁷ and polysubstituted furans⁴⁸ have been developed by Sato. While these methods can afford the furan in moderate yield they do require the use of specific substrates, 2-alkynal tetramethylethylene acetals



and α -methoxyacetonitrile, which creates limitations on the diversity of furans that can be prepared (Scheme 4.8). Additionally, the alkynyl acetal substrate requires a two-step synthesis. To increase the diversity of the prepared furans, a modular approach is necessary where the functional group

present at each specific position of the furan ring can be easily interchanged. As discussed in chapter 3, a method to prepare tri- and tetra-substituted enones via a titanium promoted reductive coupling of alkynes with Weinreb amides was developed. As part of that investigation we explored subsequent reactions of the in situ formed five-membered ring titanacycle and found that addition of a Lewis acid activated aldehyde reacted to form a tetrasubstituted furan in moderate yield. Based on this result we became interested in establishing the generality of this reaction to prepare tetrasubstituted furans modularly through the simple addition of unsymmetrical alkynes, Weinreb amides, and aldehydes. The potential power of this titanium promoted three component coupling is to selectively prepare tetrasubstituted furans, placing specific functional groups at desired positions by simply choosing the starting materials, that can also be easily interchanged allowing selective placement of functional groups.

4.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.3.1. Optimization of furan synthesis

Having already established the optimized conditions to generate intermediate 189^{49} a screening of Lewis acids with benzaldehyde was performed to determine the optimal Lewis acid for furan formation (Table 4.1). The titanacyclopentene intermediate 189 was generated to which a Lewis acid and benzaldehyde were added. In the absence of a Lewis acid, 2 equiv. of benzaldehyde did not react with the titanacycle intermediate 189 only affording the enone and unreacted aldehyde upon workup (Table 4.1, entry 1). Of the Lewis acids screened BF₃·OEt₂ (entry 2) afforded the highest yield of furan 193. The addition of molecular sieves had no effect on the efficiency of the reaction. While lowering the equivalence of benzaldehyde and BF₃·OEt₂ to 1.2 equiv. lowered the yield (entry 6), and increasing beyond 2 equiv. had no effect. The temperature of the reaction mixture upon addition of the Lewis acid and benzaldehyde had a direct effect on the yield (entries 7 and 8), with the highest yield being obtained when the reaction mixture was cooled to -78 °C before addition of the Lewis acid and aldehyde followed by warming to room temperature.

Additionally, it was found that the addition of a pre-complexed mixture of benzaldehyde and $BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$ in diethyl ether produced the best result versus the sequential injection of each reagent in either order (entries 9 and 10). Attempts to change the order of addition of substrates by reductively coupling the alkyne and aldehyde together first followed by addition of a Weinreb amide only



afforded the allylic alcohol. Stirring for longer than 2 h after addition of the BF_3 - OEt_2 and aldehyde did not improve the yield, with prolonged stirring (14–24 h) decreasing the yield of the furan by 10–15%.

4.3.2. Screening of the substrates

With the optimized conditions for the two step one-pot reaction established, substrate screening was initiated (Table 4.2). In accordance with our initial findings in the preparation on enones,⁴⁹ aliphatic Weinreb amides (**275-279**, **287-290**) afforded the furan in higher yield than aromatic Weinreb amides (**280-286**). The drop in yields with aromatic Weinreb amides is attributed to sterics in the five-membered- ring titanacycle intermediate inhibiting reaction with the aldehyde. This is corroborated by the decreased yield for furan **278** where use of the sterically congested *N*-methoxy-*N*,3,3- trimethylbutanamide, which couples with an alkyne in near quantitative yield,⁴⁹ inhibits reaction of the aldehyde with the titanacyclopentene. Aromatic (**275-279**), heteroaromatic

(289, 290), and α,β -unsaturated aldehydes (287, 288) afforded the best results, whereas aliphatic aldehydes (280-282) afforded the furan in low yield due to competing aldol reactions. The system tolerated halogen substituted aromatic aldehydes (Br, Cl, and F) regardless of position (275-278). A para-substituted benzaldehyde with a nitrile or a methoxy group inhibited furan formation presumably due to coordination with the titanium complex and/or BF₃·OEt₂. Whereas, a benzaldehyde with a TBS-protected phenol (279) participated in furan formation, indicating that coordination, not electronic deactivation, is the problem with the methoxy substituent. It had been established in our previous study that *N*-methoxy-*N*-methylpicolinamide inhibited coupling however the pyridine functional group was tolerated in the aldehyde, with nicotinaldehyde producing the 3(furan-2-yl) pyridine (289) in good yield. While aromatic Weinreb amides and aliphatic aldehydes afforded the furan in lower yield, it was established that the two could be combined to form the furan, albeit in low yield (281, 282).

As expected, unsymmetrical alkynes with a steric difference between the substituents attached to the alkyne afford the furan in high regioselectivity, with only one regioisomer being isolated. The use of an unsymmetrical alkyne with the steric differentiating group distal to the alkyne afforded a 60:40 mixture of regioisomers (**295**). The sterically more congested diphenylacetylene inhibited the efficiency of the reaction lowering the yield of the furan (**296**) product. A TMS protected alkyne was a viable substrate but the sterics of the silyl group also affected the yield of furan **297**. In our previous enone method it was established that a conjugated enyne could be reductively coupled with a Weinreb amide in good yield.⁴⁹ Whereas in this three component coupling the conjugated furan **298** formed from the enyne was obtained in low yield. It is suspected that furan **298** is being formed in high yield, but under the reaction conditions this conjugated furan is undergoing undesired reaction pathways leading to decomposition.

Weinreb amides containing aromatic halogens (**284-286**) and a primary alkyl chloride (**292**) were tolerated. An amide containing a TBS protected primary alcohol at the alpha carbon



afforded furan **291** in moderate yield. Again, the decrease in product formation with this amide is attributed to the sterics of the TBS group inhibiting reaction with the aldehyde. The system also tolerated a terminal olefin (**293**). The incorporation of trifluoromethyl groups into aromatic and heteroaromatic compounds has become an important issue due to the beneficial features of this functional group to positively affect lipophilicity, bioavailability, and metabolism in agro chemicals and drug candidates.⁵⁰⁻⁵¹ As such, we attempted to use 2,2,2-trifluoro-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylacetamide to prepare a trifluoromethylfuran, unfortunately the desired product was formed in low yield. Attempts to prepare a furan substituted with an ester by employing either ethyl pent-2-ynoate, or ethyl *N*-(methyl)carbamate failed to produce the furan. The Weinreb amide *N*-methoxy-*N*-methylacetamide for unclear reasons also did not form the desired furan.

4.4. CONCLUSIONS

In summary, it has been demonstrated that BF₃·OEt₂ activated aldehydes react with titanacyclopentenes, prepared in situ via a titanium mediated reductive coupling of an alkyne and Weinreb amide, to afford tetrasubstituted furans modularly. Unsymmetrically alkynes with a steric difference between the substituents attached to the alkyne afford a single furan regioisomer. The system tolerated aromatic and aliphatic halogens, silyl ethers, olefins, furan, and pyridine substituents. This multicomponent coupling provides concise access to polysubstituted furans modularly. Efforts in modifying the method to improve yields and expand the substrate scope are underway and will be reported shortly.

4.5. SUPPORTING INFORMATIONS

4.5.1. Methods

All of the reactions were carried out in an oven-dried or a flame-dried glassware under an atmosphere of argon with magnetic stirring. Reactions were monitored either by thin-layer chromatography with 0.25 mm pre-coated silica gel plates or by gas chromatography. Visualization of all TLCs was performed with UV light and/or staining with phosphomolybdic acid, KMnO₄, or

Seebach's stain. Purifications were performed by flash chromatography with silica gel (60 Å, 230–400 mesh) packed in glass columns and elute with hexanes/DCM, unless otherwise noted.

4.5.2. Materials

Diethyl ether, dichloromethane, and chloroform were dried using a solvent purification system that contained activated alumina. 1,2-Dichloroethane and pyridine were freshly distilled from calcium hydride under argon. All of the Weinreb amides were prepared following known literature procedures⁵² from purchased carboxylic acids.

4.5.3. Instrumentation

¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were obtained on a 400 MHz NMR spectrometer (400 MHz for ¹H and 101 MHz for ¹³C), and chemical shifts (δ , ppm) are reported relative to residual chloroform solvent peaks (δ = 7.26 ppm for ¹H and δ = 77.0 ppm for ¹³C). Data for ¹H NMR are reported as follows: chemical shift (multiplicity, coupling constant(s) in Hz, integration). Multiplicities are indicated as follows: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, quin = quintet, sex = sextet, sept = septet, m = multiplet or unresolved. The reported melting points are uncorrected. Low-resolution mass spectra were obtained by GC–MS.

4.5.4. General procedure G

A dry round-bottom flask under an atmosphere of argon was charged with alkyne (1 mmol), Weinreb amide (1.2 mmol), Ti(O*i*Pr)₄ (1.5 mmol, 0.44 mL), and anhydrous Et₂O (10 mL). To this stirring mixture was injected *i*-PrMgCl (2M in Et₂O, 3 mmol, 1.5 mL) dropwise over 5 minutes, the reaction was stirred for 4 hours at room temperature. The round-bottom flask was then placed in a dry-ice acetone bath and equilibrated to -78 °C. In a separate dry pear-shaped flask under an atmosphere of argon BF₃•OEt₂ (2 mmol, 0.247 mL) was injected into a solution of aldehyde (2 mmol) in Et₂O (2 mL) precooled with a dry-ice acetone bath. The BF₃•OEt₂-aldehyde mixture was stirred for 30 seconds then pulled up into a syringe. The solution of complexed aldehyde was then injected into the cooled reaction mixture containing the titanacycle. The cooling bath was removed and the reaction was allowed to warm to room temperature over 2 hours. At which point the reaction was quenched with 1 mL H₂O, dried over magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated. The crude material was subjected to flash chromatography (hexanes/CH₂Cl₂: 90/10).

Note 1: any solid reagents were added to the flask prior to the vacuum-purge cycle.

Note 2: a small aliquot of the quenched reaction mixture was used to measure the ratio of regioisomers of the product by NMR and GC.

4.5.5. General procedure H

A dry round-bottom flask under an atmosphere of argon was charged with alkyne (1 mmol), Weinreb amide (1.2 mmol), Ti(O*i*Pr)₄ (1.5 mmol, 0.44 mL), and anhydrous Et₂O (10 mL). To this stirring mixture was injected *i*-PrMgCl (2M in Et₂O, 3 mmol, 1.5 mL) dropwise over 5 minutes, the reaction was stirred for 4 hours at room temperature. The round-bottom flask was then placed in a dry-ice acetone bath and equilibrated to -78 °C, at which point BF₃•OEt₂ (2 mmol, 0.247 mL) and aldehyde (2 mmol) were sequentially injected. The cooling bath was removed and the reaction was allowed to warm to room temperature over 2 hours. At which point the reaction was quenched with 1 mL water, dried over magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated. The crude material was subjected to flash chromatography (hexanes/CH₂Cl₂: 90/10).

4.5.6. Spectral data of furans

3-methyl-2-phenethyl-4,5-diphenylfuran (193):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.219 mL), and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.223 g (66%) of furan **193** as a yellow oil after flash

chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.50-7.15 (m, 15H), 3.05 (m, 4H), 1.74 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 149.5, 146.3, 141.4, 134.4, 131.5, 129.9, 128.6, 128.5, 128.3, 128.2, 127.0, 126.5, 126.0, 125.2, 124.0, 117.1, 34.9, 28.5, 8.5; IR (neat) 3026, 2922, 1759, 1601, 1496, 1445, 1070, 948, 908, 765, 731, 691 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 338.

2-(3-bromophenyl)-4-methyl-5-phenethyl-3-phenylfuran (275):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.219 mL), and *m*-bromobenzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.233 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.265g (64%) of furan **275** as a yellow oil

after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.63 (m, 1H), 7.49-7.20 (m, 12H), 7.04 (m, 1H), 3.03 (m, 4H), 1.70 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 150.2, 144.6, 141.2, 133.9, 133.3, 129.7, 129.6, 129.2, 128.7, 128.5, 128.3, 127.8, 127.4, 126.1, 125.3, 123.4, 122.4, 117.4, 34.9, 28.5, 8.4; IR (neat) 3026, 2922, 1592, 1551, 1495, 1472, 1453, 1264, 1068, 993, 953, 907, 782, 698 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 416.

2-(4-bromophenyl)-5-phenethyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (276):



Subjection of 4-octyne (1.0 mmol, 0.147 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.219 mL), and 4bromobenzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.370 g) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.261 g (64%) of furan **276** as a yellow oil after

flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.50 (m, 4H), 7.31 (m, 2H), 7.26-7.17 (m, 3H), 3.01 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.92 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.54 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.23 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.60 (quin, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.42 (quin, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.02 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.96 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 149.8, 145.2, 141.4, 131.5, 131.2, 128.4, 128.3, 126.3, 126.0, 122.9, 121.9, 119.7, 35.0, 28.6, 26.5, 25.4, 24.0, 23.3, 14.3, 14.1; IR (neat) 3026, 2955, 2928, 2869, 1590, 1571, 1551, 1482, 1466, 1453, 1392, 1139, 1101, 1074, 1005, 825, 733, 696 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 410.

2-(2-chlorophenyl)-5-cyclohexyl-4-methyl-3-phenylfuran (277):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methylcyclohexane carboxamide (1.2 mmol, 0.201 mL), and 2chlorbenzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.225 g) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.180 g (51%) of furan **277** as a yellow oil after flash chromatography.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.39 (m, 1H), 7.32-7.16 (m, 7H), 7.12 (m, 1H), 2.76 (t, *J* = 11.6 Hz. 1H), 2.02 (s, 3H), 1.89 (t, *J* = 14 Hz, 4H), 1.72 (m, 3H), 1.36 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 155.7, 144.3, 133.9, 133.6, 131.9, 130.8, 130.2, 129.4, 128.8, 128.2, 126.5, 126.2, 125.7, 113.1, 36.3, 31.6, 26.5, 26.0, 9.0; IR (neat) 3057, 2926, 2852, 1604, 1571, 1497, 1463, 1444, 1190, 1049, 1005, 906, 730, 697 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 350.

2-(4-fluorophenyl)-5-neopentyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (278):



Subjection of 4-octyne (1.0 mmol, 0.147 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-3,3trimethylbutanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.204 mL), and 4fluorobenzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.214 mL) to general procedure **G**

afforded 0.080 g (25%) of furan **278** as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.54 (m, 2H), 7.07 (m, 2H), 2.53 (m, 2H), 2.48 (s, 2H), 2.33 (m, 2H), 1.59 (sex, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 1.52 (sex, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 1.01 (m, 15H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 162.4, 160.0, 149.2, 145.4, 128.8, 126.5, 126.4, 122.9, 121.6, 115.5, 115.2, 40.0, 32.3, 29.8, 26.6, 26.0, 24.0, 23.4, 14.3; IR (neat) 2955, 2931, 2870, 1593, 1559, 1503, 1464, 1393, 1377, 1364, 1231, 1157, 1140, 1093, 1012, 994, 832, 800 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 316.

tert-butyldimethyl(4-(5-phenethyl-3,4-dipropylfuran-2-yl)phenoxy)silane (279):



Subjection of 4-octyne (1.0 mmol, 0.147 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.220 mL) and 4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.487mL) to the general procedure **G** afforded 0.234 g (51%)

of the furan **279** as a yellowish oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.49 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (m, 2H), 7.23 (m, 3H), 7.69 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 3.01 (t, *J* = 8.0Hz, 2H), 2.93 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.52 (m, 2H), 2.23 (t, *J* = 8.0Hz, 2H), 1.61 (sex, *J* = 8.0Hz, 2H), 1.41 (sex, *J* = 7.6Hz, 2H), 1.04 (s, 9H), 1.02 (t, *J* = 7.2Hz, 3H), 0.93 (t, *J* = 7.6Hz, 3H), 0.26 (s, 6H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 154.2, 148.7, 146.3, 141.7, 128.5, 128.3, 126.3, 125.9, 125.9, 121.4, 120.7, 120.1, 35.1, 28.7, 26.5, 25.7, 25.5, 24.0, 23.6, 18.2, 14.4, 14.1, -4.4. IR (neat): 2955, 2929, 2858, 1606, 1560, 1502, 1455, 1253, 1169, 907, 836, 779, 732, 697 cm⁻¹. GCMS [M⁺] 462.

2-heptyl-4-methyl-5-phenethyl-3-phenylfuran (280):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.219 mL), and octanal (2 mmol, 0.312 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.047g (13%) of furan **280** as a yellow oil after flash

chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.43 (m, 2H), 7.36 – 7.20 (m, 8H), 2.99 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.92 (t, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.64 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.78 (s, 3H), 1.67 (quin, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.31 (m, 8H), 0.92 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 150.0, 147.9, 141.6, 134.4, 129.4, 128.5, 128.2, 128.2, 126.2, 125.9, 122.4, 114.3, 35.0, 31.8, 29.2, 28.9, 26.4, 22.6, 14.1, 8.8; IR (neat) 3027, 2923, 2855, 1605, 1584, 1495, 1453, 1069, 1005, 993, 748, 696 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 360.

2-heptyl-4-methyl-3-phenyl-5-(4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)furan (281):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), 4trifluoromethyl-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-benzamide (2 mmol, 0.369 mL), and octanal (2 mmol, 0.312 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.072g (18%) of furan **281** as a yellow oil after flash

chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.78 (m, 2H), 7.67 (m, 2H), 7.46 (m, 2H), 7.37 (m, 1H), 7.31 (m, 2H), 2.70 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.23 (s, 3H), 1.72 (quin, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.27 (m, 8H), 0.89 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 152.5, 145.4, 135.3, 133.2, 129.8, 128.4, 127.9, 126.9, 125.49, 125.45, 125.42, 125.38, 125.2, 124.8, 123.0, 118.7, 31.8, 29.2, 29.0, 28.6, 26.5, 22.6, 14.1, 10.9. IR (neat) 2927, 2856, 1617, 1444, 1322, 1165, 1123, 1068, 1012, 842, 769 cm⁻¹. GCMS [M⁺] 400.

3-methyl-5-phenethyl-2,4-diphenylfuran (282):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-benzamide (2 mmol, 0.304 mL), and 3-phenyl propanaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.263 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.028g (8%) of furan **282** as a yellow oil after flash

chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 Hz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (m, 2 H), 7.51-7.24 (m, 10H), 7.13 (m, 3H), 3.01 (m, 4H), 2.18 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 149.9, 147.0, 141.3, 133.3, 132.0, 129.7, 128.5, 128.5, 128.32, 128.27, 126.7, 126.4, 126.0, 125.4, 125.3, 116.4, 34.9, 28.7, 10.7; IR (neat) 3025, 2922, 1598, 1494, 1442, 1072, 1004, 762 cm⁻¹. GCMS [M⁺] 338.

3-methyl-2,4,5-triphenylfuran (283):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-benzamide (2 mmol, 0.304 mL), and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.076g (24%) of furan **283** as a white solid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz,

CDCl₃) δ 7.78 (m, 2H), 7.52-7.15 (m, 13H), 2.15 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 147.7, 147.1, 133.9, 131.7, 131.0, 130.2, 128.8, 128.6, 128.3, 127.4, 127.0, 126.9, 126.0, 125.5, 125.4, 118.8, 10.4. The physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁵³

2-(4-fluorophenyl)-3-methyl-4,5-diphenylfuran (284):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), 4-fluoro-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-benzamide (2 mmol, 0.311 mL), and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.109g (33%) of furan **284** as a white solid (m.p. = 106 °C) after

flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.81 (m, 2H), 7.61 – 7.41 (m, 7H), 7.36 – 7.19 (m, 5H), 2.19 (s, 1H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 162.9, 160.5, 147.1, 146.9, 133.7, 130.9, 130.1, 128.8, 128.3, 127.9, 127.9, 127.4, 127.2, 127.1, 127.0, 125.9, 125.4, 118.4, 115.7, 115.5, 10.3; IR (neat) 3053, 2921, 1599, 1501, 1444, 1222, 1154, 1004, 943, 916, 832, 777, 765, 699 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 328.

2-(4-fluorophenyl)-5-phenyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (285):



Subjection of 4-octyne (1.0 mmol, 0.147 mL), 4-fluoro-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-benzamide (2 mmol, 0.311 mL), and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.052g (16%) of furan **285** as a white solid (m.p. = $38 \degree$ C) after flash chromatography.
¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (m, 4H), 7.44 (m, 2H), 7.29 (m, 1H), 7.13 (m, 2H), 2.62 (m, 4H), 1.67 (m, 4H), 1.06 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 162.9, 160.4, 147.2, 146.5, 131.8, 128.5, 128.3, 128.2, 127.1, 127.0, 126.7, 125.3, 123.9, 123.5, 115.6, 115.4, 26.3, 23.6, 14.4; IR (neat) 3051, 2956, 2930, 2869, 1601, 1500, 1489, 1468, 1453, 1228, 1155, 1096, 830, 719 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 322.

2-(4-chlorophenyl)-5-phenyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (286):



Subjection of 4-octyne (1.0 mmol, 0.147 mL), 4-chloro-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-benzamide (2 mmol, 0.326 mL), and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.038g (11%) of furan **286** as a yellow oil after flash

chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (m, 2H), 7.63 (m, 2H), 7.46-7.36 (m, 4H), 7.28 (m, 1H), 2.67-2.57 (m, 4H), 1.71-1.59 (m, 4H), 1.05 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 6H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 147.5, 146.2, 132.2, 131.7, 130.4, 128.7, 128.6, 126.8, 126.4, 125.4, 124.5, 124.1, 26.3, 26.3, 23.6, 23.5, 14.42, 14.41; IR (neat) 3053, 2956, 2929, 2870, 1601, 1491, 1485, 1467, 1395, 1377, 1093, 1010, 906, 827, 762, 715 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 338.

(E)-3-methyl-2-phenethyl-4-phenyl-5-styrylfuran (287):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.219 mL), and *trans*-cinnamaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.252 mL) to general procedure **H** afforded 0.243 g (67%) of furan **287** as a

yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.44 (m, 4H), 7.32 (m, 7H), 7.25(m, 4H), 7.06 (d, *J* = 16.4 Hz, 1H), 6.88 (d, *J* = 16.4 Hz, 1H), 3.05 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 2.98 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.79 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 150.4, 147.0, 141.3, 137.6, 133.4, 129.7, 128.6, 128.5, 128.4, 128.3, 127.1, 126.9, 126.5, 126.2, 126.0, 125.9, 116.2, 115.5, 34.9, 28.6, 8.6; IR (neat) 3025, 2922, 1600, 1494, 1447, 1264, 1071, 1006, 954, 768 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 364.

(E)-2-(heptan-3-yl)-3-methyl-4-phenyl-5-(prop-1-en-1-yl)furan (288):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), 2-ethyl-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylhexanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.246 mL), and crotonaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.166 mL) to general procedure **H** afforded 0.075 g (25%) of furan **288** as a yellow oil after flash chromatography.

¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.40 (m, 2H), 7.31 (m, 3H), 6.19 (m, 2H), 2.59 (sept, J = 5.2 Hz, 1H), 1.90 (s, 3H), 1.82 (d, J = 6 Hz, 3H), 1.68 (m, 4H), 1.30 (quin, J = 6.8 Hz, 2H), 1.23 (sex, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.88 (t, J = 6.8 Hz, 3H), 0.85 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 152.3, 146.5, 133.9, 129.7, 128.2, 126.4, 123.2, 123.1, 118.9, 115.4, 39.2, 33.9, 30.0, 27.5, 22.7, 18.4, 14.1, 12.3, 8.9; IR (neat) 2958, 2929, 2871, 1771, 1667, 1605, 1545, 1492, 1445, 1378, 1270, 1072, 1005, 991, 910, 731, 699 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 296.

3-(4-methyl-5-phenethyl-3-phenylfuran-2-yl)pyridine (289):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.219 mL), and 3-pyridinecarboxaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.188 mL) to general procedure **H** afforded 0.234 g (69%) of furan **289** as a yellow oil

after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.67 (m, 1H), 8.38 (m, 1H), 7.64 (m, 1H), 7.48-7.20 (m, 10H), 7.14 (m, 1H), 3.04 (t, *J* = 6 Hz, 2H), 3.02 (t, *J* = 6 Hz, 2H), 1.72 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 150.6, 147.1, 146.3, 143.4, 141.1, 133.5, 131.8, 129.6, 128.8, 128.4, 128.4, 128.3, 127.5, 126.1, 125.8, 123.0, 117.4, 34.8, 28.4, 8.3; IR (neat) 3027, 2923, 1679, 1603, 1495, 1453, 1422, 1265, 1070, 1022, 1006, 908, 729, 698 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 339.

5-phenethyl-3,4-dipropyl-2,2'-bifuran (290):



Subjection of 4-octyne (1.0 mmol, 0.147 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.219 mL), and furan-2-carbaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.166 mL) to general procedure **H** afforded

0.112 g (35%) of furan **290** as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.45 (m, 1H), 7.34-7.17 (m, 5H), 6.47 (m, 2H), 3.00 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.90 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.57 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.20 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.59 (sex, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 1.40 (sex, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.00 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.91 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 149.7, 147.6, 141.5, 140.9, 139.9, 128.4, 128.3, 125.9, 122.4, 121.3, 111.0, 104.2, 35.0, 28.7, 25.8, 25.3, 23.8, 23.6, 14.1, 14.0; IR (neat) 3026, 2957, 2929, 2869, 1652, 1603, 1533, 1498, 1477, 1453, 1377, 1211, 1164, 1070, 1029, 1004, 919, 885, 794, 725, 697 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 322.

tert-butyldimethyl((3-methyl-4,5-diphenylfuran-2-yl)methoxy)silane (291):



Subjection of 1-phenyl-1-propyne (1.0 mmol, 0.125 mL), 2-((tertbutyldimethylsilyl)oxy)-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylacetamide (1.2 mmol, 0.296 mL), and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to

general procedure **G** afforded a mixture of regioisomers (85/15) yielding 0.101 g (27%) of the major furan isomer **291** as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. Major isomer: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.39 (m, 5H), 7.30 (m, 2H), 7.24-7.14 (m, 3H), 4.74 (s, 2H), 1.93 (s, 3H), 0.96 (s, 9H), 0.16 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 148.3, 147.4, 134.1, 131.2, 130.0, 128.7, 128.2, 127.2, 126.9, 125.5, 124.1, 119.6, 56.5, 26.0, 18.6, 8.8, -5.1; IR (neat) 2953, 2927, 2856, 1678, 1601, 1540, 1471, 1463, 1447, 1386, 1315, 1252, 1175, 1069, 1025, 1005, 910, 834, 772, 698 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 364.

2-(2-chloroethyl)-5-phenyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (292):



0.116 g (40%) of the furan **292** as a greenish oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.61 (m, 2H), 7.41 (m, 2H), 7.26 (m, 1H), 3.79 (t, *J* = 8 Hz, 2H), 3.12 (t, *J* = 7.6 *Hz*, 2H), 3.58 (m, 2H), 2.37 (m, 2H), 2.61 (m, 4H), 1.03 (t, *J* = 7.6*Hz*, 3H), 1.01 (t, *J* = 7.6*Hz*, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) 147.1, 146.0, 132.0, 128.5, 126.5, 125.1, 123.4, 122.2, 42.3, 30.3, 26.5, 25.5, 24.2, 23.5, 14.4, 14.2. IR (neat): 2957, 2930, 2869, 1602, 1491, 1465, 1377, 1253, 1138, 1072, 762, 667 cm⁻¹. GCMS [M⁺] 290.

2-(dec-9-en-1-yl)-5-phenyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (293):



Subjection of 4-octyne (1.0 mmol, 0.147 mL) and N-methoxy-N-methylundec-10-enamide (1.2 mmol, 0.299 mL) and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to

the general procedure **G** afforded 0.185 g (51%) of the furan **293** as a yellowish oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.61 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.40 (t, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.23 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 5.84 (m, 1H), 4.99 (dd, J = 22.0 Hz, 10.0 Hz, 2H), 2.59 (m, 4H), 2.34 (t, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.07 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.66 (m, 4H), 1.54 (m, 2H), 1.34 (m, 10H), 1.04 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.99 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 150.8, 145.9, 139.2, 132.5, 128.4, 125.9, 124.8, 122.2, 121.0, 114.1, 33.8, 29.4, 29.38, 29.36, 29.1, 28.9, 28.7, 26.6, 26.4, 25.6, 24.3, 23.5, 14.4, 14.2. IR (neat): 2955, 2925, 2854, 1639, 1602, 1558, 1491, 1464, 1138, 990, 761, 691 cm⁻¹. GCMS [M⁺] 366.

tert-butyl(4-(5-(2-chloroethyl)-3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-4-hexylfuran-2-yl)phenoxy)

dimethylsilane (294):



Subjection of 1-(oct-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene (1.0 mmol, 0.219 mL), 3-chloro-*N*-methoxy-*N*-methylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.160 mL), and 4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy) benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.487 mL) to general procedure **G**

afforded 0.056 g (11%) of furan **294** as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.43 (m, 2H), 7.86 (m, 2H), 5.62 (s, 1H), 3.73 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 3.06 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.50 (m, 2H), 2.15 (m, 4H), 1.72 (m, 4H), 1.52 (quin, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 1.28 (m, 6H), 1.00 (s, 9H), 0.88 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H), 0.22 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 154.5, 147.1, 144.8, 130.2, 128.2, 128.0, 126.8, 125.4, 120.5, 120.1, 77.3, 77.0, 76.7, 42.4, 31.5, 30.4, 30.4, 29.8, 29.4, 25.7, 25.6, 24.6, 23.1, 22.6, 22.2, 18.2, 14.1, -4.4; IR (neat) 2927, 2856, 1605, 1559, 1501, 1471, 1463, 1253, 1169, 1136, 1100, 1005, 908, 837, 804, 779, 733 cm⁻¹. GCMS [M⁺] 500.

tert-butyl(2-(4-ethyl-5-phenethyl-2-phenylfuran-3-yl)ethoxy)dimethylsilane (295) (major isomer) and tert-butyl(2-(4-ethyl-2-phenethyl-5-phenylfuran-3-yl)ethoxy)dimethylsilane (minor isomer):



Subjection of *tert*-butyl(hex-3-yn-1-yloxy)dimethylsilane (1.0 mmol, 0.252 mL), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.219 mL), and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.225 g (52%) of an inseparable

mixture of these regioisomeric furans (r.r. = 60/40) as a yellow oil after flash chromatography. **Major isomer**: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69 (m, 2H, measured 1.26H), 7.41 (m, 2H), 7.33-7.15 (m, 6H), 3.79 (t, J = 6.8 Hz, 2H, measured 1.29H), 2.97 (m, 4H), 2.87 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H, measured 1.35H), 2.30 (q, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H, measured 1.3H), 1.02 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 3H, measured 1.94H), 0.91 (s, 9H), 0.06 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 149.2, 147.3, 141.5, 132.0, 128.47, 128.45, 128.32, 126.4, 125.97, 125.2, 123.62, 117.8, 63.1, 35.1, 28.6, 28.2, 25.98, 18.4, 16.5, 15.6, -5.29;



Minor isomer: ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.62 (m, 2H, measured 0.68H), 7.41 (m, 2H), 7.33-7.15 (m, 6H), 3.52 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H, measured 0.68H), 2.97 (m, 4H), 2.64 (q, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H, measured 0.70H), 2.51 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H, measured 0.69H),

1.23 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 3H, measured 1.09H), 0.91 (s, 9H), 0.06 (s, 6H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 150.4, 146.2, 141.4, 132.1, 128.47, 128.45, 128.3, 126.3, 126.0, 125.0, 123.65, 117.9, 63.7, 35.0, 28.7, 27.2, 25.99, 18.42, 17.5, 14.9, -5.25; IR (mixture of isomers, neat) 3027, 2953, 2927, 2856, 1602, 1559, 1493, 1471, 1463, 1386, 1252, 1087, 1025, 1005, 908, 833, 812, 774, 733, 694 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 434.

2-phenethyl-3,4,5-triphenylfuran (296):



Subjection of diphenyl acetylene (1.0 mmol, 0.178 g), *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.219 mL), and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to general procedure **G** afforded 0.135 g (34%) of furan **296** as a yellow solid (m.p. = 112 °C) after

flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.54 (m, 2H), 7.28 (m, 16H), 6.97 (m, 2H), 3.15 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 150.5, 146.9, 141.2, 133.6, 132.7, 131.2, 130.3, 130.2, 129.7, 128.5, 128.3, 128.2, 128.1, 127.9, 126.9, 126.4, 126.1, 125.6, 124.4, 122.9, 34.8, 28.7; IR (neat) 3025, 1600, 1495, 1440, 1068, 1025, 977, 955, 764, 698 cm⁻¹; GCMS [M⁺] 400.

trimethyl(5-phenethyl-2-phenyl-4-(3-phenylpropyl)furan-3-yl)silane (297):

Ph Ph Subjection of trimethyl(5-phenylpent-1-yn-1-yl)silane (1.0 mmol, 0.240 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2

mmol, 0.220 mL) and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to the general procedure **G** afforded 0.135 g (31%) of the furan **297** as a colorless oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.35 (m, 2H), 7.25 (m, 3H), 7.16 (m, 4H), 7.05 (m, 6H), 2.81 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.72 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.50 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.24 (m, 2H), 1.60 (pent, *J* = 8 Hz, 2H), 0.00 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 157.7, 150.4, 142.2, 141.6, 133.6, 129.1, 128.4, 128.4, 128.3, 128.3, 128.0, 127.8, 126.0, 125.7, 125.2, 114.6, 35.9, 35.1, 33.5, 28.3, 25.1, 1.0. IR (neat): 3026, 2945, 2858, 1602, 1539, 1495, 1477, 1453, 1249, 1094, 1069, 1027, 908, 835, 732 cm⁻¹. GCMS [M⁺] 438.

3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-4-hexyl-5-phenethyl-2-phenylfuran (298):



Subjection of 1-(oct-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene (1.0 mmol, 0.218 mL) and *N*-methoxy-*N*-methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (1.2 mmol, 0.220 mL) and benzaldehyde (2 mmol, 0.204 mL) to the general procedure **G** afforded 0.039 g (10%) of the furan **298** as

a yellowish oil after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.61 (d, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.41 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.28 (m, 4H), 7.18 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 5.42 (m, 1H), 3.00 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.93 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 2.55 (m, 2H), 2.13 (m, 2H), 2.01 (m, 2H), 1.67 (m, 4H), 1.56 (m, 2H), 1.31 (m, 6H), 0.90 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 148.9, 146.1, 141.6, 132.3, 130.4, 128.5, 128.4, 128.3, 127.7, 127.0, 126.2, 125.9, 125.2, 122.0, 35.2, 31.5, 30.2, 29.8, 29.4, 28.8, 25.6, 24.7, 23.1, 22.6, 22.2, 14.1. IR (neat): 3026, 2924, 2854, 1727, 1601, 1558, 1491, 1454, 1377, 1134, 1071, 1023, 918, 763, 693 cm⁻¹. GCMS [M⁺] 412.

References

- Katritzky, A. R.; Ramsden, C. A.; Joule, J. A.; Ahdandkin, V. V., *Handbook of Heterocylic Chemistry*. 3rd ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 2010.
- Pozharskii, A. F.; Soldatenkov, A. T.; Katritzky, A. R., *Heterocycles in Life and Society*. Wiley: Chichester, 1997.
- 3. Nakanishi, K., *Natural Products Chemistry*. Kodansha: Tokyo, 1974.
- Majumdar, K. C.; Chattopadhyay, S. K., *Heterocycles in Natural Product Synthesis*. Wiley: Chichester, 2011.
- Yang, Y.; N.C. Wong, H. "Regiospecific synthesis of 3,4-disubstituted furans and 3substituted furans using 3,4-Bis(tri-*n*-butylstannyl)furan and 3-(tri-n-butylstannyl)furan" *Tetrahedron* 1994, 50 (32), 9583-9608.
- Gabriele, B.; Salerno, G.; Lauria, E. "A General and Facile Synthesis of Substituted Furans by Palladium-Catalyzed Cycloisomerization of (Z)-2-En-4-yn-1-ols" *J. Org. Chem.* 1999, 64 (21), 7687-7692.
- Bunz, U. H. F. "α-Oligofurans: Molecules without a twist" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2010, 49 (30), 5037-5040.
- Yiu, A. T.; Beaujuge, P. M.; Lee, O. P.; Woo, C. H.; Toney, M. F.; Fréchet, J. M. J. "Sidechain tunability of furan-containing low-band-gap polymers provides control of structural order in efficient solar cells" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134* (4), 2180-2185.
- Cassidy, M. P.; Özdemir, A. D.; Padwa, A. "An Aza-Wittig/π-furan cyclization approach toward the homoerythrina alkaloid (±)-Selaginoidine" *Org. Lett.* 2005, 7 (7), 1339-1342.
- Bonazzi, S.; Cheng, B.; Wzorek, J. S.; Evans, D. A. "Total synthesis of (-)-Nakadomarin A" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2013, *135* (25), 9338-9341.
- 11. Missakian, M. G.; Burreson, B. J.; Scheuer, P. J. "Pukalide, a furanocembranolide from the soft coral Sinularia abrupta" *Tetrahedron* **1975**, *31* (20), 2513-2515.

- Paquette, L. A.; Efremov, I. "Teubrevin G and Teubrevin H: The first total syntheses of rearranged neo-clerodanes including solutions to the problems of chirality merger and furan ring assembly" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2001, *123* (19), 4492-4501.
- Vaillancourt, V.; Agharahimi, M. R.; Sundram, U. N.; Richou, O.; Faulkner, D. J.; Albizati,
 K. F. "Synthesis and absolute configuration of the antiparasitic furanosesquiterpenes (-)furodysin and (-)-furodysinin. Camphor as a six-membered ring chiral pool template" *J. Org. Chem.* 1991, *56* (1), 378-387.
- Asakawa, Y., Chemical Constituents of Hepaticae. In Prgress in the Chemistry of Organic Natural Products. Springer: Berlin, 1982; Vol. 42.
- Silwal, S.; Rahaim, R. J. "Modular synthesis of tetra-substituted furans from alkynes, Weinreb amides, and aldehydes" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2015, *56* (42), 5738-5742.
- 16. Vernin, G., *The Chemistry of Heterocyclic Flavouring and Aroma Compounds*. Ellis Horwood: Chichester, 1982.
- 17. Lipshutz, B. H. "Five-membered heteroaromatic rings as intermediates in organic synthesis" *Chem. Rev.* **1986**, *86* (5), 795-819.
- Kirsch, S. F. "Syntheses of polysubstituted furans: recent developments" Organic & Biomol. Chem. 2006, 4 (11), 2076-2080.
- Brown, R. C. D. "Developments in Furan Syntheses" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2005, 44 (6), 850-852.
- 20. L., K.; Czako, B., Paal-Knorr Furan Synthesis. In *Strategic Application of Named Reactions in Organic Synthesis*, Elsevier Academic Press: San Diego, 2005; pp 326-327.
- 21. L., K.; Czako, B., Feist-Benary Furan Synthesis. In *Strategic Applications of Named Reactions in Organic Synthesis*, Elsevier Academic Press: San Diego, 2005; pp 166-167.
- 22. Donohoe, T. J.; Bower, J. F. "An expedient route to substituted furans via olefin crossmetathesis" *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **2010**, *107* (8), 3373-3376.

- Zhou, L.; Ma, J.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, J. "Copper-catalyzed cascade coupling/cyclization of terminal alkynes with diazoacetates: a straightforward route for trisubstituted furans" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2011, 52 (42), 5484-5487.
- He, C.; Guo, S.; Ke, J.; Hao, J.; Xu, H.; Chen, H.; Lei, A. "Silver-Mediated Oxidative C– H/C–H Functionalization: A Strategy To Construct Polysubstituted Furans" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134* (13), 5766-5769.
- Davies, H. M. L.; Romines, K. R. "Direct synthesis of furans by [3 + 2] cycloadditions between rhodium(II) acetate stabilized carbenoids and acetylenes" *Tetrahedron* 1988, 44 (11), 3343-3348.
- Briones, J. F.; Davies, H. M. L. "Rh₂(S-PTAD)₄-catalyzed asymmetric cyclopropenation of aryl alkynes" *Tetrahedron* 2011, 67 (24), 4313-4317.
- Cui, X.; Xu, X.; Wojtas, L.; Kim, M. M.; Zhang, X. P. "Regioselective synthesis of multisubstituted furans via metalloradical cyclization of alkynes with α-diazocarbonyls: construction of functionalized α-oligofurans" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134* (49), 19981-19984.
- Joule, J. A.; Mills, K., In *Heterocyclic Chemistry*, 4th ed.; Blacckwell Publishing: Massachusetts, 2000; pp 308-310.
- 29. Zheng, X.; Lu, S.; Li, Z. "The rearrangement of tert-butylperoxides for the construction of polysubstituted furans" *Org. Lett.* **2013**, *15* (21), 5432-5435.
- Chen, L.; Du, Y.; Zeng, X.-P.; Shi, T.-D.; Zhou, F.; Zhou, J. "Successively recycle waste as catalyst: A one-pot Wittig/1,4-Reduction/Paal–Knorr sequence for modular synthesis of substituted furans" Org. Lett. 2015, 17 (6), 1557-1560.
- 31. Ghazvini, M.; Shahvelayati, A. S.; Sabri, A.; Nasrabadi, F. Z. "Synthesis of furan and dihydrofuran derivatives via Feist–Benary reaction in the presence of ammonium acetate in aqueous ethanol" *Chem. of Heterocycl. Compd.* **2016**, *52* (3), 161-164.

- Calter, M. A.; Korotkov, A. "Catalytic, asymmetric, interrupted Feist–Bénary reactions of α-tosyloxyacetophenones" *Org. Lett.* 2011, *13* (23), 6328-6330.
- Pang, W.; Zhu, S.; Xin, Y.; Jiang, H.; Zhu, S. "Rh₂(OAc)₄ catalyzed formation of fluorinecontaining polysubstituted furans from diazocompounds and aromatic alkynes" *Tetrahedron* 2010, 66 (6), 1261-1266.
- 34. Zhang, Z.; Han, J.; Zhu, S. "Facile synthesis of novel CF₃-substituted ring-fused furo[2,3c]pyrazoles through Rh₂(OAc)₄ catalyzed [3+2] cycloaddition of 4-diazo-1-phenyl-3-(trifluoromethyl)-1H-pyrazol-5(4H)-one with aromatic alkynes" *Tetrahedron* 2011, 67 (44), 8496-8501.
- 35. Marshall, J. A.; Robinson, E. D. "A mild method for the synthesis of furans. Application to 2,5-bridged furano macrocyclic compounds" *J. Org. Chem.* **1990**, *55* (11), 3450-3451.
- Dudnik, A. S.; Gevorgyan, V. "Metal-catalyzed [1,2]-alkyl shift in allenyl ketones: Synthesis of multisubstituted furans" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2007, *46* (27), 5195-5197.
- Hashmi, A. S. K.; Schwarz, L.; Choi, J. H.; Frost, T. M. "A new gold-catalyzed C–C bond formation" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2000, *39* (13), 2285-2288.
- 38. Kazem Shiroodi, R.; Rivera Vera, C. I.; Dudnik, A. S.; Gevorgyan, V. "Synthesis of furans and pyrroles via migratory and double migratory cycloisomerization reactions of homopropargylic aldehydes and imines" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2015**, *56* (23), 3251-3254.
- Fukuda, Y.; Shiragami, H.; Utimoto, K.; Nozaki, H. "Synthesis of substituted furans by palladium-catalyzed cyclization of acetylenic ketones" *J. Org. Chem.* 1991, *56* (20), 5816-5819.
- Hashmi, A. S. K.; Bührle, M.; Salathé, R.; Bats, J. W. "Gold Catalysis: Synthesis of 3 Acylindenes from 2-Alkynylaryl Epoxides" *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2008, 350 (13), 2059-2064.
- Marshall, J. A.; Sehon, C. A. "Synthesis of furans and 2,5-dihydrofurans by Ag(I)catalyzed isomerization of allenones, alkynyl allylic alcohols, and allenylcarbinols" *J. Org. Chem.* 1995, *60* (18), 5966-5968.

- 42. Allegretti, P. A.; Ferreira, E. M. "Generation of α,β-unsaturated platinum carbenes from homopropargylic alcohols: rearrangements to polysubstituted furans" *Org. Lett.* 2011, *13* (21), 5924-5927.
- 43. Tsuji, H.; Yamagata, K.-i.; Ueda, Y.; Nakamura, E. "Indium-catalyzed synthesis of furans and pyrroles via cyclization of α-propargyl-β-keto esters" *Synlett* 2011, 2011 (07), 1015-1017.
- 44. Miller, D. "The synthesis of furans from acetylenic epoxides and diols" *J. Chem. Soc. C* 1969, (1), 12-15.
- 45. Seiller, B.; Bruneau, C.; Dixneuf, P. H. "Synthesis of furans by cyclization of 2-En-4-yn1-ols in the presence of ruthenium and palladium catalysts" *Tetrahedron* 1995, *51* (47), 13089-13102.
- 46. Lenden, P.; Entwistle, D. A.; Willis, M. C. "An alkyne hydroacylation route to highly substituted furans" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50* (45), 10657-10660.
- 47. Teng, X.; Wada, T.; Okamoto, S.; Sato, F. "One-pot preparation of 2-substituted and 2,3disubstituted furans from 2-alkynal tetramethylethylene acetals and aldehydes using a divalent titanium reagent Ti(O-*i*-Pr)₄/2 *i*-PrMgX" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42* (32), 5501-5503.
- Suzuki, D.; Nobe, Y.; Watai, Y.; Tanaka, R.; Takayama, Y.; Sato, F.; Urabe, H. "Facile Preparation of Various Heteroaromatic Compounds via Azatitanacyclopentadiene Intermediates" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2005, *127* (20), 7474-7479.
- 49. Silwal, S.; Rahaim, R. J. "Regioselective synthesis of enones via a titanium-promoted coupling of unsymmetrical alkynes with weinreb amides" *J. Org. Chem.* **2014**, *79* (17), 8469-8476.
- 50. Zhu, W.; Wang, J.; Wang, S.; Gu, Z.; Aceña, J. L.; Izawa, K.; Liu, H.; Soloshonok, V. A.
 "Recent advances in the trifluoromethylation methodology and new CF₃-containing drugs" *J. Fluorine Chem.* 2014, *167*, 37-54.

- Wang, J.; Sánchez-Roselló, M.; Aceña, J. L.; del Pozo, C.; Sorochinsky, A. E.; Fustero, S.;
 Soloshonok, V. A.; Liu, H. "Fluorine in pharmaceutical industry: Fluorine-containing drugs introduced to the market in the last decade (2001–2011)" *Chem. Rev.* 2014, *114* (4), 2432-2506.
- 52. Shintani, R.; Kimura, T.; Hayashi, T. "Rhodium/diene-catalyzed asymmetric 1,4-addition of arylboronic acids to α,β-unsaturated Weinreb amides" *Chem. Commun.* 2005, 3213-3214.
- Shindo, M.; Yoshimura, Y.; Hayashi, M.; Soejima, H.; Yoshikawa, T.; Matsumoto, K.;
 Shishido, K. "Synthesis of multisubstituted furans, pyrroles, and thiophenes via ynolates" Org. Lett. 2007, 9 (10), 1963-1966.

CHAPTER V

CROSS-COUPLING OF AROMATIC/ALIPHATIC NITRILES WITH ORGANOHALIDES: A DUAL CATALYTIC APPROACH

5.1. INTRODUCTION

Ketones are important functional groups that are present in a wide range of agro-chemicals, pharmaceuticals,¹ biologically active complex natural products,²⁻⁴ and electronic⁵ as well as polymeric materials.⁶ Natural products as simple as vanillin, *R*-carvone, *Z*-jasmone, camphor, and *R*-muscone which have been widely used in the fragrance industries and as complex as progesterone, a female sex hormone, spongistatin 1,⁴ isolated from a marine sponge, which has potential anti-cancer activity all contain a ketone functional group in their structure. Not only natural products, but also a large number of marketed drugs such as Tasmar used to treat Parkinson's disease, oxycodone a semi-synthetic opioid used as an analgesic, rimexolone used for inflammation of the eyes, and raloxifene for the prevention of osteoporosis and reduction of breast cancer,⁷ contain ketones and there are many more (Fig 5.1). Besides being ubiquitous, ketones are also used as versatile building blocks that can be converted to many different functional groups as well as being utilized to form new C-C bonds.⁸⁻⁹ Ketones can be reduced to alcohols and simple alkanes, converted to hemiketals and ketals, and can form new C-C bonds when reacted with the organometallic reagents and other carbon nucleophiles. They can also be converted to imines, enamines, and oximes by reacting with suitable amines (Scheme 5.1).⁸

Due to the widespread use of this functional group, many approaches to form ketones have been well established. Yet, there is still room for improvement. New methodologies that couple readily available substrates utilizing earth abundant metals catalytically instead of using pre-formed organometallic species would be a great improvement.



5.2. APPROACHES TO KETONES SYNTHESIS

Ketones are one of the most useful functional groups in organic chemistry. For a synthetic chemist it is a very important group as it can be manipulated into various other functional groups readily (Scheme 5.1). Therefore, many conventional techniques to synthesize ketones exist such as Friedel-Crafts acylations;¹⁰ organometallic species reacting with the carbonyl precursors such as nitriles, Weinreb amides and acid chlorides; the oxidation of alcohols, alkanes, and alkenes;¹¹ the hydration of alkynes;¹² the carbonylation of aryl halides with organometallic reagent,¹³ and the hydroacylation of olefins¹⁴ The most recent developments have been nickel catalyzed cross-electrophile-coupling,¹⁵ and dual catalytic radical cross couplings. All of these methods complement each other and have some strengths and limitations.



5.2.1. Friedel-Crafts acylation reaction

Electron rich aromatic compounds can be treated with acyl halides/pseudohalides or anhydrides in the presence of a Lewis acid catalyst to form ketones (Scheme 5.2). This reaction is known as the Friedel-Crafts acylation reaction and it is commonly used to prepare aryl ketones.^{10,} ¹⁶ However, the presence of strong electron withdrawing groups (e.g., -NO₂, -CF₃) on the aromatic or heteroaromatic ring (e.g., quinoline, pyridine) shuts down the reaction and acylation does not occur. Mixtures of regioisomers are routinely observed and the reaction requires a slight excess of the Lewis acid catalyst due to the coordination with the acylated final product.



5.2.2. Oxidation reaction

Ketones can also be accessed from the oxidation of various substrates such as 2° alcohols, alkanes, and alkenes.¹¹ Oxidation of 2° alcohols to ketones by utilizing the Jones reagent is the most commonly used synthetic method. Other oxidizing agents used recently are $Fe(NO_3)_3$ using clayfen as solid support,¹⁷ silica supported activated manganese dioxide,¹⁸ [bis(acetoxy)iodo]benzene on irradiation,¹⁹ alumina microwave under catalytic use of [N-(arylseleno)-4chlorobenzenesulfonamide],²⁰ carbon nanotube (CNT) supported iron(II) catalyst,²¹ and oxidovanadium complexes with tridentate aroylhydrazones²² to name a few. Earlier methods used toxic chromium metals while more recent developments have been more environmentally friendly.



While limited to the oxidation of benzylic alkanes, the corresponding ketones can be observed by using a catalytic amount of *N*-hydroxyphthalimide (NHPI), molecular oxygen, and acetaldehyde.²³ Alkenes can undergo oxidative cleavage via ozonolysis to give the corresponding carbonyl compounds albeit with the waste of formaldehyde, at minimum, and potentially much more functionalized carbons. Benzylic sulfones can be converted to ketones through an auto-oxidation process in the presence of K_2CO_3 and tetrabutylammonium bromide (TBAB), however, this process is limited to nitrobenzosulfones (Scheme 5.3).²⁴

5.2.3. Conversion of carboxylic acid derivatives to ketones with organometallic reagents

Carboxylic acid derivatives such as esters, Weinreb amides, thioesters, acid halides, and nitriles can be converted to the corresponding ketones by treating them with the organometallic reagents (Scheme 5.4). Organometallic reagents like Grignards and organolithiums can react directly without the use of transition metal catalysts, however, overreaction to form the corresponding alcohols can limit their utility. The less reactive organometallic nucleophiles such as organotin,²⁵⁻²⁷ organozinc,²⁸⁻²⁹ and organoboron³⁰⁻³¹ reagents use transition metal catalysts to perform these reactions. Limiting the 3° alcohol formation when strong nucleophiles are reacted has been achieved, to some extent, by using chelating ligands.³²⁻³³ Not only more reactive acid derivatives, but also less reactive electrophiles such as benzaldehyde have also been converted to

the respective ketones recently with the help of rhodium catalyzed organoboron reagents.³⁴ Limited functional group tolerance, cryogenic reaction conditions, prefunctionalization of the organometallic reagents are some of the shortcomings of these transformations.



5.2.4. Hydration of triple bonds

Both terminal and internal alkynes can be hydrated to obtain ketones. The classical approaches are the oxymercuration-demercuration of alkynes¹² and the hydroboration-oxidation of internal alkynes. More modern approaches utilize precious metals like Au,³⁵⁻³⁷ Rh,³⁸⁻³⁹ Ru,⁴⁰ and Ir⁴¹⁻⁴² to catalyzed such transformations. While the reaction of terminal alkynes is regioselective, the reaction of non-symmetrical internal alkynes results in the formation of two regioisomers **324** and **325** in an almost 1:1 ratio.



5.2.5. Carbonylative cross-coupling

One of the more useful methods to prepare symmetrical as well as unsymmetrical ketones is to use palladium catalyzed multicomponent cross-coupling reactions where organic electrophiles such as organic halides and pseudohalides are treated with carbon monoxide in the presence of organometallic reagents (Scheme 5.6).¹³ Carbonylative Stille couplings employ organotin reagents and aryl bromides, iodides, or sulfonyl chlorides to afford diaryl ketones in moderate to good yields.⁴³⁻⁴⁴ Carbonylative Suzuki couplings of aryliodides with arylboronic acids in the presence of one bar of carbon monoxide was initially shown by Suzuki in 1993.⁴⁵ Since then, the use of this methodology has gained more interest over the organotin reagents due to toxicity issues. Several improvements have been made but limitations include side products such as biaryl formation, required employment of additives, and limited substrates.⁴⁶⁻⁵³ Triorganoindium compounds were used for the first time in 2003 to perform such a transformation.⁵⁴⁻⁵⁵ They were good at selectivity and reactivity with simple operation procedure and low toxicity but the yields were moderate. Other organometallic reagents used earlier were organoaluminum,⁵⁶ organosilane,⁵⁷ organoantimony,⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰ and organozinc⁶¹ for such transformations. The famous Sonogashira coupling reaction has also performed well in carbonylative three-component reactions involving aryl halides, terminal alkynes and carbon monoxide in presence of amines as base to produce alkynyl ketones.⁶²⁻⁶⁵



5.2.6. Hydroacylation of alkenes

The addition of the C-H bond of an aldehyde to an unsaturated C=C by using a transition metal catalyst, commonly rhodium, is a powerful tool to synthesize ketones.¹⁴ Inter- as well as intramolecular hydroacylation has been established with the recent development in new catalytic systems. In 1972, Sakai and co-workers, initially identified rhodium as a catalyst for this transformation⁶⁶ and it still remains the frontrunner in this area.¹⁴ Besides using various Rh-species as catalysts for specific substrates, other transition metals such as Co,⁶⁷⁻⁷⁰ Ru,⁷¹⁻⁷³ Ir,⁷⁴ and Ni⁷⁵⁻⁷⁷ have also been explored for similar transformations.



Despite the advancements in this methodology, some challenging aspects still remain to be overcome: limited substrate scope in the intermolecular reaction, the high cost of rhodium bisphosphine complexes, the limited activity and the failure of the intramolecular reaction to form medium and large rings in the absence of functional groups that can stabilize the catalytic intermediates.

5.2.7. Cross electrophile coupling

During the development of cross-electrophile coupling of vinyl or aryl halides with alkyl electrophiles, Weix found that unsymmetrical dialkyl ketones can be prepared from the reductive coupling of acid chlorides with alkyl iodides or benzylic chlorides under nickel catalysis.^{15, 78} Pre-formed carbon nucleophiles, which would generate the functional group intolerance, could be avoided when the coupling took place between two electrophiles. By using an acid chloride as the

acylating agent a moderate to good yield was obtained. While searching for more stable acylating agents, 2-pyridyl thioesters were found to produce similar results.¹⁵

0	$\mathbf{V} \mathbf{D}^2$	5 mol% NiCl ₂ (dme)	o ↓			
R ¹ ↓ + 323	326	5.5 mol% dtbpy Mn or Zn (3 equiv.)	R ¹ R ² 56			
R ¹ = 1°, 2°, 3 R ² = Alkyl, Bo X = I, Cl Y = Cl, SPy	° Alkyl, ənzyl	DMA, 0 °C or r.t.	33-91%			
Scheme 5.8 Cross Electrophile coupling						

5.2.8. Dual catalytic cross coupling

MacMillan, recently, put forth that photoredox catalysts can be used to generate the acyl radicals from the decarboxylation of α -keto acids. Nickel catalyst after oxidative addition of aryl iodides would trap those acyl radical. The desired ketone would be formed after reductive elimination.⁷⁹ Following the same pattern, the reaction process was further extended to aryl bromides, vinyl bromides, and secondary alkyl bromides with good yields.⁷⁹ A similar transformation was observed by Fu *et. al.* by combining a photoredox catalyst with palladium catalysis;⁸⁰ however, this reaction was limited to aryl iodides and bromides being able to generate diaryl ketones.

Utilization of the expensive iridium photoredox catalyst, shown in Scheme 5.9, and the limited availability of α -keto acids are only two of the drawbacks of this reaction. The reaction also takes nearly 3 days to complete in very dilute (0.02 M) solution and requires a high boiling point polar solvent (DMF). Therefore, there is room for improvement. Employing a more earth abundant



metal would decrease the cost of the reaction dramatically, being able to employ starting materials that are more readily available than α-keto acids, and shortening reaction times would increase the utility of the reaction tremendously. Thinking along this line, our group identified that an imidoyl radical could be generated from the wide pool of easily available nitriles by using a titanium(III) catalyst.⁸¹⁻⁸³ Also, Weix has demonstrated that radicals generated from the opening of epoxides with catalytic titanium could be coupled with aryl halides under nickel catalysis.⁸⁴ Taking inspiration from these established methods, we sought to develop nitrile cross coupling with aryl/alkyl halides utilizing a dual catalytic cycle of earth abundant metals titanium and nickel. The initially formed imine would be hydrolyzed to afford ketones. Our dual catalytic cross-coupling meets the challenges posed by the existing methods discussed earlier and represents a mechanistically unique method for ketone synthesis.



5.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The objective of this study is to develop a reliable, robust, and widely applicable approach to dual catalytic radical cross-couplings. It is speculated that an organonickel(II) complex would trap a catalytically generated carbon radical to catalyze the cross-coupling of organohalides. Titanium catalysts would help generate radicals from nitriles. Nickel is known to catalyze the cross coupling of generated radical intermediates under dual catalysis. Weix has effectively coupled aryl halides with benzylic mesylates using a Ni/Co system.⁸⁵ He also has utilized the well-known chemistry of radical generation from epoxides with titanium(III) catalysts⁸² in his Ni/Ti dual catalytic system to cross-couple aryl halides with epoxides. It appears as Weix is more interested with the radical generated from the epoxides,^{84, 86} however, proper exploration is needed to figure out other possible carbon radicals that can be used in dual catalysis. This study tries to expand the scope of the radical coupling partner to a readily available functional group, nitriles. In literature, super stoichiometric amounts of SmI_2 (6 equivalents) have been used to generate imidoyl radicals in the reduction of nitriles to amines.⁸⁷ The other example showed titanium(III) catalysts used to generate imidoyl radicals from nitriles in cross-coupling reactions with ketones.⁸¹⁻⁸³ The success of Ni/Ti dual catalytic cross coupling of epoxides enabled our group to develop the nitrile crosscoupling with titanium.⁸⁸⁻⁸⁹ Our proposed approach will generate an imine, an important building block that can be used to prepare amines and heterocycles. For this study, the imine products will be hydrolyzed in the workup to isolate ketone.

The proposed Ti/Ni dual catalytic reaction had the multiple components that needed to be screened. Weix has already shown that bidentate ligands can be used to coordinate with Ni-catalyst to improve the outcome of the cross electrophile coupling reactions.⁷⁸ Also, in various titanium catalyzed reactions, Gansäuer had shown that the choice of hydrogen chloride source to turn over the titanium catalytic cycle is also specific for different specific reactions.⁹⁰⁻⁹¹ Streuff has generated imidoyl radicals in a moderately polar aprotic solvent like THF⁸² whereas Weix has used highly polar solvents like DMPU, DMF, and DMA for cross-electrophile coupling reactions.⁷⁸ Reductant

metals, either Zn or Mn, have been used by Weix in the ketone forming cross-electrophile coupling reaction, one acting better than other depending on the acyl radical precursor.⁷⁸ Imidoyl radicals have been generated at room temperature while most of the cross-electrophile coupling reaction examples occurred at 60 °C.^{78, 82} Therefore, the proposed reaction had multiple parameters that needed to be reconciled.

5.3.1. Reaction optimization

As a starting point, benzonitrile 332 was treated with iodotoluene 335 and 10 mol% of each of the catalysts, bipyridine as the ligand, 2 equivalents of reductant, and TMSCl as an additive (chloride source) in THF (0.167 M concentration) at room temperature. To our delight, 10% product was seen by GC, utilizing a calibration curve (Table 5.1, Entry 1). Upon using trimethylamine HCl as an additive, the reaction produced only 2% of the product (Entry 2) and this result was consistent when this additive was screened with various solvents and Mn as the reductant (results not shown). Different polar and non-polar solvents were screened (Entry 3-10), with 1,4dioxane as the solvent producing a 47% yield (Entry 10). Powdered manganese metal as the reductant was screened for each solvent system without formation of product as shown in Entry 11. The ratio of Zn to substrate was incremently varied from 1:1 to 5:1 with the maximum yield obtained with 2 equivalents of Zn (Entry 10 and others not shown). Subsequently, various commercially available ligands were tested (entry 12-15) with 4,4'-di-tert-butyl-2,2'-bipyridine affording the highest yield. Now, different ratios of the reactants and a variety of concentrations for the reaction were investigated. The optimal conditions were found to be 1 equivalent of benzonitrile, 2 equivalents of iodotoluene at a 0.5 M concentration (Entry 16). Various Ni-salts such as NiCl₂, NiBr₂, Ni(acac)₂ were also screened with minimal or no product formation. Similarly, no product formation was found in the absence of either of the catalysts or TMSCI. Similar optimizations were explored with chlorotoluene, 337, without success. The optimization of the reaction conditions with bromotoluene, 336, was performed with similar results (Table 3, X = Br).⁹²

CN + X 10 mol% NiCl ₂ ·DME 10 mol% Ligand O 10 mol% Cp ₂ TiCl ₂									
			2 equiv.	Reductant					
		2 equiv. Additive		224					
rt or 60 °C									
Scheme 5.11 Optimization of the proposed cross-coupling reaction									
Table :	5.1: Optimization of	dual cataly	tic reaction		ap				
Entry	Ligand	Reduc-	Additive	Solvent	% Yield				
	0	tant			X = I	X = Br	X=Cl		
					335	336 ⁹²	337		
1.	Bipyridine	Zn	TMSCl	THF	10%	21%	0%		
2.	Bipyridine	Zn	TEA·HC1	THF	2%	1%	0%		
3.	Bipyridine	Zn	TMSCl	Et ₂ O	0%	NA	NA		
4.	Bipyridine	Zn	TMSCl	DCM	19%	NA	NA		
5.	Bipyridine	Zn	TMSCl	1,2-DCE	14%	12%	0%		
6.	Bipyridine	Zn	TMSCl	Chloroform	0%	0%	NA		
7.	Bipyridine	Zn	TMSCl	DMF	0%	8%	NA		
8.	Bipyridine	Zn	TMSCl	NMP	5%	NA	NA		
9.	Bipyridine	Zn	TMSCl	DMPU	2%	NA	NA		
10.	Bipyridine	Zn	TMSCl	1,4-Dioxane	47%	44%	0%		
11.	Bipyridine	Mn	TMSCl	1,4-Dioxane	0%	0%	NA		
12.	4,4'-Di-tert-butyl	Zn	TMSCl	1,4-Dioxane	50%	61%	NA		
	bipyridine								
13.	4,4'-Di-methyl	Zn	TMSCl	1,4-Dioxane	34%	43%	NA		
	bipyridine								
14.	4,4'-Di-methoxy	Zn	TMSCl	1,4-Dioxane	20%	NA	NA		
1-	bipyridine	-		4.4.51	0.51				
15.	Phenanthroline	Zn	TMSCl	1,4-Dioxane	0%	22%	NA		
16.	4,4'-Di-tert-butyl	Zn	TMSCI	1,4-Dioxane	77%	69%	NA		
	bipyridine					(0.5M)			

5.3.2. Substrate scope of the nickel catalyzed radical coupling reaction

Having identified the optimized reaction conditions, the scope and chemoselectivity of the benzonitrile coupling partner was examined and this has been summarized in Table 5.2. Both electron donating and electron withdrawing groups were tolerated in the reaction. Meta and para substituted benzonitriles produced good yields while ortho substituted benzonitriles resulted in

little to no reaction, presumably due to the steric hindrance around the reaction center. Positioning the electron donating group meta rather than para to the nitrile resulted in slightly higher yield



(Entries **342** and **343**). Halogens like chlorine and fluorine were not effected under the reaction conditions, therefore leaving the halogen as further functionalizable handle. Employing a medicinally important trifluoromethyl group meta to the nitrile, **346**, produced a good yield. The presence of a free phenolic group failed to produce results, however, simple silyl protection allowed for a high yield of the TBS-protected phenol, **347**. The very hindered Piv-ester, **348**, also worked well under our reaction conditions resulting in the highest yield in the reaction with benzonitrile. Adding tifluoroacetic acid (TFA) in catalytic amounts has been shown to improve the results in cross-electrophile coupling reactions.⁹³ Following the same analogy, the slightly lower yielding reactions to form **341**, **345**, and **348** were increased by adding 5 mol% TFA. Benzonitriles that had

substituents that consist more basic oxygen atom than the nitrogen atom in nitrile such as keto-, amino-, amido, heteroaromatics and nitro- groups failed to give product.

After screening the nitrile coupling partner, the scope of the aryl halide was also examined. Aryl bromides are readily available and cheaper reagents than the aryl iodides and most importantly give similar results to aryl iodides at elevated temperature (60 °C) (Table 5.1, Entry 12 and 16). Unlike with the benzonitrile, ortho substitution not only worked but also gave excellent yields (Table 5.3, Entry **350** and **351**). Increasing the sterics further to naphthalene also resulted in excellent yield (Table 5.3, Entry **352**) but if the sterics were further increased by employing 2-



bromo-1,3-dimethylbenzene the reaction was inhibited. The aryl bromides screened with electron donating substituents all worked well. Less reactive halogens, Cl or F, on the aryl bromide, survived as substituents on the benzonitrile, (Table 5.3, Entry **345**) gave only moderate yields here. Free phenols, amines, amides, ketones, and heteroaromatics all shut down the reaction whereas the TBS

protected phenol again gave moderate yields (Table 5.3, Entry **347**). Methyl esters on the arylbromide did not result in product whereas a pivaloyl ester resulted in good yield (Table 5.3, compound **348**). Free aldehyde groups either on the benzonitrile or arylbromide were not tolerated, however the corresponding acetal showed promise resulting in are approximate 10% yield of the aldehyde product due to cleavage of the protecting group during the reaction.

5.3.3. Efforts to produce mixed ketones

In an effort to extend the methodology beyond aryl ketones, a variety of nitriles and halides were employed under the optimized reaction conditions, the results of which are shown in Table 5.4. To our delight, not only aromatic nitriles and bromides, but also aliphatic nitriles and bromides worked with our reaction conditions. Aliphatic nitriles gave low to moderate yields with aryl iodides and bromides (Table 5.4, Entry 1-4). The 2° aliphatic bromide, cyclohexyl bromide, worked well producing a similar result as itsaromatic counterparts (Entry 5). The moderate yield produced from the employment of 4-chloroiodobenzene was increased by 10% at 40 °C (Entry 6). Re examining whether an aryl bromide would remain intact, the reaction of meta-bromobenzonitrile with iodotoluene was run at r.t. rather than 60 °C. The reaction occurred, and after the first coupling, the second benzonitrile ended up coupling with the product giving **363** (Table 5.3, Entry 7) as the sole product in 48% which is a quantitative yield. The work is still ongoing on to synthesize various mixed ketones and to screen other functional groups.

$R^{1} = N + R^{2} X$ $10 \text{ mol\% NiCl}_{2} \cdot DME$ 10 mol\% Ligand 0 H									
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$									
Scheme 5.14 Synthesis of some mixed ketones									
Table 5	able 5.4 Synthesis of various mixed ketones % Extr								
Entry	R ⁴ CN	R ² X	Product	yield	condition				
1.	F	Br	F O	41%	5 mol% TFA				
	353 339		354						
2.	CN	H ₃ C	CH3	42%	r.t.				
	355	335	356						
3.	CN	H ₃ C	CH ₃	32%					
	355 336		356						
4.	H₃C _⊂ CN	H ₃ C	H ₃ C CH ₃	21%	r.t.				
	357	335	358						
5. ⁹²	CN	Br		69%					
	332	359	360						
6.	CN	CI	CI	54%	40 °C				
	332	361	344						
7. ⁹²	Br	H ₃ C	Br	48%	r.t.				
	362	335	363						

5.3.4 Proposed mechanism:

A full mechanistic study has not yet been performed, but from the results observed a proposed mechanism is outlined in Scheme 5.15. The catalytic cycle would start after the oxidative addition of the aryl halide to a Ni(0) species, **364**, to form Ni(II) adduct **365**. This adduct is known to trap *in situ* generated imidoyl radicals, such as **373**, to form di-organo Ni(III) intermediate **366**. The generation of the imidoyl radical takes place in the titanium catalytic cycle where titanocene dichloride, **371**, is reduced to a Ti(III) species, **372**, and coordination of the nitrile followed by single electron transfer would create the imidoyl radical, **373**. The diorgano Ni(III) species, **366**, would undergo reductive elimination to get imine, **368**, and the Ni(I) species, **367** which is turned over after reduction by the metal reductant. To turn over the Ti-catalytic cycle, the TMSCI would transmetalate with the cross coupled imine **368** to produce silylated imine **369** and regenerate the Ti(IV) species **371**. The imine **369** is hydrolyzed during work up to afford ketone **370**.



5.4. CONCLUSIONS

The first coupling of aryl and alkyl halides with an *in situ* generated arylimidoyl radical has been developed. Although to a lesser extent, aliphatic nitriles could also be employed to generate imidoyl radicals. Aliphatic halides couple equally well as aromatic halides under our reaction conditions. Electron donating and withdrawing groups can both be tolerated as substituents of the benzonitrile, while electron donating groups on the aryl bromide facilitate the coupling process. The reaction procedure is equally capable of producing aliphatic, aromatic, and mixed ketones from readily available starting materials using catalytic earth abundant metals.

5.5. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Imines are precursors to a wide range of other functional groups such as amines, enamines, and heterocycles. The *in situ* generated imine intermediate **369** can be treated with other nucleophiles to generate additional sets of functionally important compounds in single pot tandem reaction.

5.6. SUPPORTING INFORMATIONS

5.6.1. Methods

All of the solid reagents were added to an oven-dried MW tube inside the glove box and the capped tube is taken out to add the remaining liquid reagents and solvents. The reaction mixture was degassed for five minutes before warming. Reactions were monitored either by thin-layer chromatography with 0.25 mm precoated silica gel plates or by gas chromatography. Visualization of all TLCs was performed with UV light and/or staining with phosphomolybdic acid, KMnO₄, or Seebach's stain. Purifications were performed by flash chromatography with silica gel (60 Å, 230–400 mesh) packed in glass columns and elute with hexanes/EtOAc, unless otherwise noted.

5.6.2. Materials

Diethyl ether, dichloromethane, and chloroform were dried using a solvent purification system that contained activated alumina. 1,2-Dichloroethane and TMSCl were freshly distilled from calcium hydride under argon. 1,4-Dioxane was freshly distilled from benzophenone and sodium under argon. The nitriles and aryl bromides were purchased and used as is. The following compounds prepared literature procedures: 4-((tertwere from butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)benzonitrile,⁹⁴ 4-cyanophenyl pivalate,⁹⁵ (4-bromophenoxy)(tertbutyl)dimethylsilane,⁹⁴ and 4-bromophenyl pivalate.⁹⁵

5.6.3. Instrumentation

¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectra were obtained on a 400 MHz NMR spectrometer (400 MHz for ¹H and 101 MHz for ¹³C), and chemical shifts (δ , ppm) are reported relative to residual chloroform solvent peaks (δ = 7.26 ppm for ¹H and δ = 77.0 ppm for ¹³C). Data for ¹H NMR are reported as follows: chemical shift (multiplicity, coupling constant(s) in Hz, integration). Multiplicities are indicated as follows: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, quin = quintet, sex = sextet, sept = septet, m = multiplet or unresolved. The reported melting points are uncorrected. Low-resolution mass spectra were obtained by GC–MS.

5.6.4. General Procedure I

An oven dried MW vial with a stir bar was taken into an argon filled glovebox and charged with titanocene dichloride (0.1 mmol, 0.0249 g), zinc powder (-325 mesh, 2 mmol, 0.1308 g), NiCl₂·DME (0.1 mmol, 0.0219 g), and ditertbutylbipyridine (0.1 mmol, 0.0156 g). An aluminum sealed septa was then crimped to the vial, which was then removed from the glovebox. The vial was then sequentially injected with benzonitrile (1 mmol), bromoarene (2 mmol), TMSCl (1 mmol, 0.13 mL), and dioxane (2 mL). The vial was then connected to a bubbler and an argon inlet to degas the reaction mixture under a positive flow of argon for five minutes. The vial was then disconnected from the inlets and placed in a preheated oil bath at 60 °C. The reaction was monitored every 12 h by GC, and typically the starting materials were fully consumed by 36 hours. The vial was removed

from the oil bath and cooled to room temperature. The reaction was opened to the air and quenched with 2 mL of 1 M HCl and stirring the mixture for 3 hours. The crude reaction mixture was then filtered through a plug of silica gel, which was rinsed with Et₂O. The filtrate was then dried over magnesium sulfate, filtered, and concentrated. The crude material was then loaded onto a 50g silica gel cartridge and purified by MPLC on a Biotage Isolera system using a hexanes/EtOAc gradient. Note 1: If any of the reagents were solids, they were weighed into the MW vial inside a glove box before capping.

Note 2: 5 mol% of TFA was added after adding solvent for those reactions where the yield was low.

5.6.5 Spectral data of ketones

phenyl(p-tolyl)methanone (334):



Subjection of benzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.103 mL) and 4-iodotoluene (2 mmol, 0.4360 g) to general procedure **I** at room temperature afforded 0.1511 g (77%) of ketone **321** as a colorless liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H

NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.78 (d, J = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 7.72 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.57 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.47 (t, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.28 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.46 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 196.4, 143.1, 137.9, 134.8, 132.1, 130.2, 129.8, 128.9, 128.1, 21.6. Physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁵⁵

Benzophenone (341):



Subjection of benzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.103 mL) and bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211 mL) to general procedure **I** at 60 °C afforded 0.1312 g (72%) of ketone **328** as colorless liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz,

CDCl₃) δ 7.81 (d, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 4H), 7.58 (t, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.47 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 4H), ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 196.6, 137.5, 132.3, 130.0, 128.2. Physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁹⁶

(4-methoxyphenyl)(phenyl)methanone (342):



Subjection of 4-methoxybenzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.1331 g) and bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211 mL) to general procedure **I** at 60 °C afforded 0.1397 g (66%) of ketone **329** as colorless liquid after flash

chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.82 (m, 2H), 7.74 (m, 1 H), 7.55 (m, 2H), 7.46 (m, 2H), 6.94 (m, 2H), 3.87 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 195.4, 163.1, 138.2, 132.5, 131.8, 130.0, 129.6, 128.1, 113.5, 55.5. Physical and spectral data were consistent with those reported in the literature.⁹⁶

(3-methoxyphenyl)(phenyl)methanone (343⁹²):



Subjection of benzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.103 mL), 3methoxybromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.253 g), to general procedure **I** at 60 °C 0.1084 g (51%) of ketone **330** as colorless liquid after flash

chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.85-7.80 (m, 2H), 7.64-7.57 (m, 1 H), 7.53-7.47 (m, 2H), 7.43-7.34 (m, 3H), 7.18-7.13 (m, 1H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 196.4, 159.5, 138.8, 137.5, 132.4, 130.0, 129.1, 128.2, 122.8, 118.8, 114.3, 55.4. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.⁹⁶

(4-chlorophenyl)(phenyl)methanone (344⁹²):



Subjection of 4 Chlorobenzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.1376 g), Bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211 mL), to general procedure **I** at 60 °C afforded 0.1511 g (70%) of ketone **331** as colorless liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H

NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.79-7.71 (m, 3H), 7.50-7.40 (m, 6H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 195.3, 138.7, 137.1, 135.7, 132.5, 131.3, 129.0, 128.5, 128.3. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.⁹⁶

(4-fluorophenyl)(phenyl)methanone (345)



Subjection of 4 Fluorobenzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.1211 g), Bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211 mL), to general procedure **I** afforded 0.1362 g (68%) of ketone **332** as colorless liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400

MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.87-7.79 (m. 2H), 7.75 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.57 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.47 (t, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.14 (t, J = 9.2 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 195.2, 166.6, 164.1, 137.4, 133.8, 133.7, 132.7, 132.6, 132.4, 129.8, 128.3, 115.5, 115.3. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.⁹⁷

phenyl(3-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)methanone (346)



Subjection of 3-(trifluoromethyl)benzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.134 mL), Bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211 mL), to general procedure I at 60 °C afforded 0.1363 g (55%) of ketone 333 as white solid after flash

chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.06 (s, 1H), 7.97 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.84 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.81-7.76 (m, 2H), 7.62 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 7.50 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 195.2, 138.3, 136.7, 133.1, 133.0, 131.5, 131.2, 130.8, 130.5, 130.0, 129.0, 128.9, 128.9, 128.8, 128.8, 128.6, 127.8, 126.8, 126.7, 126.7, 126.6, 125.0, 122.3, 119.6. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.⁹⁸

(4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)(phenyl)methanone (347)



Subjection of 4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)benzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.2334 g), Bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211 mL), to general procedure **I** at 60 °C afforded 0.2312 g (74%) of ketone **334** as yellowish solid after

flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.78 – 7.71 (m, 4H), 7.53 (m, 1H), 7.45 (m, 2H), 6.89 (m, 2H), 0.99 (s, 9H), 0.24 (s, 6H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 195.6, 159.9, 138.2, 132.4, 131.8, 130.6, 129.7, 128.1, 119.6, 77.3, 77.0, 76.7, 25.5, 18.2, -4.4. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.⁹⁹
4-benzoylphenyl pivalate (348)



Subjection of 4-cyanophenyl pivalate (1.0 mmol, 0.186 mL), Bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211 mL) to general procedure I at 60 °C afforded 0.2569 g (91%) of ketone **335** as white solid after flash

chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.84 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2 H), 7.78 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.56 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.46 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.18 (d, *J* = 8.8 Hz, 2H), 1.37 (s, 9H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 195.4, 176.4, 154.3, 137.4, 134.7, 132.3, 131.5, 129.8, 128.2, 121.4, 77.3, 77.0, 76.7, 39.1, 27.0. Physical and spectral data were consistent with the literature.¹⁰⁰

(2-methoxyphenyl)(phenyl)methanone (350)



Subjection of benzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.101 mL), o-bromoanisole (2 mmol, 0.249 mL), to general procedure **I** at 60 °C afforded 0.206 g (97%) of ketone **337** as colorless liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

δ 7.88 – 7.79 (m, 2H), 7.58 – 7.51 (m, 1H), 7.51 – 7.40 (m, 3H), 7.38 (dt, *J* = 7.6, 1.9 Hz, 1H), 7.10 – 6.95 (m, 2H), 3.73 – 3.66 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 196.2, 157.1, 137.6, 132.8, 131.7, 129.6, 129.3, 128.7, 128.1, 120.3, 111.3, 55.4.

phenyl(o-tolyl)methanone (351)



Subjection of benzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.101 mL), o-bromotoluene (2 mmol, 0.240 mL), to general procedure I at 60 °C afforded 0.1432 g (73%) of ketone **338** as colorless liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

δ 7.71 – 7.66 (m, 2H), 7.47 – 7.41 (m, 1H), 7.36 – 7.29 (m, 2H), 7.26 (td, *J* = 7.5, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 7.21 – 7.08 (m, 3H), 2.22 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 198.4, 138.5, 137.6, 136.6, 133.0, 130.9, 130.1, 130.0, 128.4, 128.3, 125.1, 19.9.

naphthalen-1-yl(phenyl)methanone (352)



Subjection of benzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.101 mL), 1-bromonaphthalene (2 mmol, 0.280 mL), to general procedure **I** at 60 °C afforded 0.1951 g (84%)

of ketone **338** as white solid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.13 – 8.08 (m, 1H), 8.01 (m, 1H), 7.95 – 7.91 (m, 1H), 7.90 – 7.85 (m, 2H), 7.59 (m, 2H), 7.55 – 7.50 (m, 3H), 7.50 – 7.44 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 198.0, 138.3, 136.3, 133.7, 133.2, 131.2, 130.9, 130.4, 128.4, 128.4, 127.7, 127.2, 126.4, 125.6, 124.3.

2-(4-fluorophenyl)-1-phenylethan-1-one (354)



Subjection of (4-fluorophenyl)acetonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.120 mL), 1bromobenzene (2 mmol, 0.211 mL), to general procedure **I** at 60 °C afforded 0.0879 g (41%) of ketone **340** as colorless liquid after flash

chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.89 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H, 7.45 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 7.34 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 2H), 7.10 (m, 2H), 6.89 (t, J = 8.4 Hz. 2H), 4.14 (s, 2H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 197.3, 163.0, 160.6, 136.4, 133.2, 131.0, 130.9, 130.1, 130.1, 128.6, 128.4, 115.5, 115.3, 44.4.

1-(p-tolyl)propan-1-one (356)



Subjection of propanenitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.066 mL), 4-bromotoluene (2 mmol, 0.246 mL), to general procedure **I** at 60 °C afforded 0.0472 g (32%) of ketone **342** as colorless liquid after flash chromatography.¹H NMR (400

MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.81 – 7.75 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.16 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.89 (q, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 2H), 2.32 (s, 3H), 1.13 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 200.4, 143.5, 134.4, 129.2, 128.0, 77.3, 77.0, 76.7, 31.6, 21.5, 8.3.

1-(p-tolyl)ethan-1-one (358)



Subjection of acetonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.052 mL), 4-iodotoluene (2 mmol, 0.436 g), to general procedure **I** at room temperature afforded 0.0277 g (21%) of ketone **344** as colorless liquid after flash chromatography.¹H

NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.76 (m, 2H), 7.16 (m, 2H), 2.50 (s, 3H), 2.33 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 197.8, 143.8, 134.7, 129.2, 128.4, 26.5, 21.6.

cyclohexyl(phenyl)methanone (360)

Subjection of benzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.101 mL), cyclohexylbromide (2 mmol, 0.246 mL), to general procedure **I** at 60 °C afforded 0.1299 g (69%) of ketone **346** as colorless liquid after flash chromatography. ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.89 – 7.82 (m, 2H), 7.45 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.37 (t, *J* = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 3.18 (tt, *J* = 11.5, 3.3 Hz, 1H), 1.86 – 1.71 (m, 4H), 1.71 – 1.57 (m, 1H), 1.48 – 1.25 (m, 4H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 203.8, 136.3, 132.6, 128.5, 128.2, 45.6, 29.4, 25.9, 25.8.

(3-(3-bromobenzoyl)phenyl)(p-tolyl)methanone (363)

Subjection of 3-bromobenzonitrile (1.0 mmol, 0.1820 g), Br G iodotoluene (2 mmol, 0.4360 g), to general procedure I at room temperature afforded 0.1821 g (48%) of ketone **348** as white solid after flash chromatography.¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.91 (t, *J* = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.80 (t, *J* = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 7.74 (m, 1H), 7.72 – 7.66 (m, 4H), 7.60 (m, 1H), 7.36 (m, 2H), 7.29 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 2.45 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (101 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 194.8, 143.8, 139.8, 136.1, 135.0, 134.7, 134.2, 132.7, 130.7, 130.6, 130.2, 129.8, 129.1, 128.4, 122.9, 122.5, 117.3, 114.2, 21.7.

References

- Ohara, H.; Miyabe, Y.; Deyashiki, Y.; Matsuura, K.; Kara, A. "Reduction of drug ketones by dihydrodiol dehydrogenases, carbonyl reductase and aldehyde reductase of human liver" *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 1995, 50 (2), 221-227.
- Corey, E. J.; Schaaf, T. K.; Huber, W.; Koelliker, U.; Weinshenker, N. M. "Total synthesis of prostaglandins f2α and e2 as the naturally occuring forms" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1970, *92* (2), 397-398.
- 3. Touré, B. B.; Hall, D. G. "Natural product synthesis using multicomponent reaction strategies" *Chem. Rev.* **2009**, *109* (9), 4439-4486.
- Smith, A. B.; Doughty, V. A.; Sfouggatakis, C.; Bennett, C. S.; Koyanagi, J.; Takeuchi, M.
 "Spongistatin synthetic studies. an efficient, second-generation construction of an advanced ABCD intermediate" *Org. Lett.* 2002, *4* (5), 783-786.
- 5. Kamat, P. V. "Photochemistry on nonreactive and reactive (semiconductor) surfaces" *Chem. Rev.* **1993**, *93* (1), 267-300.
- Attwood, T. E.; Dawson, P. C.; Freeman, J. L.; Hoy, L. R. J.; Rose, J. B.; Staniland, P. A.
 "Synthesis and properties of polyaryletherketones" *Polymer* 1981, 22 (8), 1096-1103.
- Paech, K.; Webb, P.; Kuiper, G. G. J. M.; Nilsson, S.; Gustafsson, J.-Å.; Kushner, P. J.;
 Scanlan, T. S. "Differential ligand activation of estrogen receptors ERα and ERβ at AP1 sites" *Science* 1997, 277, 1508-1510.
- 8. Otera, J., *Modern Carbonyl Chemistry*. Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2000.
- 9. Larock, R. C., *Comprehensive Organic Transformations*. Wiley-VCH: New York, 1989.
- L., K.; Czako, B., Friedel-Crafts Acylation. In *Strategic Applications of Named Reactions* in Organic Synthesis, Elsevier Academic Press: San Diego, 2005; pp 176-177.
- J. Lawrence, N. "Aldehydes and ketones" J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, (10), 1739-1750.

- March, J., Oxymercuration-demercuration reaction. In *Advanced Organic Chemistry*, 4th ed.; John Wiley & Sons: Singapore, 2005; pp 759-763.
- 13. Brennführer, A.; Neumann, H.; Beller, M. "Palladium-catalyzed carbonylation reactions of aryl halides and related compounds" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48* (23), 4114-4133.
- Ghosh, A.; Johnson, K. F.; Vickerman, K. L.; Walker, J. A.; Stanley, L. M. "Recent advances in transition metal-catalysed hydroacylation of alkenes and alkynes" *Org. Chem. Front.* 2016, *3* (5), 639-644.
- Wotal, A. C.; Ribson, R. D.; Weix, D. J. "Stoichiometric Reactions of Acylnickel(II) Complexes with Electrophiles and the Catalytic Synthesis of Ketones" *Organometallics* 2014, *33* (20), 5874-5881.
- Tran, P. H.; Nguyen, H. T.; Hansen, P. E.; Le, T. N. "An efficient and green method for regio- and chemo-selective Friedel-Crafts acylations using a deep eutectic solvent ([CholineCl][ZnCl₂]₃)" *RSC Adv.* 2016, 6 (43), 37031-37038.
- 17. Varma, R. S.; Dahiya, R. "Microwave-assisted oxidation of alcohols under solvent-free conditions using clayfen" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38* (12), 2043-2044.
- Varma, R. S.; Saini, R. K.; Dahiya, R. "Active manganese dioxide on silica: Oxidation of alcohols under solvent-free conditions using microwaves" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1997, *38* (45), 7823-7824.
- Varma, R. S.; Dahiya, R.; Saini, R. K. "Iodobenzene diacetate on alumina: Rapid oxidation of alcohols to carbonyl compounds in solventless system using microwaves" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1997, *38* (40), 7029-7032.
- Tetsuo, O.; Masanori, I.; S., W. S. "Catalytic oxidation of alcohols to carbonyl compounds mediated by *N*-(Arylseleno)-4-chlorobenzenesulfonamide" *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* 1996, 69 (12), 3601-3605.

- Martins, L. M. D. R. S.; Ribeiro, A. P. C.; Carabineiro, S. A. C.; Figueiredo, J. L.; Pombeiro, A. J. L. "Highly efficient and reusable CNT supported iron(ii) catalyst for microwave assisted alcohol oxidation" *Dalton Trans.* 2016, 45 (16), 6816-6819.
- Sutradhar, M.; Martins, L. M. D. R. S.; Guedes da Silva, M. F. C.; Pombeiro, A. J. L.
 "Oxidovanadium complexes with tridentate aroylhydrazone as catalyst precursors for solvent-free microwave-assisted oxidation of alcohols" *Appl. Catal.*, A 2015, 493, 50-57.
- Einhorn, C.; Einhorn, J.; Marcadal, C.; Pierre, J.-L. "Oxidation of organic substrates by molecular oxygen mediated by N-hydroxyphthalimide (NHPI) and acetaldehyde" *Chem. Commun.* 1997, (5), 447-448.
- 24. Wojciechowski, K. "Synthesis of nitrobenzophenones from nitro-αsulfonyldiphenylmethane derivatives" *Synth. Commun.* **1997,** *27* (1), 135-144.
- Milstein, D.; Stille, J. K. "A general, selective, and facile method for ketone synthesis from acid chlorides and organotin compounds catalyzed by palladium" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1978, *100* (11), 3636-3638.
- Li, H.; Yang, H.; Liebeskind, L. S. "Synthesis of high enantiopurity *N*-protected α-amino ketones by thiol ester–organostannane cross-coupling using pH-neutral conditions" *Org. Lett.* 2008, *10* (19), 4375-4378.
- 27. Lerebours, R.; Camacho-Soto, A.; Wolf, C. "Palladium-catalyzed chemoselective crosscoupling of acyl chlorides and organostannanes" *J. Org. Chem.* **2005**, *70* (21), 8601-8604.
- Krasovskiy, A.; Malakhov, V.; Gavryushin, A.; Knochel, P. "Efficient synthesis of functionalized organozinc compounds by the direct insertion of zinc into organic iodides and bromides" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2006, 45 (36), 6040-6044.
- 29. Zhang, Y.; Rovis, T. "A unique catalyst effects the rapid room-temperature cross-coupling of organozinc reagents with carboxylic acid fluorides, chlorides, anhydrides, and thioesters" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126* (49), 15964-15965.

- 30. Yu, Y.; Liebeskind, L. S. "Copper-mediated, palladium-catalyzed coupling of thiol esters with aliphatic organoboron reagents" *J. Org. Chem.* **2004**, *69* (10), 3554-3557.
- Tatamidani, H.; Kakiuchi, F.; Chatani, N. "A new ketone synthesis by palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of esters with organoboron compounds" *Org. Lett.* 2004, 6 (20), 3597-3599.
- Shintani, R.; Fu, G. C. "Highly enantioselective desymmetrization of anhydrides by carbon nucleophiles: reactions of grignard reagents in the presence of (-)-sparteine" *Angew*. *Chem. Int. Ed.* 2002, *41* (6), 1057-1059.
- Wang, X.-j.; Zhang, L.; Sun, X.; Xu, Y.; Krishnamurthy, D.; Senanayake, C. H. "Addition of Grignard reagents to aryl acid chlorides: An efficient synthesis of aryl ketones" *Org. Lett.* 2005, 7 (25), 5593-5595.
- Pucheault, M.; Darses, S.; Genet, J.-P. "Direct access to ketones from aldehydes *via* rhodium-catalyzed cross-coupling reaction with potassium trifluoro(organo)borates" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2004, *126* (47), 15356-15357.
- 35. Marion, N.; Ramón, R. S.; Nolan, S. P. "[(NHC)AuI]-Catalyzed acid-free alkyne hydration at part-per-million catalyst loadings" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131* (2), 448-449.
- 36. Li, F.; Wang, N.; Lu, L.; Zhu, G. "Regioselective hydration of terminal alkynes catalyzed by a neutral gold(I) complex [(IPr)AuCl] and one-pot synthesis of optically active secondary alcohols from terminal alkynes by the combination of [(IPr)AuCl] and Cp*RhCl[(R,R)-TsDPEN]" J. Org. Chem. 2015, 80 (7), 3538-3546.
- 37. Das, A. K.; Park, S.; Muthaiah, S.; Hong, S. H. "Ligand- and acid-free gold(I) chloride catalyzed hydration of terminal alkynes" *Synlett* **2015**, *26* (18), 2517-2520.
- Liu, X.; Liu, L.; Wang, Z.; Fu, X. "Visible light promoted hydration of alkynes catalyzed by rhodium(iii) porphyrins" *Chem. Commun.* 2015, *51* (59), 11896-11898.
- James, B. R.; Rempel, G. L. "Hydration of acetylenes catalyzed by rhodium(III) chloride complexes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1969, *91* (4), 863-865.

- 40. Chen, Y.; Ho, D. M.; Lee, C. "Ruthenium-catalyzed hydrative cyclization of 1,5-enynes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2005, *127* (35), 12184-12185.
- 41. Kanemitsu, H.; Uehara, K.; Fukuzumi, S.; Ogo, S. "Isolation and crystal structures of both enol and keto tautomer intermediates in a hydration of an alkyne–carboxylic acid ester catalyzed by iridium complexes in water" J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130 (50), 17141-17147.
- 42. Ogo, S.; Uehara, K.; Abura, T.; Watanabe, Y.; Fukuzumi, S. "pH-Selective synthesis and structures of alkynyl, acyl, and ketonyl intermediates in anti-Markovnikov and Markovnikov hydrations of a terminal alkyne with a water-soluble iridium aqua complex in water" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126* (50), 16520-16527.
- 43. Yun, W.; Li, S.; Wang, B.; Chen, L. "Solid-phase synthesis of diaryl ketones through a three-component Stille coupling reaction" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42* (2), 175-177.
- 44. Dubbaka, S. R.; Vogel, P. "Palladium-catalyzed Stille cross-couplings of sulfonyl chlorides and organostannanes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2003**, *125* (50), 15292-15293.
- 45. Ishiyama, T.; Kizaki, H.; Miyaura, N.; Suzuki, A. "Synthesis of unsymmetrical biaryl ketones via palladium-catalyzed carbonylative cross-coupling reaction of arylboronic acids with iodoarenes" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34* (47), 7595-7598.
- 46. Bartali, L.; Guarna, A.; Larini, P.; Occhiato, E. G. "Carbonylative Suzuki–Miyaura coupling reaction of lactam-, lactone-, and thiolactone-derived enol triflates for the synthesis of unsymmetrical dienones" *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2007**, *2007* (13), 2152-2163.
- 47. Petz, A.; Péczely, G.; Pintér, Z.; Kollár, L. "Carbonylative and direct Suzuki–Miyaura cross-coupling reactions with 1-iodo-cyclohexene" *J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem.* 2006, 255 (1–2), 97-102.
- Rahman, O.; Kihlberg, T.; Långström, B. "Synthesis of 11C-/13C-ketones by Suzuki coupling" *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2004, 2004 (3), 474-478.

- 49. Ishiyama, T.; Kizaki, H.; Hayashi, T.; Suzuki, A.; Miyaura, N. "Palladium-catalyzed carbonylative cross-coupling reaction of arylboronic acids with aryl electrophiles: synthesis of biaryl ketones" *J. Org. Chem.* **1998**, *63* (14), 4726-4731.
- 50. Miyaura, N.; Suzuki, A. "Palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions of organoboron compounds" *Chem. Rev.* **1995**, *95* (7), 2457-2483.
- Andrus, M. B.; Ma, Y.; Zang, Y.; Song, C. "Palladium-imidazolium-catalyzed carbonylative coupling of aryl diazonium ions and aryl boronic acids" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2002, 43 (50), 9137-9140.
- 52. Mingji, D.; Liang, B.; Wang, C.; You, Z.; Xiang, J.; Dong, G.; Chen, J.; Yang, Z. "A novel thiourea ligand applied in the Pd-catalyzed Heck, Suzuki and Suzuki carbonylative reactions" *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2004, 346 (13-15), 1669-1673.
- 53. Neumann, H.; Brennführer, A.; Beller, M. "A general synthesis of diarylketones by means of a three-component cross-coupling of aryl and heteroaryl bromides, carbon monoxide, and boronic acids" *Chem. Eur. J.* **2008**, *14* (12), 3645-3652.
- 54. Lee, P. H.; Lee, S. W.; Lee, K. "Pd-catalyzed carbonylative cross-coupling reactions by triorganoindiums: highly efficient transfer of organic groups attached to indium under atmospheric pressure" *Org. Lett.* **2003**, *5* (7), 1103-1106.
- 55. Lee, S. W.; Lee, K.; Seomoon, D.; Kim, S.; Kim, H.; Kim, H.; Shim, E.; Lee, M.; Lee, S.; Kim, M.; Lee, P. H. "Highly efficient pd-catalyzed carbonylative cross-coupling reactions with tetraorganoindates" *J. Org. Chem.* **2004**, *69* (14), 4852-4855.
- Bumagin, N. A.; Ponomaryov, A. B.; Beletskaya, I. P. "Ketone synthesis via palladiumcatalyzed carbonylation of organoaluminium compounds" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1985, 26 (39), 4819-4822.
- Hatanaka, Y.; Fukushima, S.; Hiyama, T. "Carbonylative coupling reaction of organofluorosilanes with organic halides promoted by fluoride ion and palldium catalyst" *Tetrahedron* 1992, 48 (11), 2113-2126.

- 58. Qin, W.; Yasuike, S.; Kakusawa, N.; Kurita, J. "Palladium-catalyzed carbonylative crosscoupling reaction of triarylantimony dicarboxylates with arylboronic acids: Synthesis of biaryl ketones" *J. Organomet. Chem.* 2008, 693 (17), 2949-2953.
- 59. Kang, S.-K.; Ryu, H.-C.; Hong, Y.-T. "Pd(0)-Cu(I)-catalyzed cross-coupling of alkynylsilanes with triarylantimony(V) diacetates" *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* 2001, (7), 736-739.
- Hatanaka, Y.; Hiyama, T. "Highly selective cross-coupling reactions of organosilicon compounds mediated by fluoride ion and a palladium catalyst" *Synlett* 1991, 1991 (12), 845-853.
- F. W. Jackson, R.; Turner, D.; H. Block, M. "Carbonylative coupling of organozinc reagents in the presence and absence of aryl iodides: synthesis of unsymmetrical and symmetrical ketones" *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* 1997, (6), 865-870.
- 62. Mohamed Ahmed, M. S.; Mori, A. "Carbonylative Sonogashira coupling of terminal alkynes with aqueous ammonia" *Org. Lett.* **2003**, *5* (17), 3057-3060.
- Liang, B.; Huang, M.; You, Z.; Xiong, Z.; Lu, K.; Fathi, R.; Chen, J.; Yang, Z. "Pd-catalyzed copper-free carbonylative sonogashira reaction of aryl iodides with alkynes for the synthesis of alkynyl ketones and flavones by using water as a solvent" *J. Org. Chem.* 2005, *70* (15), 6097-6100.
- Karpov, A. S.; Merkul, E.; Rominger, F.; Müller, T. J. J. "Concise syntheses of meridianins by carbonylative alkynylation and a four-component pyrimidine synthesis" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2005, *44* (42), 6951-6956.
- Fukuyama, T.; Yamaura, R.; Ryu, I. "Synthesis of acetylenic ketones by a Pd-catalyzed carbonylative three-component coupling reaction in [bmim]PF₆" *Can. J. Chem.* 2005, 83 (6-7), 711-715.
- Sakai, K.; Ide, J.; Oda, O.; Nakamura, N. "Synthetic studies on prostanoids 1 synthesis of methyl 9-oxoprostanoate" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1972**, *13* (13), 1287-1290.

- 67. Lenges, C. P.; Brookhart, M. "Co(I)-catalyzed inter- and intramolecular hydroacylation of olefins with aromatic aldehydes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1997**, *119* (13), 3165-3166.
- Lenges, C. P.; White, P. S.; Brookhart, M. "Mechanistic and synthetic studies of the addition of alkyl aldehydes to vinylsilanes catalyzed by Co(I) complexes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1998, *120* (28), 6965-6979.
- 69. Chen, Q.-A.; Kim, D. K.; Dong, V. M. "Regioselective hydroacylation of 1,3-Dienes by cobalt catalysis" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (10), 3772-3775.
- 70. Yang, J.; Yoshikai, N. "Cobalt-catalyzed enantioselective intramolecular hydroacylation of ketones and olefins" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (48), 16748-16751.
- 71. Miura, H.; Wada, K.; Hosokawa, S.; Inoue, M. "Ruthenium-catalyzed intermolecular hydroacylation of internal alkynes: The use of ceria-supported catalyst facilitates the catalyst recycling" *Chem. Eur. J.* **2013**, *19* (3), 861-864.
- 72. Shibahara, F.; Bower, J. F.; Krische, M. J. "Diene hydroacylation from the alcohol or aldehyde oxidation level via ruthenium-catalyzed C–C bond-forming transfer hydrogenation: synthesis of β,γ-unsaturated ketones" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2008, *130* (43), 14120-14122.
- 73. Chen, Q.-A.; Cruz, F. A.; Dong, V. M. "Alkyne hydroacylation: switching regioselectivity by tandem ruthenium catalysis" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137* (9), 3157-3160.
- Nagamoto, M.; Nishimura, T. "Stereoselective hydroacylation of bicyclic alkenes with 2-hydroxybenzaldehydes catalyzed by hydroxoiridium/diene complexes" *Chem. Commun.* 2015, *51* (72), 13791-13794.
- Yang, F.; Jin, T.; Yamamoto, Y. "Synthesis of 2,3-dihydro-1H-inden-1-one derivatives via Ni-catalyzed intramolecular hydroacylation" *Tetrahedron* 2012, 68 (26), 5223-5228.
- Taniguchi, H.; Ohmura, T.; Suginome, M. "Nickel-catalyzed ring-opening hydroacylation of methylenecyclopropanes: synthesis of γ,δ-unsaturated ketones from aldehydes" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2009, *131* (32), 11298-11299.

- 77. Hoshimoto, Y.; Hayashi, Y.; Suzuki, H.; Ohashi, M.; Ogoshi, S. "Synthesis of five- and six-membered benzocyclic ketones through intramolecular alkene hydroacylation catalyzed by nickel(0)/N-heterocyclic carbenes" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2012, *51* (43), 10812-10815.
- 78. Weix, D. J. "Methods and mechanisms for cross-electrophile coupling of Csp² halides with alkyl electrophiles" *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2015**, *48* (6), 1767-1775.
- Chu, L.; Lipshultz, J. M.; MacMillan, D. W. C. "Merging photoredox and nickel catalysis: The direct synthesis of ketones by the decarboxylative arylation of α-oxo acids" *Angew*. *Chem. Int. Ed.* 2015, *54* (27), 7929-7933.
- Cheng, W.-M.; Shang, R.; Yu, H.-Z.; Fu, Y. "Room-temperature decarboxylative couplings of α-oxocarboxylates with aryl halides by merging photoredox with palladium catalysis" *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21* (38), 13191-13195.
- 81. Feurer, M.; Frey, G.; Luu, H.-T.; Kratzert, D.; Streuff, J. "The cross-selective titanium(iii)catalysed acyloin reaction" *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50* (40), 5370-5372.
- Streuff, J.; Feurer, M.; Frey, G.; Steffani, A.; Kacprzak, S.; Weweler, J.; Leijendekker, L.
 H.; Kratzert, D.; Plattner, D. A. "Mechanism of the TiIII-catalyzed acyloin-type umpolung: A catalyst-controlled radical reaction" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2015, *137* (45), 14396-14405.
- Streuff, J.; Feurer, M.; Bichovski, P.; Frey, G.; Gellrich, U. "Enantioselective Titanium(III)-catalyzed reductive cyclization of ketonitriles" *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2012, 51 (34), 8661-8664.
- Zhao, Y.; Weix, D. J. "Enantioselective cross-coupling of meso-epoxides with aryl halides" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2015, *137* (9), 3237-3240.
- Ackerman, L. K. G.; Anka-Lufford, L. L.; Naodovic, M.; Weix, D. J. "Correction: Cobalt co-catalysis for cross-electrophile coupling: diarylmethanes from benzyl mesylates and aryl halides" *Chem. Sci.* 2015, 6 (6), 3633-3633.

- 86. Zhao, Y.; Weix, D. J. "Nickel-catalyzed regiodivergent opening of epoxides with aryl halides: Co-catalysis controls regioselectivity" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136* (1), 48-51.
- Szostak, M.; Sautier, B.; Spain, M.; Procter, D. J. "Electron transfer reduction of nitriles using SmI₂-Et₃N-H₂O: synthetic utility and mechanism" *Org. Lett.* 2014, *16* (4), 1092-1095.
- Silwal, S.; Rahaim, R. J. "Regioselective synthesis of enones via a titanium-promoted coupling of unsymmetrical alkynes with weinreb amides" *J. Org. Chem.* 2014, 79 (17), 8469-8476.
- 89. Silwal, S.; Rahaim, R. J. "Modular synthesis of tetra-substituted furans from alkynes, Weinreb amides, and aldehydes" *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2015, *56* (42), 5738-5742.
- 90. Gansäuer, A.; Fleckhaus, A.; Lafont, M. A.; Okkel, A.; Kotsis, K.; Anoop, A.; Neese, F.
 "Catalysis via homolytic substitutions with C–O and Ti–O bonds: Oxidative additions and reductive eliminations in single electron steps" *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2009, *131* (46), 16989-16999.
- Gansäuer, A.; Bluhm, H. "Reagent-controlled transition-metal-catalyzed radical reactions" *Chem. Rev.* 2000, *100* (8), 2771-2788.
- 92. The optimization data is based on the reaction performed by my collegue Vinoth K. Chenniappan.
- 93. Hansen, E. C.; Pedro, D. J.; Wotal, A. C.; Gower, N. J.; Nelson, J. D.; Caron, S.; Weix, D. J. "New ligands for nickel catalysis from diverse pharmaceutical heterocycle libraries" *Nat. Chem.* 2016, *8*, 1126-1130.
- 94. Shrestha, T. B.; Troyer, D. L.; Bossmann, S. H. "strategies for large-scale synthesis of coelenterazine for in vivo applications" *Synthesis* **2014**, *46* (05), 646-652.
- 95. Yang, J.; Xiao, J.; Chen, T.; Han, L.-B. "Nickel-catalyzed phosphorylation of phenol derivatives via C–O/P–H cross-coupling" *J. Org. Chem.* **2016**, *81* (9), 3911-3916.

- 96. Jeon, K. O.; Jun, J. H.; Yu, J. S.; Lee, C. K. "Infrared and nuclear magnetic resonance properties of benzoyl derivatives of five-membered monoheterocycles and determination of aromaticity indices" *J. Heterocycl. Chem.* **2003**, *40* (5), 763-771.
- 97. Tang, P.; Ritter, T. "Silver-mediated fluorination of aryl silanes" *Tetrahedron* **2011**, 67 (24), 4449-4454.
- 98. Posternak, A. G.; Garlyauskayte, R. Y.; Yagupolskii, L. M. "A novel Brønsted acid catalyst for Friedel–Crafts acylation" *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2009**, *50* (4), 446-447.
- Mukhopadhyay, A.; Maka, V. K.; Moorthy, J. N. "Fluoride-triggered ring-opening of photochromic diarylpyrans into merocyanine dyes: Naked-eye sensing in subppm levels" *J. Org. Chem.* 2016, 81 (17), 7741-7750.
- Miyano, M.; Deason, J. R.; Nakao, A.; Stealey, M. A.; Villamil, C. I.; Sohn, D. D.; Mueller,
 R. A. "(Acyloxy)benzophenones and (acyloxy)-4-pyrones. A new class of inhibitors of human neutrophil elastase" *J. Med. Chem.* 1988, *31* (5), 1052-1061.

APPENDICES

List of Appendices

Chapter II

NMRs of alkenes	
Cis-stillbene (80)	
1,1,2-Triphenylethene (97)	
(<i>E</i>)-1-(4-Methoxyphenyl)-1,2-diphenylethene (112)	
(<i>E</i>)-1-(4-Trifluoromethylphenyl)-1,2-diphenylethene (113)	
(<i>E</i>)-4-Phenyl-4-octene (114)	

Chapter III

NMRs of Weinreb amides	
<i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> -methylbenzamide (152)	189
4-chloro-N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (194)	190
<i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> -methyl-4-(trifluoromethyl)benzamide (195)	191
<i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> -methyl-3-(trifluoromethyl)benzamide (196)	192
4-fluoro-N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (197)	193
3-bromo-N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (198)	194
4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)-N-methoxy-N-methylbenzamide (199)	195
<i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> -methylcyclohexanecarboxamide (201)	196
2-Ethyl- <i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> -methylhexanamide (202)	197
<i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> ,3,3-trimethylbutanamide (203)	198
<i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> -methylpivalamide (204)	199
3-chloro-N-methoxy-N-methylpropanamide (205)	200
<i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> -methyl-3-phenylpropanamide (176)	201
N-methoxy-N-methylcinnamamide (206)	202
(<i>E</i>)- <i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> -methylbut-2-enamide (207)	203
<i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> -methylfuran-2-carboxamide (208)	204
<i>N</i> -methoxy- <i>N</i> -methylthiophene-2-carboxamide (209)	205
NMRs of alkynes	
<i>tert</i> -butyl(hex-3-yn-1-yloxy)dimethylsilane (210)	206
(cyclohex-1-en-1-ylethynyl)benzene (211)	207
1-(oct-1-yn-1-yl)cyclohex-1-ene (212)	208
trimethyl(5-phenylpent-1-yn-1-yl)silane (213)	209

(cyclohex-1-en-1-ylethynyl)trimethylsilane (214)	210
(3,3-dimethylbut-1-yn-1-yl)benzene (215)	211
(3-(benzyloxy)prop-1-yn-1-yl)benzene (216)	212
NMRs of enones	
(<i>E</i>)-2-Methyl-1,3-diphenylprop-2-en-1-one (153)	213
(<i>E</i>)-2-Methyl-3-phenyl-1-(4-fluorophenyl)prop-2-en-1-one (157)	214
(<i>E</i>)-1-(4-Chlorophenyl)-2-methyl-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (158)	215
(<i>E</i>)-1-(3-Bromophenyl)-2-methyl-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (159)	216
(E)-2-Methyl-3-phenyl-1-(4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)prop-2-en-1-one (160)	217
(<i>E</i>)-2-Methyl-3-phenyl-1-(3-trifluoromethyl)phenyl)prop-2-en-1-one (161)	218
(E)-1-(4-((tert-Butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)-2-methyl-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-c	one (162):219
(<i>E</i>)-2-Methyl-1-(naphthalen-1-yl)-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (163)	
(<i>E</i>)-2-Methyl-1,5-diphenylpent-1-en-3-one (164)	221
(<i>E</i>)-5-Chloro-2-methyl-1-phenylpent-1-en-3-one (165)	222
(<i>E</i>)-2,5,5-Trimethyl-1-phenylhex-1-en-3-one (166)	223
(<i>E</i>)-2,4,4-Trimethyl-1-phenylpent-1-en-3-one (167)	224
(<i>E</i>)-1-Cyclohexyl-2-methyl-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (168)	225
(<i>E</i>)-4-Ethyl-2-methyl-1-phenyloct-1-en-3-one (169)	226
(<i>E</i> , <i>E</i>)-2-Methyl-1,5-diphenylpenta-1,4-dien-3-one (170)	227
(<i>E</i> , <i>E</i>)-2-Methyl-1-phenylhexa-1,4-dien-3-one (171)	228
(<i>E</i>)-1-(Furan-2-yl)-2-methyl-3-phenylprop-2-en-1-one (172)	229
(<i>E</i>)-2-Methyl-3-phenyl-1-(thiophen-2-yl)prop-2-en-1-one (173)	230
(<i>E</i>)-1-Phenyl-4-propyloct-4-en-3-one (179)	231
(<i>E</i>)-1,2,5-Triphenylpent-1-en-3-one (180)	232
(E)-7-((tert-Butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)-4-ethyl-1-phenylhept-4-en-3-one (181)	233
(<i>E</i>)-2-(Cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-1,5-diphenylpent-1-en-3-one (182)	234
(<i>E</i>)-4-(Cyclohex-1-en-1-ylmethylene)-1-phenyldecan-3-one (183)	235
(<i>E</i>)-1,7-Diphenyl-4-((trimethylsilyl)methylene)heptan-3-one (184)	236
(E)-2-(Cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-5-phenyl-1-(trimethylsilyl)pent-1-en-3-one (185)	237
(<i>E</i>)-2,5-Diphenyl-1-(trimethylsilyl)pent-1-en-3-one (186)	238
(<i>E</i>)-6,6-Dimethyl-1,4-diphenylhept-4-en-3-one (187)	239
(<i>E</i>)-2-((Benzyloxy)methyl)-1,5-diphenylpent-1-en-3-one (188)	240

Chapter IV

NMRs of furans	
3-methyl-2-phenethyl-4,5-diphenylfuran (193)	241
2-(3-bromophenyl)-4-methyl-5-phenethyl-3-phenylfuran (275)	242
2-(4-bromophenyl)-5-phenethyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (276)	243
2-(2-chlorophenyl)-5-cyclohexyl-4-methyl-3-phenylfuran (277)	244
2-(4-fluorophenyl)-5-neopentyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (278)	245
tert-butyldimethyl(4-(5-phenethyl-3,4-dipropylfuran-2-yl)phenoxy)silane (279)	246
2-heptyl-4-methyl-5-phenethyl-3-phenylfuran (280)	247
2-heptyl-4-methyl-3-phenyl-5-(4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)furan (281)	248
3-methyl-5-phenethyl-2,4-diphenylfuran (282)	249
3-methyl-2,4,5-triphenylfuran (283)	250
2-(4-fluorophenyl)-3-methyl-4,5-diphenylfuran (284)	251
2-(4-fluorophenyl)-5-phenyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (285)	252
2-(4-chlorophenyl)-5-phenyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (286)	253
(E)-3-methyl-2-phenethyl-4-phenyl-5-styrylfuran (287)	254
(E)-2-(heptan-3-yl)-3-methyl-4-phenyl-5-(prop-1-en-1-yl)furan (288)	255

5 phonothyl 3 $\frac{1}{2}$ dipropyl 2 $\frac{1}{2}$ bifuron (200)
<i>5-pheneuryi-5,4-apropyi-2,2-bhuran (290)25</i>
tert-butyldimethyl((3-methyl-4,5-diphenylfuran-2-yl)methoxy)silane (291)25
2-(2-chloroethyl)-5-phenyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (292)
2-(dec-9-en-1-yl)-5-phenyl-3,4-dipropylfuran (293)
tert-butyl(4-(5-(2-chloroethyl)-3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-4-hexylfuran-2-
yl)phenoxy)3dimethylsilane (294)
tert-butyl(2-(4-ethyl-5-phenethyl-2-phenylfuran-3-yl)ethoxy)dimethylsilane
(295)
2-phenethyl-3,4,5-triphenylfuran (296)
trimethyl(5-phenethyl-2-phenyl-4-(3-phenylpropyl)furan-3-yl)silane (297)264
3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-4-hexyl-5-phenethyl-2-phenylfuran (298)

Chapter V

NMRs of ketones	
phenyl(p-tolyl)methanone (334)	266
Benzophenone (341)	267
(4-methoxyphenyl)(phenyl)methanone (342)	268
(3-methoxyphenyl)(phenyl)methanone (343)	269
(4-chlorophenyl)(phenyl)methanone (344)	270
(4-fluorophenyl)(phenyl)methanone (345)	271
phenyl(3-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)methanone (346)	272
(4-((tert-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)(phenyl)methanone (347)	273
4-benzoylphenyl pivalate (348)	274
(2-methoxyphenyl)(phenyl)methanone (350)	275
phenyl(o-tolyl)methanone (351)	276
naphthalen-1-yl(phenyl)methanone (352)	277
2-(4-fluorophenyl)-1-phenylethan-1-one (354)	278
1-(p-tolyl)propan-1-one (356)	279
1-(p-tolyl)ethan-1-one (358)	280
cyclohexyl(phenyl)methanone (360)	281
(3-(3-bromobenzoyl)phenyl)(p-tolyl)methanone (363)	282




































































































































































































VITA

Sajan Silwal

Candidate for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Thesis: DEVELOPMENT OF CROSS COUPLING REACTIONS WITH EARTH ABUNDANT METALS

Major Field: ORGANIC CHEMISTRY

Biographical:

Education:

Doctor of Philosophy, Organic Chemistry Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK	December, 2016
Master of Science, Organic Chemistry Kurukshetra University, Kurukshetra, Haryana, In	July 2008 dia
Bachelor of Science, Chemistry Tri-Chandra College, Kathmandu, Nepal	July 2005
Experience: January 2011 – December 2016 Graduate Teaching Assistant at OSU Graduate Research Assistant at OSU	
Professional Memberships: American Chemical Society, Phi Kappa Phi	
Awards: Robberson Graduate Research Award, Graduate C University, 2016.	College, Oklahoma State
Johnston Chemistry Scholarship/Fellowship, Oklahoma State University. 2014 and 2016. Silver Jubilee Scholarship, Indian Council of Cult Embassy of India, Kathmandu, Nepal. 2006-2008	Department of chemistry, ural Relations (ICCR) through